




Dear Fellow Shareholders 

Matt Potere I Chief Executive Officer 

2021 was a transformational year for Sunlight. We started the year 

announcing our Business Combination Agreement with Spartan Acquisition 

Corporation II and ended the year surpassing $6 billion in cumulative 

funded loans. 

Within the year, we accomplished a number of achievements and initiatives, 

including being listed on the NYSE on July 12, 2021. As we reflect on the past 

year and look ahead toward what we'll accomplish in 2022, it is important to 

reflect upon what has made Sunlight successful and how we will continue to 

drive value for our shareholders, partners, community and teammates this 

next year and beyond. 

High-Growth, ESG End-Markets 

Sunlight is focused on two very attractive markets: residential solar and home improvement. Both markets are large 

and growing rapidly, with Sunlight facilitating financing to allow nearly 165,000 homeowners go solar or make 

improvements to their home. Even with increased competition, these markets provide sufficient room for growth with 

over $400 billion in annual sales. 

Technology-Enabled Scalability 

Our proprietary point-of-sale technology platform, Orange® enables scalability and serves as a competitive advantage. 

Through over six years of innovation, we have created a powerful technology platform for assessing credit, processing 

loan products, and driving increased sales for our contractors and installers. In addition to winning contactor 

relationships, Orange® allows Sunlight to scale efficiently, deliver significant operating leverage and the potential to 

expand to attractive adjacent verticals. 

Capital-Light Balance Sheet 

Our capital-light strategy enables us to drive growth with minimal direct consumer credit risk exposure. This is driven 

by our continued choice to fund loans through partnerships with stable, low-cost depository institutions rather than 

funding through the ABS markets or via our own balance sheet. This strategy enables us to grow efficiently and 

reduces our exposure to interest rate volatility. 

Profitable Business Model 

Sunlight is a solidly profitable business with strong cash flow generation. 2021 reflected our third year of recording 

positive Adjusted EBITDA, with year-over-year Adjusted EBITDA growth of 121 %, from $24 million in 2020 to $53 

million in 2021. We also continue to convert Adjusted EBITDA to free cash flow at a high rate, generating $44 million of 

Free Cash Flow in 2021, reflecting a conversion rate of 84%. We expect to maintain this trajectory through 2022 and 

will continue to deploy capital to support the long-term growth and success of the company. 
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Part I

Item 1. Business

Overview

Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. (“Sunlight”) is a business-to-business-to-consumer, technology-enabled point-of-sale 
(“POS”) financing platform that provides residential solar and home improvement contractors the ability to offer seamless 
POS financing to their customers when purchasing residential solar systems or other home improvements. The resulting 
loans are funded by Sunlight’s network of capital providers who, by partnering with Sunlight, gain access to a difficult-to-
reach loan market, best-in-class consumer credit underwriting, and attractive risk adjusted returns. These loans are 
facilitated by Sunlight’s proprietary technology platform, Orange® (“Orange®” or the “Platform”), through which Sunlight 
offers instant credit decisions to homeowners nationwide at the POS on behalf of Sunlight’s various capital providers. 
Since Sunlight’s founding in 2014 through December 31, 2021, Sunlight has facilitated over $6.1 billion of loans through 
the Sunlight Platform in partnership with its contractor relationships.

Sunlight’s success is fueled by its strong and intentional culture based on core values such as honesty, fairness, and 
scrappiness. Sunlight’s culture encourages Sunlight teammates to work collaboratively with Sunlight’s contractor and 
capital provider partners, and the consumers they serve, to find the right result to business challenges and to deliver 
white-glove service. Also core to Sunlight’s values is a passion for Sunlight’s business and the societal benefits that the 
business funds. To date, Sunlight has facilitated loans to more than 164,816 homeowners who, as a result, have had the 
opportunity to save money on their utility bills and choose renewable energy over carbon-producing traditional sources of 
power. As of December 31, 2021, residential solar systems and energy-efficient home improvement products, facilitated 
through Sunlight financings since May 2016, have eliminated an estimated 27.8 million metric tons of carbon dioxide from 
the atmosphere. Sunlight has also executed the United Nations Climate Neutral Now Pledge, and its business was 
certified as carbon neutral for its fiscal year ending December 31, 2020 and is in the process of performing the required 
review to obtain certification for its fiscal year 2021. Sunlight will continue to pursue certification for carbon neutrality in the 
future.

Sunlight’s core business is facilitating loans made by Sunlight’s various capital providers to the consumer customers of 
residential solar contractors. Sales of Sunlight-facilitated loan products are made by contractors in the context of selling 
residential solar systems to consumers, allowing homeowners to go solar with no money down, and in most cases, 
immediately saving money on their utility bills and often saving a significant amount of money over the life of their solar 
system. While only approximately 20% of residential solar system sales were financed with solar loans in 2015, an 
estimated 63% of residential solar loan sales were financed with solar loans in 2020. Solar loans made to finance 
residential solar systems through Sunlight’s Platform are made exclusively to homeowners. Sunlight believes that 
homeowners generally have better credit characteristics than other consumer groups. As of December 31, 2021, the 
average FICO score of all solar borrowers financed through Sunlight’s Platform is 746. Both the generally strong credit 
profile of solar loan borrowers and attractive risk-adjusted returns on solar loans to capital providers have enabled 
Sunlight to build a diversified network of capital providers to fund the solar loans facilitated by Sunlight’s Platform.

Loan providers in the residential solar industry compete primarily on process (customer and contractor experience), 
pricing, and products. Orange® offers contractors robust tools to sell more solar systems and home improvements and 
homeowners a fast, fully-digital and frictionless experience. Because Sunlight has diverse funding sources, Sunlight is 
able to offer a large suite of competitive loan products that include multiple loan structures and combinations of interest 
rates and tenors.

Sunlight’s Technology-Enabled POS Financing Platform and Loan Facilitation

Sunlight’s revenue is primarily from platform fees earned on each solar and home improvement loan facilitated through 
Orange®. The platform fee is generally equal to the margin between the contractor fee charged to the contractor by 
Sunlight for each loan facilitated through Orange® and the discount at which Sunlight’s capital provider either funds or 
purchases such loan (as described in more detail below). The best-in-class credit quality of Sunlight-facilitated loans 
attracts diverse and attractively-priced capital (the “price” to Sunlight being the amount that a capital provider will pay to 
originate or purchase a Sunlight-facilitated loan), ensuring that Sunlight can offer competitive pricing to its network of 
contractors while still earning attractive margins. Sunlight’s business model is asset light and therefore Sunlight has 
minimal consumer credit risk. Sunlight does not earn material revenue from loans maintained on its balance sheet.

Relationships with Contractors

Sunlight’s expansive network of residential solar system installers and other home improvement contractors, supported by 
a differentiated set of tools and services offered through Orange®, constitutes the distribution channel through which 
Sunlight builds funded loan volume and earns platform fees. The ability to finance residential solar systems on terms that 
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often create immediate savings for homeowners on their utility bills and typically significant lifetime savings has materially 
contributed to the strong growth in the number of residential solar systems installed in the United States over the last five 
years. Sunlight attracts and builds strong relationships with residential solar system contractors of all sizes in key solar 
markets by prioritizing innovations in Orange® and providing services that assist the contractors in growing their own 
businesses. Sunlight’s team of business development and relationship management professionals provides hands-on 
support to these contractors. Sunlight believes that innovations such as prequalification capabilities, easy and secure 
document upload features, reliable next day funding and Sunlight’s short-term capital advance program (as described 
more fully below), amongst other innovations, both attract new contractors to Sunlight’s network and build loyalty and 
deepen Sunlight’s existing contractor relationships. In addition, Sunlight’s diverse set of capital providers enables Sunlight 
to offer its network of contractors a wide array of loan products that vary as to structure, interest rate and tenor, and 
thereby permits Sunlight’s network of contractors to offer the products that best serve their markets, and all at competitive 
pricing. These benefits to Sunlight’s existing network of contractors translate to deeper penetration of the contractors’ 
sales, which is an important contributor to the growth of Sunlight’s market share and revenue.

Relationships with Capital Providers

Sunlight’s business model is dependent on its ability to connect its capital providers, who wish to build a portfolio of 
residential solar system or other home improvement loans, to the homeowner customers of the contractors in Sunlight’s 
distribution network, who wish to finance the purchase of a residential solar system or other home improvements. Sunlight 
earns a platform fee on each solar and home improvement loan facilitated through Orange®. The platform fee is generally 
equal to the difference, or the margin, between (i) the dealer fee that Sunlight charges to contractors for access to 
Orange® and for making the various Sunlight-offered loan products available to such contractors and (ii) the capital 
provider discount charged by the relevant capital provider either funding or purchasing the loan in the direct and indirect 
channels, respectively (as described below). Sunlight’s business is therefore heavily dependent upon the availability of 
capital on attractive economic terms. Sunlight believes that it offers capital providers an attractive value proposition due to 
its industry-leading consumer credit underwriting, the attractive risk-adjusted returns that Sunlight’s capital providers earn 
relative to other asset classes, the access that the Platform provides to a unique and growing asset class that may reduce 
volatility in the ability to deploy capital, and the ability to access new customers for very little cost.

Sunlight categorizes its capital providers as being either in Sunlight’s direct or indirect channel. Sunlight maintains both 
channels to provide diversification of funding sources, access to funding for different types of loan products and for other 
strategic purposes. The ability of Sunlight to allocate loans to various capital providers, as well as the availability of the 
two different funding channels, creates flexibility and allows Sunlight to respond nimbly to shifting market conditions.

Direct channel capital providers fund Sunlight-facilitated solar or home improvement loans one-by-one directly onto their 
balance sheet via Orange®. Sunlight’s direct channel capital providers are depository institutions with the power and 
authority to originate loans such as banks and credit unions. Generally, direct channel capital providers choose to service 
the loans they originate.

In the indirect channel, Sunlight’s allocation engine directs that certain solar and home improvement loans be funded on 
the balance sheet of Sunlight’s intermediary bank partner. These loans are aggregated, pooled and sold to indirect 
channel capital providers that cannot, or do not wish to, directly originate solar loans. The indirect channel capital provider 
relationship allows Sunlight to access a broader range of capital, which may include, among others, credit funds, 
insurance companies and pension funds. Indirect channel capital providers present a unique opportunity for Sunlight to 
access high quality and significant sources of funding that are diverse from traditional depository sources.

Sunlight’s Products

Sunlight-Facilitated Solar Loans. Sunlight facilitates a broad range of solar loan products, varying as to structure, tenor 
and interest rate, which are focused on differing contractor and consumer objectives and market dictates. Sunlight 
facilitates solar loan products structured to support the financing of residential solar systems as well as to meet other 
homeowner demands such as loans to:

• finance the acquisition of a solar battery to be retrofit to an existing homeowner solar system;

• provide financing for a residential solar system plus a new roof in the same loan as is often required to support the 
addition of the solar panels;

• finance solar in addition to other forms of home improvement projects; and

• finance solar roof products (solar roof tiles).
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Sunlight’s solar loan products are secured and fixed rate, closed-end term loans. Specific terms are developed to address 
homeowner financing needs, amongst other factors as discussed below, and include tenors between 5 and 25 years with 
interest rates per annum ranging from 0.00% to 8.49%. Not all tenors are offered at each available interest rate and not all 
solar loan structures are offered at all tenors. For a solar loan, minimum principal amounts are generally $10,000 and 
maximum principal amounts are $100,000, all subject to qualification requirements. In 2021, Sunlight launched Solar 
Maxx® and HI Maxx®, a suite of non-prime solar and home improvement products which expand Sunlight’s offerings 
across the credit spectrum, thereby further improving the value proposition for contractors and allowing greater access to 
solar and home improvement loans.

Sunlight-Facilitated Home Improvement Loans. Home improvement loans facilitated by Sunlight through Orange® are 
unsecured, closed-end term loans. The structures applicable to loan products in the home improvement space tend to be 
more varied. Consumer demand includes payment structures that include delays in the start of payment obligations, 
periods of interest only payments, periods of principal only payments as well as straight-line amortizing fixed rate loans. 
Sunlight has developed a full range of loan products including different tenors that range from 2 to 15 years. Home 
improvement loans are often significantly smaller than solar loans with a minimum loan balance of $500 but can also be 
as large as $100,000. During the year ended December 31, 2021, interest rates on Sunlight-facilitated home improvement 
loan products ranged up to 22.50%. Similar to Sunlight-facilitated solar loans, Sunlight-facilitated home improvement 
loans offered through Orange® are determined by consumer demand, terms requested by Sunlight’s contractors (which 
may also be driven by the dealer fee charged to a contractor for a given loan product), availability of attractively-priced 
funding from Sunlight’s capital providers, the attractiveness of a given loan product measured by the production of related 
loan volume, the interest rate environment and other market factors and the regulatory and risk management concerns of 
Sunlight and its capital providers amongst other considerations. Sunlight home improvement loan products made up less 
than 10.0% of Sunlight’s funded loans and less than 6.0% of its revenue in fiscal year 2021.

Seasonality

The residential solar and home improvement markets are subject to seasonality primarily related to weather and other 
industry factors, which typically causes fluctuations in Sunlight’s operating results and can cause Sunlight’s future 
performance to be difficult to predict. Sunlight has experienced seasonal and quarterly fluctuations in the past and expects 
to experience such fluctuations in the future. Sunlight’s contractors generally experience higher sales in the second and 
third quarters of each year. Given the timeline between a solar system or home improvement sale and when a loan to 
finance such project is funded, this generally results in higher funded volumes for Sunlight, on a relative basis, in the third 
and fourth quarters of each year, however, Sunlight believes that the increasing impacts of climate change could make the 
seasonality in Sunlight’s business less predictable. Sunlight further believes that the seasonality in credit applications and 
funded volume that it experiences in its business is consistent with others that compete in the same markets.

Competition

Competition for Sunlight occurs at two levels: (i) competition to acquire and maintain contractor relationships; and (ii) 
competition to acquire high quality capital to fund loans, in each case on economic terms favorable to Sunlight.

Competition to obtain contractor relationships is significant. Contractors generally do not enter exclusive relationships with 
residential solar loan providers and Sunlight’s agreements with its network of contractors generally do not provide for 
exclusive relationships. However, Sunlight believes that its large array of loan products and flexibility in offering new and 
additional products, easy-to-use technology-enabled POS financing platform, which provides instant credit decisions and 
continuing innovation in Orange® and services that support growth in the businesses of its existing network of contractors, 
attract new contractors and build contractor loyalty.

In addition, the solar system and home improvement loan markets are relatively fragmented. Facilitating the aggregation 
of loan volume from these markets is a highly competitive sector of these broader industries. Sunlight faces competition 
from a diverse landscape of consumer lenders, including traditional banks, credit unions, and specialized solar system 
lenders and lease providers. Sunlight’s competitors source capital from a mix of alternative sources, including depository 
capital and/or other alternatives that rely on the capital markets. Sunlight has successfully added capital providers and 
grown commitments from existing capital providers since inception, and has consistently diversified its capital provider 
base to ensure that it has sufficient capital to fund the demand for Sunlight-facilitated loans and to offer an evolving 
competitive mix of loan products to meet contractor and consumer demand.
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Intellectual Property

Sunlight seeks to protect its intellectual property by relying on a combination of federal, state, and common law rights in 
the United States, as well as on contractual measures. Sunlight protects its trademarks throughout the United States by 
making applicable trademark filings and further protects is trademarks and trade secrets via contractual provisions clearly 
establishing rights of use and Sunlight’s ability to terminate those rights, robust confidentiality provisions and other similar 
agreements. Sunlight also places appropriate restrictions on its proprietary information to control access and prevent 
unauthorized disclosures, a key part of its broader risk management strategy.

Sunlight currently maintains 11 trademarks and has five pending applications for registration with the United States Patent 
and Trademark Office including, among others, registration of its name, “Sunlight Financial,” “Orange®,” Sunlight’s logo 
and other trade names for loan products or innovations developed and offered by Sunlight. In addition, Sunlight has filed 
two provisional process method patent applications.

Regulation

Sunlight’s operations are subject to regulation and supervision in a number of jurisdictions. The level of regulation and 
supervision to which Sunlight is subject varies from jurisdiction to jurisdiction and is based on the type of business activity 
involved. Sunlight, in conjunction with outside advisors and counsel, seeks to manage its business and operations in 
compliance with such regulation and supervision. The regulatory and legal requirements that apply to Sunlight’s activities 
are subject to change from time to time and may become more restrictive, which may make compliance with applicable 
requirements more difficult or expensive or otherwise restrict Sunlight’s ability to conduct its business activities in the 
manner in which they are now conducted. Changes in applicable regulatory and legal requirements, including changes in 
their enforcement, could materially and adversely affect Sunlight’s business and its financial condition and results of 
operations.

Employees and Human Capital Management

Human Capital. At December 31, 2021, Sunlight employed 216 employees, including 214 full-time employees, in its 
Charlotte, North Carolina and New York, New York offices as compared to 190 employees, including 188 full-time 
employees, at December 31, 2020.

Sunlight believes its employees are among its most important resources and are critical to its continued success. Sunlight 
focuses significant attention on attracting and retaining talented and experienced individuals to manage and support its 
operations, and Sunlight’s management team routinely reviews employee turnover rates at various levels of the 
organization. Sunlight pays its employees competitively and offers a broad range of company-paid benefits, which 
Sunlight believes are competitive with others in our industry.

Diversity, Equity and Inclusion. Sunlight is committed to hiring, developing and supporting a diverse, equitable, and 
inclusive workplace. Sunlight’s management teams and all of its employees are expected to exhibit and promote honest, 
ethical, and respectful conduct in the workplace. All of Sunlight’s employees must adhere to a code of business conduct 
and ethics that sets standards for appropriate behavior and includes required annual training on preventing, identifying, 
reporting, and stopping any type of unlawful discrimination or other unlawful behavior. In addition, Sunlight recently 
adopted a Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Policy (the “DEI Policy”) that seeks to promote diversity, equity, and inclusion in 
Sunlight’s culture by, among other things, challenging norms and ferreting out any systemic inequities in its policies, 
procedures, and practices, and commits Sunlight to using quantitative assessments to measure progress, transparency, 
and practices that attract and retain diverse leadership.
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Business Combination

On July 9, 2021 (the “Closing Date”), Sunlight consummated the transactions contemplated by that certain Business 
Combination Agreement (the “Business Combination Agreement”), dated as of January 23, 2021, by and among Spartan 
Acquisition Corp. II (“Spartan”), Sunlight Financial LLC and the Spartan Subsidiaries, FTV Blocker and Tiger Blocker 
(each as defined in the Business Combination Agreement). On the Closing Date, Spartan changed its name to “Sunlight 
Financial Holdings Inc.” and Sunlight Financial LLC became the operating subsidiary of Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc., 
organized in an “Up-C” structure (the “Business Combination”).

For the periods prior to the Business Combination, Sunlight presents the results of operations for Sunlight Financial LLC 
and its consolidated subsidiary (the “Predecessor”), which does not include the results of operations for Spartan. For the 
periods after the Business Combination, Sunlight presents the results of operations for Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. 
and its consolidated subsidiaries, including Sunlight Financial LLC, (the “Successor”). The year ended December 31, 2021 
(the “Combined Annual Period”) includes the results of operations for the Successor during the period of July 10, 2021 
through December 31, 2021 (the “Successor Period”) and the results of operation for the Predecessor during the period 
January 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021 (the “Predecessor Annual Period”).

Corporate Governance and Internet Address; Where Readers Can Find Additional Information

Sunlight files annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements, and other information with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). These filings are available over the internet at the SEC’s website at http://
www.sec.gov.

Sunlight’s principal Internet address is https://sunlightfinancial.com. Sunlight makes its annual reports on Form 10-K, 
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to those reports filed or furnished 
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) available 
through its website under “Investors,” free of charge, as soon as reasonably practicable after Sunlight electronically files 
such material with, or furnishes it to, the SEC.

Sunlight provides information about its business and financial performance, including an overview of the company, on its 
website. Additionally, Sunlight webcasts its earnings calls and certain events in which it participates with members of the 
investment community on the Investors portion of its website. Further corporate governance information, including our 
code of business conduct and ethics, corporate governance guidelines, and board committee charters, is also available 
on Sunlight’s website. The content of Sunlight’s website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 
10-K or in any other report or document Sunlight files with the SEC, and any references to Sunlight’s website are intended 
to be inactive textual references only.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The following risk factors apply to our business and operations. These risk factors are not exhaustive and investors are 
encouraged to perform their own investigation with respect to the business, financial condition and prospects of our 
business. You should carefully consider the following risk factors in addition to the other information included in this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K, including matters addressed in the section entitled “Cautionary Statements and Risk Factor 
Summary.” We may face additional risks and uncertainties that are not presently known to us, or that we currently deem 
immaterial, which may also impair our business or financial condition. The following discussion should be read in 
conjunction with the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and our 
financial statements and notes to the financial statements included herein.

Summary of Principal Risks Associated with Sunlight’s Business

• Sunlight has incurred net losses in the past, and Sunlight may be unable to sustain profitability in the future.
• The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and other health epidemics and outbreaks could adversely affect Sunlight’s 

business, results of operations and financial condition.
• Worsening economic conditions from the continued spread and impact of COVID-19, a rising rate of inflation, or 

other potential causes of economic distress could materially and adversely impact Sunlight’s business, cash 
flows, financial condition and results of operations. 

• If Sunlight fails to manage its operations and growth effectively, Sunlight may be unable to execute its business 
plan, maintain high levels of customer services and support or adequately address competitive challenges.

• Sunlight may in the future expand to new industry verticals outside of the U.S. solar system and home 
improvement industries, and failure to comply with applicable regulations, accurately predict demand or growth, or 
build a process valued in those new industries could have an adverse effect on Sunlight’s business.

• To the extent that Sunlight seeks to grow through future acquisitions, or other strategic investments or alliances, 
Sunlight may not be able to do so effectively.

• A material reduction in the retail price of electricity charged by electric utilities, other retail electricity providers or 
other energy sources as compared to potential savings for purchasing and using a solar system or an increase in 
pricing for purchasing and using a solar system above the cost of other energy sources could result in a lower 
demand for solar systems, which could have an adverse impact on Sunlight’s business, results of operations and 
financial condition.

• Sunlight’s inability to compete successfully or maintain or improve Sunlight’s market share and margins could 
adversely affect its business.

• Disruptions in the operation of Sunlight’s computer systems and those of its critical third-party service providers 
and capital providers could have an adverse effect on Sunlight’s business.

• Existing regulations and policies and changes to these regulations and policies may present technical, regulatory, 
and economic barriers to the purchase and use of solar energy systems, which may significantly reduce demand 
for Sunlight’s loan products. 

• The reduction, modification or elimination of government incentives could cause our revenue to decline and harm 
our financial results.

• Sunlight’s growth is dependent on its contractor network and in turn the quality of the service and products they 
provide to their customers, and Sunlight’s failure to retain or replace existing contractors, to grow its contractor 
network or the number of Sunlight loans offered through its existing network, or increases in loan delinquencies 
due to any deficiencies in Sunlight’s contractor underwriting practices, could adversely impact Sunlight’s business.

• Sunlight’s revenue is impacted, to a significant extent, by the general economy, including supply chain disruptions, 
and the financial performance of its capital providers and contractors.

• Sunlight has never paid cash dividends on its capital stock, and does not anticipate paying dividends in the 
foreseeable future.

• If assumptions or estimates Sunlight uses in preparing its financial statements are incorrect or are required to 
change, Sunlight’s reported results of operations, liquidity and financial condition may be adversely affected.
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Risks Related to Sunlight

Sunlight has incurred net losses in the past, and Sunlight may be unable to sustain profitability in the future.

Sunlight commenced operations as a “start-up” in 2015 and incurred net losses while developing its business, and may 
incur net losses in the future. These historical net losses were due to a number of factors, including incurring expenses to 
fund the development of Sunlight’s technology and the build out of its operational capacities (including, in 2018, as 
associated with the start of Sunlight’s home improvement line of business), obtaining financing and taking other actions 
associated with scaling a business generally, and lower revenues as Sunlight created its distribution channels through 
contractor relationships and funding networks for a diverse set of loan products. Sunlight expects to continue to incur 
substantial expenses as Sunlight expands its loan product offerings and operations and implements additional technology 
innovations and infrastructure to support its growth. In addition, as a public company, Sunlight will incur significant 
additional legal, accounting and other expenses that it did not incur as a private company. Sunlight can provide no 
assurance that its revenue will grow rapidly enough to absorb these expenses or other costs that it may incur. Sunlight’s 
ability to sustain profitability in both the short term and long term depends on a number of factors, across both its 
residential energy solar systems (“solar systems”) line of business and its line of business related to home improvements, 
such as roofing, siding, windows, doors, HVAC systems and insulation (collectively, referred to as “home improvements”), 
including:

• Sunlight’s ability to maintain its margins by stabilizing or lowering its cost of capital with its existing funding 
partners and/or by engaging new capital providers on favorable economic terms to Sunlight;

• facilitating increased funded volumes through its existing contractor distribution channels and by adding additional 
contractors to the network of contractors selling Sunlight’s loan products;

• expanding the funding commitments of existing capital providers and/or adding new capital providers to fund 
increasing volumes of credit applications;

• maintaining a low cost structure by optimizing its operational processes across increasing funded volume; and
• Sunlight’s continuing ability to remain apace with the point of sale market by continuing to innovate and update its 

product offerings, services and technology.

Sunlight can provide no assurance that it will be able to sustain or increase its profitability in the future.

The ongoing novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic and other health epidemics and outbreaks, including the 
rise of variants of COVID-19, could adversely affect Sunlight’s business, results of operations and financial 
condition.

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic continues to be a rapidly evolving situation. The COVID-19 pandemic and efforts to 
respond to it have resulted in widespread adverse impacts on the global economy and on Sunlight’s employees, capital 
providers, contractors, target consumer base, third-party vendors (“vendors”) and other parties with whom Sunlight has 
business relations. Social distancing guidelines, stay-at-home orders and similar government measures associated with 
the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as actions by individuals to reduce their potential exposure to the virus, contributed to a 
decline in credit applications and funded volumes in the first and second quarters of 2020. For solar system loans, 
Sunlight attributes this decline to a significant disruption to solar systems contractors’ sales model, which prior to such 
public health orders associated with the COVID-19 pandemic had been to sell solar systems primarily door to door, 
resulting in a decrease in the number of solar system sales and installations and, consequently, a decrease in credit 
applications and funded loans. Credit applications and funded loans for home improvements were similarly adversely 
affected. Sunlight believes that the decline in credit applications and funded loans was primarily attributable to consumers’ 
efforts to avoid infection in the early periods of the COVID-19 pandemic, as sales for large portions of the market tended 
to be conducted in person at potential consumers’ homes and at home sales conventions, which were canceled.

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, Sunlight and its contractors have modified certain business and workforce 
practices (including those related to solar system sales, installation and servicing solar systems and employee work 
locations) to conform to government restrictions and best practices encouraged by governmental and regulatory 
authorities in the markets in which Sunlight offers loan products. Such modifications on the solar systems side, including 
converting to a technology-based sales model, have largely allowed contractors offering Sunlight loan products to 
continue to sell and install solar systems and, accordingly, for Sunlight to continue to offer related loans. However, in 
2021, the residential solar and home improvement industries saw a slow-down in installations and project completions 
associated, Sunlight believes, with supply chain issues whereby needed components or other goods required by 
contractors to complete projects were either unavailable or took longer to obtain than originally anticipated. Additionally, in 
the second half of 2021, access to trained workers became more limited and further slowed the installation and build 
processes and, in the residential solar industry, the ability to connect residential solar systems to local power grids on a 
timely basis. These challenges have caused a slow-down in Sunlight contractor partners’ ability to install systems and, in 
some instances, the cancellation of installations by their homeowner customers. The slow-down of installations of solar 
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systems or other home improvements or the cancellations of projects translates to a delay in funded loans and Sunlight’s 
ability to earn an associated platform fee. If the COVID-19 pandemic or other health epidemic or outbreaks are 
significantly prolonged, or more stringent health and safety guidelines are adopted, Sunlight and its solar systems 
contractors’ ability to continue selling and installing solar systems and home improvements may be adversely impacted, 
which could have a corresponding adverse impact on solar system and home improvement credit applications for Sunlight 
loans and Sunlight funded loans and could have a material adverse effect on Sunlight’s business, cash flows, liquidity, 
financial condition and results of operations.

Sunlight is currently unable to predict the full impact that the COVID-19 pandemic will have, directly or indirectly, on its 
partners, supply channels, the capital markets generally or otherwise, or on Sunlight’s business, cash flows, liquidity, 
financial condition and results of operations. The ultimate impact will depend on future developments, including, among 
other things, the efficacy of full administration of the COVID-19 vaccines, the spread of vaccine resistant strains of the 
virus, ultimate duration of the COVID-19 pandemic, the depth and duration of the economic downturn and other economic 
effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, the consequences of governmental and other measures designed to prevent the 
spread of the COVID-19 pandemic, actions taken by governmental authorities, capital providers, contractors, vendors and 
other parties with whom Sunlight has business relations, Sunlight’s ability and the ability of its capital providers, 
contractors, target consumer base, vendors and other parties with whom Sunlight has business relations to adapt to 
operating in a changed environment, and the timing and extent to which normal economic and operating conditions 
resume.

Worsening economic conditions from the continued spread and impact of COVID-19, a rising rate of inflation, or 
other potential causes of economic distress could materially and adversely impact Sunlight’s business, cash 
flows, financial condition and results of operations. 

The effects of the economic downturn associated with the COVID-19 pandemic, and other economic factors, has resulted 
in a significant increase in the rate of inflation, rising interest rates, and may increase unemployment, all of which could 
reduce consumer credit ratings and credit availability, which may adversely affect Sunlight’s ability to facilitate new loans 
as forecasted and/or that are of the credit quality desired by Sunlight’s capital providers. Such an outcome could cause 
Sunlight’s capital providers to adjust pricing to account for an increasing cost of funds to such capital provider and 
increased credit risk in a down economy and thereby erode Sunlight’s margins and negatively impact Sunlight’s future 
financial performance and the price of the Sunlight’s Class A Common Stock. Increased pricing by Sunlight’s capital 
providers may also mean that Sunlight must raise the interest rate paid by homeowners who elect to finance their 
residential solar system with a loan offered by Sunlight. Increased interest rates on residential solar loans may mean 
reduced savings to homeowners on their utility bills and over the life of the system, which could negatively impact demand 
for residential solar systems and therefor Sunlight solar loans. As well, in the event unemployment increases, this potential 
reduction in demand could be exacerbated. Both margin compression and/or reduction in demand for residential solar 
systems could have a material and adverse impact on the financial results of the Company.

If market demand for residential solar systems generally does not continue to develop as anticipated by Sunlight 
or takes longer to develop than Sunlight anticipates, Sunlight may not be able to originate loans for the purchase 
and installation of solar systems at the rate anticipated, which may have an adverse impact on the financial 
results of the Company.

The solar systems market is at a relatively early stage of development. If market demand for solar systems fails to 
continue to develop sufficiently or takes longer to develop than Sunlight anticipates, Sunlight may be unable to facilitate 
the origination of loans for the purchase and installation of solar systems to grow its business at the rate Sunlight 
anticipates.

Many factors may affect the demand for solar systems, including the following:

• monthly and/or lifetime savings potential of purchasing and using a solar system, which is associated with the 
availability of (i) residential solar support programs, including government targets, subsidies, incentives in the form 
of tax credits, grants or similar programs, renewable portfolio standards and residential net metering rules and (ii) 
cost efficient equipment and solar loans on terms favorable to the consumers;

• the relative pricing of other conventional and non-renewable energy sources, such as natural gas, coal, oil and 
other fossil fuels, wind, utility-scale solar, nuclear, geothermal and biomass;

• performance, reliability and availability of energy generated by solar systems compared to conventional and other 
non-solar renewable energy sources;

• availability and performance of energy storage technology, the ability to implement such technology for use in 
conjunction with solar systems and the cost competitiveness such technology provides to consumers as 
compared to costs for those consumers reliant on the conventional electrical grid or other sources of energy;
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• general economic conditions and the level of interest rates available to consumers to finance the purchase of 
solar systems and home improvements; and

• the desirability of relying principally on renewable energy resources.

Sunlight cannot be certain if historical growth rates reflect future opportunities in the solar industry or whether growth 
anticipated by Sunlight will be fully realized. The failure or delay of solar systems to continue on a path towards increasing 
adoption could have a material adverse effect on Sunlight’s business, results of operations and financial condition.

If Sunlight fails to manage its operations and growth effectively, Sunlight may be unable to execute its business 
plan, maintain high levels of customer service and support or adequately address competitive challenges.

Sunlight has experienced significant growth in recent periods measured by, among others, funded volumes, and Sunlight 
intends to continue the efforts to expand its business. This growth has placed, and any future growth may place, a strain 
on Sunlight’s management, operational and financial infrastructure. Sunlight’s growth requires its management to devote a 
significant amount of time and effort to maintain and expand its relationships with contractors, capital providers and other 
third parties, creating innovative new lending products that offer attractive financing options to consumers, improving its 
credit analysis and decisioning processes, arranging financing for Sunlight’s growth and managing its expansion into new 
markets.

In addition, Sunlight’s current and planned operations, information technology and other systems and procedures might be 
inadequate to support its future growth and may require Sunlight to make additional unanticipated investments in its 
infrastructure. Sunlight’s success and ability to further scale its business will depend, in part, on its ability to manage these 
changes in a cost-effective and efficient manner. As well, Sunlight’s success is dependent upon its ability to attract and 
retain qualified employees in a difficult employment market. If Sunlight is not able to attract and retain appropriately 
qualified talent, Sunlight’s ability to further scale its business in conformity with its business plan could be adversely 
impacted.

If Sunlight cannot manage its operations to meet the demands of its growth, Sunlight may be unable to meet market 
expectations regarding growth, opportunity and financial targets, take advantage of market opportunities, execute its 
business strategies successfully or respond to competitive pressures. This could also result in declines in the 
attractiveness or quality of the lending options that Sunlight provides, declines in consumer satisfaction, weakening of 
Sunlight’s relationships with its network of contractors, increased operational costs or lower margins on loans Sunlight 
facilitates or other operational difficulties. Any failure to effectively manage Sunlight’s operations and growth could 
adversely impact its reputation, business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

During the period from December 31, 2020 to December 31, 2021, Sunlight funded approximately 15.0% of its total 
solar system loan volume and, during the period from December 31, 2020 to December 31, 2021, 98.2% of its 
home improvement loan volume through a bank partnership arrangement. Pursuant to the terms of that 
arrangement, Sunlight must arrange for the sale of the loans to a third party within 180 days from origination for 
solar system loans and, beginning on August 1, 2021, for certain home improvement loans that have been on its 
bank partner’s balance sheet for greater than 12 months, subject to certain exceptions. If Sunlight is not able to 
arrange these sales, Sunlight may be required to purchase all or a portion of these loans, which could have a 
material adverse impact on Sunlight’s liquidity and financial condition and Sunlight’s stock price. Sunlight is also 
required to purchase solar system loans funded through its bank partnership arrangement if those loans are 
charged off and home improvement loans funded through its bank partner if those loans are more than 60 days 
delinquent. A significant downturn in the performance of Sunlight-facilitated loans that are originated by 
Sunlight’s bank partner could have a material adverse impact on Sunlight’s liquidity and financial condition.

Currently a portion of solar system loans originated through Sunlight’s Platform and all home improvement loans 
originated through Sunlight’s Platform are funded by Sunlight’s bank partnership arrangement whereby loans are 
originated by Sunlight’s bank partner but held for sale to a third party. The terms of Sunlight’s bank partnership 
arrangement provide that such sales must occur within a certain period of time, subject to certain exceptions (180 days 
from origination for solar system loans and, with respect to certain home improvement loans that have been on its bank 
partner’s balance sheet for greater than 12 months, beginning on August 1, 2021). While Sunlight has not been required 
to date to purchase solar system loans from its bank partner due to the expiration of Sunlight’s bank partner’s agreed hold 
period, Sunlight cannot be certain that fluctuations in the credit markets or other market, regulatory or business factors will 
not impede Sunlight’s ability to source such third-party purchasers in the future, which could result in Sunlight being 
required to purchase all or part of unsold solar system loans. Sunlight’s arrangements with its bank partner also require 
that Sunlight purchase solar loans when subject to charge-off by Sunlight’s bank partner, and with respect to home 
improvement, any loan that becomes 60 days delinquent. For the year ended December 31, 2020, Sunlight repurchased, 

9



and wrote off, 49 loans from its bank partner, totaling $1.1 million, associated with the repurchase obligation concerning 
charge-offs and delinquencies. For the year ended December 31, 2021, Sunlight repurchased, and wrote off, 60 loans 
from its bank partner, totaling $1.3 million associated with the repurchase obligation concerning charge-offs and 
delinquencies. Sunlight acts as the administrator for its bank partner’s portfolio of Sunlight-facilitated loans, and Sunlight 
has access to comprehensive daily reporting regarding those loans, which allows it to track the status of loans, including 
days from origination, and monitors the performance of those loans on a loan-level basis.

Sunlight has entered into committed indirect funding program agreements with capital providers for the purchase of solar 
system and home improvement loans from Sunlight’s bank partner; however, these agreements require periodic extension 
and, based on market changes and shifts in credit appetite, Sunlight cannot predict whether these capital providers will 
elect to continue their commitment in the future. In addition, Sunlight’s indirect funding program agreements contain 
covenants and agreements relating to the origination of such loans and Sunlight’s financial condition. If Sunlight materially 
breaches these conditions and fails to cure them in the time allotted, the relevant capital provider may terminate its 
relationship with Sunlight. Such covenants and agreements generally include, among others, obligations related to funding 
volumes, concentration limits on certain loan products, Fair Isaac Corporation (“FICO”) score requirements, agreements 
related to Sunlight’s legal compliance in the origination process, underwriting requirements and milestone or other 
payment requirements. If an existing indirect capital provider terminates its relationship with Sunlight and Sunlight is 
unable to procure alternative agreements with new purchaser(s) of solar system and home improvement loans or increase 
commitments from other existing indirect capital providers in a timely manner and on acceptable terms, or at all, Sunlight’s 
business and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

Sunlight initiated its home improvement business in 2019 and its bank partner has originated approximately $278.5 million 
in home improvement loans through December 31, 2021. In February 2021, Sunlight entered into an indirect funding 
program agreement with a capital provider for the purchase of up to $400 million in home improvement loans from 
Sunlight’s bank partnership arrangement over an 18-month period. The foregoing agreement currently represents the sole 
commitment for the purchase of home improvement loans from Sunlight’s bank partnership arrangement and will require 
periodic extension. Additionally, in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2021, Sunlight entered into a direct funding agreement 
with a capital provider for the purchase of home improvement loans. Based on market changes and shifts in credit 
appetite, Sunlight cannot predict whether its indirect capital provider for home improvement loans will elect to continue its 
commitment in the future or whether Sunlight will be able to establish alternative direct funding relationships. In addition, 
Sunlight’s indirect home improvement loan funding program agreement contains covenants and agreements related to the 
origination of such loans and Sunlight’s financial condition similar to those described in the above paragraph with respect 
to program agreements for the purchase of solar system loans. If Sunlight’s existing indirect home improvement loan 
capital provider terminates its relationship with Sunlight and Sunlight is unable to procure alternative agreements with new 
third-party purchaser(s) of home improvement loans in a timely manner and on acceptable terms, or at all, or Sunlight is 
unable to procure alternative direct funding sources for its home improvement loans, then, Sunlight may be required to 
purchase any home improvement loans (with certain exceptions) that have been on its bank partner’s balance sheet for 
greater than 12 months, which could materially and adversely affect Sunlight’s liquidity and financial condition.

Restrictive covenants in certain of Sunlight’s debt agreements could limit its growth and its ability to finance its 
operations, fund its capital needs, respond to changing conditions and engage in other business activities that 
may be in Sunlight’s best interests.

Sunlight’s debt agreements impose operating and financial restrictions on Sunlight. These restrictions limit Sunlight’s 
ability to, among other things:

• incur additional indebtedness;
• make investments or loans;
• create liens;
• consummate mergers and similar fundamental changes;
• make restricted payments;
• make investments in unrestricted subsidiaries;
• enter into transactions with affiliates; and
• use the proceeds of asset sales.

Sunlight may be prevented from taking advantage of business opportunities that arise because of the limitations imposed 
by the restrictive covenants under its corporate debt agreement. The restrictions contained in the covenants could, among 
other things:

• limit Sunlight’s ability to plan for, or react to, market conditions or meet capital needs or otherwise restrict 
Sunlight’s activities or business plan; and
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• adversely affect Sunlight’s ability to finance its operations, enter into acquisitions or divestitures or engage in other 
business activities that would be in Sunlight’s best interest.

A breach of any of these covenants or Sunlight’s inability to comply with the required financial ratios or financial condition 
tests could result in a default under Sunlight’s debt agreement that, if not timely cured or waived, could result in 
acceleration of all indebtedness outstanding thereunder and cross-default rights under other debt arrangements of 
Sunlight. In addition, in the event of an event of default under Sunlight’s debt facility, the affected lenders could accelerate 
such indebtedness and require repayment of all borrowings outstanding thereunder. Sunlight cannot be certain that it will 
have cash available in the future to repay its debt facility in the event that it becomes necessary to do so. If the amounts 
outstanding under Sunlight’s outstanding indebtedness or any of its other indebtedness, whether now or in the future, 
were to be accelerated and Sunlight did not have sufficient assets to repay in full the amounts owed to the lenders or to 
other debt holders, such parties could foreclose on the collateral granted by Sunlight to such debt holders, which could 
materially adversely affect Sunlight’s liquidity and financial condition or its ability to qualify as a going concern.

Additionally, Sunlight’s current corporate debt facility expires in April 2023. As of December 31, 2021, Sunlight’s corporate 
debt facility had outstanding borrowings of $20.6 million. Sunlight will have to negotiate an extension of its facility or 
establish a facility with another lender prior to that date. Sunlight cannot be certain that its current debt provider will extend 
the facility or that it will extend the facility on the same terms, or that Sunlight can obtain a new facility on the same or 
better terms. Sunlight may need to extend the facility or obtain a new facility on terms that contain additional covenants or 
requirements that further restrict Sunlight’s ability to take advantage of business opportunities, address market changes, 
make acquisitions or otherwise grow Sunlight’s business.

Fraudulent activity has become more sophisticated in the financial services industry and, if experienced at a 
material level by Sunlight or its capital providers in connection with loans originated through Sunlight’s Platform, 
it could negatively impact Sunlight’s reputation and business. Further, Sunlight could be subject to fraud by 
internal actors, which could also negatively impact its reputation and business.

Fraud occurs in the financial services industry and has increased as perpetrators become more sophisticated. Sunlight is 
subject to the risk of fraudulent activity generally perpetrated on participants in the financial markets and with respect to 
the policies and business practices of contractors, vendors and other third parties handling consumer information. Sunlight 
has experienced some immaterial fraud where fraudulent actors have obtained consumer personal identifying information 
in order to obtain fraudulent project payments from Sunlight. Sunlight has adopted increased fraud detection processes in 
both its commercial risk management and consumer underwriting processes in response to these events and the reported 
increase of fraud in the financial market. However, Sunlight’s resources, technologies and fraud prevention tools may be 
insufficient to accurately detect and prevent fraud in the future. The level of Sunlight’s fraud charge-offs could increase, 
and results of operations could be materially adversely affected if fraudulent activity were to significantly increase. High 
profile fraudulent activity also could negatively impact Sunlight’s brand and reputation, and negatively impact its business, 
results of operations and financial condition.

Further, Sunlight cannot be certain that it will not be subject to fraud from internal actors in the future. Any such fraud 
conducted could have a material negative impact on Sunlight’s reputation or business.

If the consumer underwriting and loan origination processes Sunlight uses contain errors or incorrect inputs 
from consumers or third parties (e.g., credit bureaus), Sunlight’s reputation and relationships with capital 
providers and contractors could be harmed. Further, economic changes resulting in increases in default rates 
could increase Sunlight’s cost of capital.

Sunlight’s ability to attract capital providers on economic terms consistent with its current capital provider funding facilities 
in part is dependent on Sunlight’s ability to effectively evaluate a consumer’s credit profile and likelihood of default and 
potential loss in accordance with Sunlight’s capital provider’s origination policies. To conduct this evaluation, Sunlight uses 
FICO scores and various credit bureau attributes. If any of the credit decisioning attributes Sunlight uses contain errors or 
the data provided by consumers or third parties (such as credit bureaus) is incorrect or stale, Sunlight’s approvals or 
denials may be determined inappropriately. Additionally, following the date of the credit report that Sunlight obtains and 
reviews, a consumer may default on, or become delinquent in the payment of, a pre-existing debt obligation, take on 
additional debt, lose his or her job or other sources of income, or experience other adverse financial events. If such 
inaccuracies or events are not detected prior to loan funding, the loan may have a greater risk of default than expected. 
Greater defaults could damage Sunlight’s reputation and relationships with contractors and capital providers, causing a 
decrease in Sunlight’s ability to originate loans, or result in an increase to Sunlight’s cost of capital causing a decrease in 
Sunlight margins.
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Further, Sunlight’s cost of capital is also determined in part based on the default averages in Sunlight’s consumer loan 
borrower portfolio. If general economic conditions worsen significantly, or other events occur, resulting in an increase in 
delinquencies and defaults by Sunlight’s consumer loan borrowers and Sunlight is not able to adjust its underwriting 
processes to address the change in credit environment, Sunlight’s cost of capital may increase. Increases in Sunlight’s 
cost of capital may cause a decrease in Sunlight’s margins and have a material adverse effect on Sunlight’s business, 
results of operations and financial condition.

Sunlight may in the future expand to new industry verticals outside of the U.S. residential solar system and home 
improvement industries, and failure to comply with applicable regulations, accurately predict demand or growth, 
or build a process valued in those new industries could have an adverse effect on Sunlight’s business.

Sunlight may in the future further expand into other industry verticals. There is no assurance that Sunlight will be able to 
successfully develop consumer financing products and services that are valued for these new industries. Sunlight’s 
investment of resources to develop consumer financing products and services for the new industries it enters may either 
be insufficient or result in expenses that are excessive as compared to the fees or other revenue that Sunlight may earn in 
launching such vertical. Additionally, Sunlight’s experience is in the U.S. solar system and home improvement industries 
and, therefore, industry participants in new industry verticals may not be receptive to its financing solutions and Sunlight 
may face competitors with more experience and resources. The borrower profile of consumers in new verticals may not be 
as attractive, in terms of average FICO scores or other attributes, as in current verticals, which may make it more difficult 
for Sunlight to find funding partners for these new verticals. As Sunlight explores additional opportunities, Sunlight can 
make no assurance that it will be able to accurately forecast demand (or the lack thereof) for a solution or that those 
industries will be receptive to Sunlight’s loan products or changes in loan products from time to time. Failure to predict 
demand or growth accurately in new industries could have a materially adverse impact on Sunlight’s business, results of 
operations and financial condition.

Sunlight’s risk management processes and procedures may not be effective.

Sunlight’s risk management processes and procedures seek to appropriately balance risk and return and mitigate risks, 
and intend to identify, measure, monitor and control the types of risk to which Sunlight, its contractors and its capital 
providers are subject, including credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk, strategic risk and operational risk. Credit risk is the 
risk of loss that arises when an obligor fails to meet the terms of an obligation. Market risk is the risk of loss due to 
changes in external market factors such as interest rates. Liquidity risk is the risk that financial conditions are adversely 
affected by an inability, or perceived inability, to meet obligations and support business growth. Strategic risk is the risk 
from changes in the business environment, improper implementation of decisions or inadequate responsiveness to 
changes in the business environment. Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from inadequate or failed processes, 
people or systems, external events (e.g., natural disasters), compliance, reputational or legal matters and includes those 
risks as they relate directly to Sunlight as well as to third parties with whom Sunlight contracts or otherwise does business.

Management of Sunlight’s risks depends, in part, upon the use of analytical and forecasting models. If these models are 
ineffective at predicting future losses or are otherwise inadequate, Sunlight may incur unexpected losses or otherwise be 
adversely affected. In addition, the information Sunlight uses in managing its credit and other risks may be inaccurate or 
incomplete as a result of error or fraud, both of which may be difficult to detect and avoid. There also may be risks that 
exist, or that develop in the future, that Sunlight has not appropriately anticipated, identified or mitigated, including when 
processes are changed or new products and services are introduced. If Sunlight’s risk management framework does not 
effectively identify and control its risks, Sunlight could suffer unexpected losses or be adversely affected, which could have 
a material adverse effect on its business, results of operations and financial condition.

To the extent that Sunlight seeks to grow through future acquisitions, or other strategic investments or alliances, 
Sunlight may not be able to do so effectively.

Sunlight may in the future seek to grow its business by exploring potential acquisitions or other strategic investments or 
alliances. Sunlight may not be successful in identifying businesses or opportunities that meet its acquisition or expansion 
criteria. In addition, even if a potential acquisition target or other strategic investment is identified, Sunlight may not be 
successful in completing such acquisition or integrating such new business or other investment in a way that allows 
Sunlight to realize the full benefits from such acquisition. Sunlight may face significant competition for acquisition and 
other strategic investment opportunities from other well-capitalized companies, many of which have greater financial 
resources and greater access to debt and equity capital to secure and complete acquisitions or other strategic 
investments. As a result of such competition, Sunlight may be unable to acquire certain assets or businesses, or take 
advantage of other strategic investment opportunities that Sunlight deems attractive; the purchase price for a given 
strategic opportunity may be significantly elevated; or certain other terms or circumstances may be substantially more 
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onerous. Any delay or failure on Sunlight’s part to identify, negotiate, finance on favorable terms, consummate and 
integrate any such acquisition, or other strategic investment, opportunity could impede Sunlight’s growth.

Even if Sunlight completes future acquisitions, it may not ultimately strengthen its competitive position or achieve its goals 
and business strategy; Sunlight may be subject to claims or liabilities assumed from an acquired company, product, or 
technology; acquisitions Sunlight completes could be viewed negatively by its customers, investors, and securities 
analysts; and Sunlight may incur costs and expenses necessary to address an acquired company’s failure to comply with 
laws and governmental rules and regulations. Additionally, Sunlight may be subject to litigation or other claims in 
connection with the acquired company, including claims from terminated employees, former stockholders or other third 
parties, which may differ from or be more significant than the risks Sunlight’s business faces. If Sunlight is unsuccessful at 
integrating future acquisitions in a timely manner, or the technologies and operations associated with such acquisitions, 
the revenue and operating results of the combined company could be adversely affected. Any integration process may 
require significant time and resources, which may disrupt Sunlight’s ongoing business and divert management’s attention, 
and Sunlight may not be able to manage the integration process successfully or in a timely manner. Sunlight may not 
successfully evaluate or utilize the acquired technology or personnel, realize anticipated synergies from the acquisition, or 
accurately forecast the financial impact of an acquisition transaction and integration of such acquisition, including 
accounting charges and any potential impairment of goodwill and intangible assets recognized in connection with such 
acquisitions. Sunlight may have to pay cash, incur debt, or issue equity or equity-linked securities to pay for any future 
acquisitions, each of which could adversely affect its financial condition or the market price of its Class A Common Stock. 
Furthermore, the sale of equity or issuance of equity-linked debt to finance any future acquisitions could result in dilution 
to Sunlight’s stockholders. The occurrence of any of these risks could harm Sunlight’s business, operating results, and 
financial condition.

Risks Related to the Solar Energy Generation Industry

A material reduction in the retail price of electricity charged by electric utilities, other retail electricity providers 
or other energy sources as compared to potential savings for purchasing and using a solar system or an 
increase in pricing for purchasing and using a solar system above the cost of other energy sources could result 
in a lower demand for solar systems, which could have an adverse impact on Sunlight’s business, results of 
operations and financial condition.

Decreases in the retail price of electricity from electric utilities, from other retail electricity providers or other sources of 
energy, currently existing or as may be developed, including other renewable energy sources, as compared to the 
potential price of purchasing a solar system using solar system loan financing, could make solar systems less 
economically attractive to consumers. Reductions in consumer costs associated with traditional or other sources of power 
may stem from an increase in availability due to an increase in generation of such power sources, a legislated reduction in 
rates or special programs offered to consumers among other potential industry shifts.

Similarly, an increase in pricing associated with purchasing a solar system financed with a loan as compared to the cost to 
consumers of other power sources, or the cost to consumers of using a solar system pursuant to solar power purchase 
agreements or leases, could reduce demand for solar systems. Sunlight’s business has benefited from the declining cost 
of solar system components, which has been a key driver in consumer adoption of solar systems. To the extent such costs 
stabilize, decline at a slower rate or increase, Sunlight’s future growth may be negatively impacted. An increase in cost to 
the consumer purchasing a solar system financed by a loan could be as a result of, among others:

• a decline or delay in raw materials available to manufacture the various components of solar systems;
• an increase in tariff penalties or duties on components of solar systems imported from other countries, which 

could also increase the pricing of components produced domestically associated with an increase in demand for 
such components;

• the expiration or unavailability of, or adverse changes in, economic or governmental incentives, including those in 
the form of tax credits, grants or similar programs, which may expire on a particular date, end when the allocated 
funding is exhausted, or be reduced or terminated as a matter of regulatory or legislative policy, or other factors 
that have the impact of decreasing the ultimate price of purchasing or using a solar system to the consumer;

• adverse changes in the rules related to net metering by which residential solar systems are paid (via a reduction 
in the homeowner/consumer’s utility bill) for power returned by the homeowner to the local power grid from 
operation of the homeowner’s residential solar system; 

• a shortage of skilled labor to install solar systems, which could have the impact of increasing demand on existing 
skilled labor and increasing the cost of installation of solar systems;

• an increase in costs associated with contractor infrastructure, including as related to the potential for additional 
regulation, lawsuits or other unforeseen developments; and
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• an increase in interest rates that Sunlight’s capital providers charge consumers on loan products offered through 
Sunlight for financing residential solar systems.

A decrease in the price of traditional power sources or other renewable energy sources that make such sources cost less 
to the consumer than the purchase of a solar system with loan financing or an increase in prices to purchase a solar 
system with loan financing could decrease the attractiveness of the purchase and installation of such systems by 
consumers, which in turn may slow Sunlight’s growth and have an adverse impact on its business and results of 
operations.

The residential solar system loan industry and the home improvement industry are subject to seasonality and 
other industry factors that may cause Sunlight’s operating results and its ability to grow to fluctuate from quarter 
to quarter and year to year. These fluctuations may cause Sunlight’s future performance to be difficult to predict 
and cause its operating results for a particular period to fall below expectations.

Sunlight’s quarterly and annual operating results are subject to seasonality and other factors that make them difficult to 
predict and may fluctuate significantly in the future. Sunlight has experienced seasonal and quarterly fluctuations in the 
past and expects to experience such fluctuations in the future. In addition, Sunlight believes that the impacts of climate 
change will result in further unpredictability as related to the seasonality of the residential solar system and home 
improvement-related industries, including the related financing industry. Credit applications generally peak for a given year 
during the summer and are at their lowest point toward the end of the year. Because of the lag between credit applications 
and installation, fundings generally peak toward the end of the year and are at their lowest point during the spring. In 
addition to the other risks described herein, the following factors could cause Sunlight’s operating results to fluctuate:

• expiration or initiation of any governmental rebates or incentives;
• significant fluctuations in consumer demand for solar systems and/or home improvements;
• Sunlight’s contractors’ ability to complete installations of solar systems and/or home improvements in a timely 

manner;
• financial market fluctuations that may impact the availability of desirable solar system and/or home improvement 

loan products for consumers or increase the cost of capital to Sunlight, thereby decreasing Sunlight’s margins;
• actual or anticipated developments in Sunlight’s competitors’ businesses, technology, loan products, pricing or 

other initiatives relevant to the solar system or home improvement lending competitive landscape;
• natural disasters or other weather or meteorological conditions impacting solar system or home improvement 

industries; and
• general economic downturns, which could negatively impact the availability of, or cost of, capital, including in 

response to rising delinquencies and defaults in the market, thereby making it more difficult for Sunlight to 
originate loans or to do so on economic terms that are favorable to Sunlight.

For these or other reasons, the results of any prior quarterly or annual periods should not be relied upon as indications of 
Sunlight’s future performance.

The reduction, modification or elimination of government incentives could cause our revenue to decline and 
harm our financial results.

The market for on-grid applications, where solar power is used to supplement a customer’s electricity purchased from the 
utility network or sold to a utility under tariff, depends in large part on the availability and size of government mandates 
and economic incentives because, at present, the cost of solar power generally exceeds retail electric rates in many 
locations and wholesale peak power rates in some locations. Incentives and mandates vary by geographic market. 
Various government bodies in most of the countries where we do business have provided incentives in the form of feed-in 
tariffs, rebates, and tax credits and other incentives and mandates, such as renewable portfolio standards and net 
metering, to end-users, distributors, system integrators, and manufacturers of solar power products to promote the use of 
solar energy in on-grid applications and to reduce dependency on other forms of energy. These various forms of support 
for solar power are subject to change (as, for example, occurred in 2015 with Nevada’s decision to change net energy 
metering; in 2017 with California's adoption of new time-of-use rates that reduced the price paid to solar system owners 
for mid-day electricity production; in 2020 with California's adoption of building standards requiring the installation of solar 
systems on new homes; and though not currently enacted, in 2021 the states of California and Florida proposed net 
metering policy changes designed to materially reduce the benefit available under net metering), and are expected in the 
longer term to decline. Even changes that may be viewed as positive (such as extensions of U.S. tax credits related to 
solar power) can have negative effects if they result, for example, in delaying purchases that otherwise might have been 
made before expiration or scheduled reductions in such credits. Governmental decisions regarding the provision of 
economic incentives often depend on political and economic factors that we cannot predict and that are beyond our 
control. The reduction, modification, or elimination of grid access, government mandates, or economic incentives in one or 
more of our customer markets would materially and adversely affect the growth of such markets or result in increased 
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price competition, either of which could cause our revenue to decline and materially adversely affect our business and 
financial results.

Existing regulations and policies and changes to these regulations and policies may present technical, 
regulatory, and economic barriers to the purchase and use of solar power products, which may significantly 
reduce demand for our loan products and services.

The market for electric generation products is heavily influenced by federal, state, and local government laws, regulations, 
and policies concerning the electric utility industry in the United States and abroad, as well as policies promulgated by 
electric utilities. These regulations and policies often relate to electricity pricing and technical interconnection of customer-
owned electricity generation, and changes that make solar power less competitive with other power sources could deter 
investment in the research and development of alternative energy sources as well as customer purchases of solar power 
technology, which could in turn result in a significant reduction in the demand for our loan products and services. The 
market for electric generation equipment is also influenced by trade and local content laws, regulations, and policies that 
can discourage growth and competition in the solar industry and create economic barriers to the purchase of solar power 
products, thus reducing demand for our loan products. In addition, on-grid applications depend on access to the grid, 
which is also regulated by government entities. We anticipate that solar power products and their installation will continue 
to be subject to oversight and regulation in accordance with federal, state, local, and foreign regulations relating to 
construction, safety, environmental protection, utility interconnection and metering, trade, and related matters. Any new 
regulations or policies pertaining to solar power products may result in significant additional expenses to our business 
partners and our customers, which could cause a significant reduction in demand for our loan products.

Because Sunlight’s business is heavily concentrated on consumer lending in the U.S. solar system and home 
improvement industries, Sunlight’s results are more susceptible to fluctuations in those markets than a more 
diversified company would be.

Sunlight’s business is currently concentrated on supporting consumer lending in the U.S. solar system and home 
improvement industries. As a result, Sunlight is more susceptible to fluctuations and risks particular to U.S. consumer 
credit than a more diversified company would be, and more specifically as to factors that may drive the demand for solar 
systems and home improvements. Sunlight’s business concentration could have an adverse effect on its business, results 
of operations and financial condition.

The industries that Sunlight operates in are highly competitive and are likely to become more competitive. 
Additionally, if new entrants join these markets who have ready access to cheaper capital, competing 
successfully would become more difficult for Sunlight. Sunlight’s inability to compete successfully or maintain or 
improve Sunlight’s market share and margins could adversely affect its business.

The consumer lending industry is highly competitive and increasingly dynamic as emerging technologies continue to enter 
the marketplace. Technological advances and heightened e-commerce activities have increased consumers’ accessibility 
to products and services, which has intensified the desirability of offering loans to consumers through digital-based 
solutions. Sunlight faces competition in areas such as financing terms, promotional offerings, fees, approval rates, speed 
and simplicity of loan origination, ease-of-use, marketing expertise, service levels, products and services, technological 
capabilities and integration, customer service and support, compliance capabilities, brand and reputation. Sunlight’s 
existing and potential competitors may decide to modify their pricing and business models to compete more directly with 
Sunlight’s model or offer similar promotions and ancillary services. If Sunlight is unable to compete effectively to attract 
contractors to sell Sunlight loans to their consumer customers, Sunlight’s results of operations and financial condition 
could be materially adversely affected.

Sunlight’s success in the residential solar systems point of sale lending industry is in part due to Sunlight’s low cost of 
capital. While the barriers to entry in this business are high, if new entrants with access to cheaper capital enter the 
market, such as a depository institution whether organically or through acquisition of Sunlight competitors (thereby giving 
Sunlight competitors access to lower cost capital), competing could become more difficult for Sunlight. A new market 
entrant with a lower cost of capital could discount pricing to a level below which Sunlight would be able to match and 
maintain its margins or such entrant could maintain pricing but make more revenue on each loan. Sunlight’s inability to 
compete successfully with these tactics by lowering its own cost of capital or competing on other terms that are valuable 
to solar systems contractors such as user-friendly, best-in-market technology or by providing valuable ancillary services, 
could materially negatively impact Sunlight’s business.

Risks Related to Sunlight’s Technology and Intellectual Property
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Developments in technology or improvements in the solar energy generation industry, including energy storage 
and distributed solar power, may adversely affect demand for Sunlight’s loans.

Significant developments in technology, such as advances in distributed solar power generation, energy storage solutions 
such as batteries, energy storage management systems, the widespread use or adoption of fuel cells for residential 
properties or improvements in other forms of distributed or centralized power production may materially and adversely 
affect demand for solar systems and, in turn, the demand for loans originated through Sunlight’s Platform, which may 
negatively impact Sunlight’s business, results of operations and financial condition.

Additionally, recent technological advancements may impact Sunlight’s business in ways Sunlight does not currently 
anticipate. Any failure by Sunlight to adopt or have access to assist consumers to finance new or enhanced technologies 
or processes, or to react to changes in existing technologies, could have a material adverse effect on Sunlight’s business, 
results of operations and financial condition.

Cyber-attacks and other security breaches could have an adverse effect on Sunlight’s business.

In the normal course of Sunlight’s business, Sunlight collects, processes and retains sensitive and nonpublic personal 
consumer information. Although Sunlight devotes significant resources and management focus to ensuring the integrity of 
its systems through information security and business continuity programs, Sunlight’s facilities and information technology 
systems, and those of capital providers, contractors and third-party service providers, may be subjected to external or 
internal security breaches and cyber-attacks, acts of vandalism, computer viruses, misplaced or lost data, programming or 
human errors and other similar events that result in the disclosure of sensitive and confidential information. Sunlight also 
faces security threats from malicious third parties that could attempt to obtain unauthorized access to Sunlight systems 
and networks, which threats have increased significantly in recent years and which Sunlight anticipates will continue to 
grow in scope and complexity over time. These events could interrupt Sunlight’s business and/or operations, result in 
significant legal and financial exposure, supervisory liability, other government or regulatory fines and penalties, damage 
to its reputation and a loss of confidence in the security of Sunlight’s systems and ability to facilitate the origination of 
loans. Although Sunlight has not experienced such adverse events to date, no assurance can be given that these events 
will not have a material adverse effect on Sunlight in the future.

Information security risks in the financial services industry have increased recently, in part because of new technologies, 
the use of the internet and telecommunications technologies (including mobile devices) to conduct financial and other 
business transactions and the increased sophistication and activities of organized criminals, perpetrators of fraud, 
hackers, terrorists and others. In addition to cyber-attacks and other security breaches involving the theft of sensitive and 
confidential information, hackers recently have engaged in attacks that are designed to disrupt key business services, 
such as consumer-facing websites. Sunlight, contractors, capital providers and vendors may not be able to anticipate or 
implement effective preventive measures against all security breaches of these types, especially because the techniques 
used change frequently and because attacks can originate from a wide variety of sources. Sunlight employs detection and 
response mechanisms designed to contain and mitigate security incidents. Nonetheless, early detection efforts may be 
thwarted by sophisticated attacks and malware designed to avoid detection. Sunlight also may fail to detect the existence 
of a security breach related to the information of capital providers, contractors and consumers that Sunlight retains as part 
of its business and may be unable to prevent unauthorized access to that information.

Sunlight also faces risks related to cyber-attacks and other security breaches that typically involve the transmission of 
sensitive information regarding borrowers through various third parties, including Sunlight’s various service providers 
engaged to support Sunlight’s underwriting and other technological and operational processes. Because Sunlight does not 
control these third parties or oversee the security of their systems, future security breaches or cyber-attacks affecting any 
of these third parties could impact Sunlight through no fault of its own, and in some cases Sunlight may have exposure 
and suffer losses for breaches or attacks relating to them. While Sunlight regularly conducts security assessments of 
significant third-party service providers, no assurance is given that Sunlight’s third-party information security protocols are 
sufficient to prevent a service provider from experiencing a cyber-attack or other security breach.

Disruptions in the operation of Sunlight’s computer systems and those of its critical third-party service providers 
and capital providers could have an adverse effect on Sunlight’s business.

Sunlight’s ability to facilitate the origination of loans and otherwise operate Sunlight’s business and comply with applicable 
laws depends on the efficient and uninterrupted operation of Sunlight’s computer systems and critical third-party service 
providers that support these processes. These Sunlight or third-party computer systems may encounter service 
interruptions at any time due to system or software failure, natural disasters, severe weather conditions, health 
pandemics, terrorist attacks, cyber-attacks or other events. Any of such catastrophes could have a negative effect on 

16



Sunlight’s business and technology infrastructure (including its computer network systems). Catastrophic events could 
also impact public agencies that provide permitting or other related services and prevent or make it more difficult for 
contractors to install solar systems, and could interrupt or disable local or national communications networks, including 
payment networks and capital provider’s ability to fund loans. All of these adverse effects of catastrophic events could 
result in an inability for Sunlight to meet its funding obligations with respect to existing loan applications or for Sunlight to 
originate new loans, which could have a material adverse effect on Sunlight’s business.

In addition, the implementation of technology changes and upgrades to maintain current and integrate new systems may 
cause service interruptions, transaction processing errors or system conversion delays and may cause Sunlight to fail to 
comply in a timely manner with its agreements with applicable laws, all of which could have a material adverse effect on 
Sunlight’s business. Sunlight expects that new technologies and business processes applicable to the point of sale 
consumer loan industry will continue to emerge. There can be no assurance that Sunlight will be able to successfully 
adopt new technology as critical systems and applications become obsolete and better systems, applications and 
processes become available. A failure to maintain or improve current technology and business processes could cause 
disruptions in Sunlight’s operations or cause its solution to be less competitive, all of which could have a material adverse 
effect on its business, results of operations and financial condition.

Existing regulations and policies and changes to these regulations and policies may present technical, 
regulatory, and economic barriers to the purchase and use of solar energy systems, which may significantly 
reduce demand for Sunlight’s loan products.

The market for electric generation products is heavily influenced by federal, state, and local government laws, regulations, 
and policies concerning the electric utility industry in the United States and abroad, as well as policies promulgated by 
electric utilities. These regulations and policies often relate to electricity pricing and technical interconnection of customer-
owned electricity generation, and changes that make solar power less competitive with other power sources could deter 
investment in the research and development of alternative energy sources as well as customer purchases of solar power 
technology from Sunlight’s network of contractors, which could in turn result in a significant reduction in the demand for 
Sunlight’s solar power loan products. The market for electric generation equipment is also influenced by trade and local 
content laws, regulations, and policies that can discourage growth and competition in the solar industry and create 
economic barriers to the purchase of solar power products, thus reducing demand for solar products sold by our 
contractor partners, and in turn our solar power loan products. In addition, on-grid applications depend on access to the 
grid, which is also regulated by government entities. We anticipate that solar power products and their installation will 
continue to be subject to oversight and regulation in accordance with federal, state, local, and foreign regulations relating 
to construction, safety, environmental protection, utility interconnection and metering, trade, and related matters. It is 
difficult to track the requirements of individual states or local jurisdictions and design equipment to comply with the varying 
standards. Any new regulations or policies pertaining to solar power products may result in significant additional expenses 
to contractor partners and their customers, which could cause a significant reduction in demand for Sunlight’s loan 
products. See also under this section, “Risks Related to Legal Matters and Sunlight’s Regulatory Environment - The highly 
regulated environment in which Sunlight’s capital providers operate could have an adverse effect on Sunlight’s business.” 

Sunlight may be unable to sufficiently protect its proprietary rights, trade secrets and intellectual property, and 
may encounter disputes from time to time relating to its use of the intellectual property of third parties.

Sunlight relies on a combination of patents, trademarks, service marks, copyrights, trade secrets, domain names and 
agreements with employees and third parties to protect its proprietary rights. Unauthorized individuals may attempt to 
duplicate or copy the proprietary aspects of its technology and processes. Sunlight’s competitors and other third parties 
independently may design around or develop similar technology or otherwise duplicate Sunlight’s services or products. In 
addition, though Sunlight has restrictive covenant agreements in place that are intended to protect its intellectual property, 
trade secrets and confidential and proprietary information (“Proprietary Information”) or provide a remedy in the event of 
an unauthorized disclosure, these agreements may not prevent misappropriation of Sunlight’s Proprietary Information or 
infringement of Sunlight’s intellectual property and the resulting loss of competitive advantage, and Sunlight may be 
required to litigate to protect its intellectual property and Proprietary Information from misappropriation or infringement by 
others, which may be expensive, could cause a diversion of resources and may not be successful.

Sunlight also may encounter disputes from time to time concerning intellectual property rights of others, and it may not 
prevail in these disputes. Third parties may raise claims against Sunlight alleging that Sunlight, or consultants or other 
third parties retained or indemnified by Sunlight, infringe on their intellectual property rights. Some third-party intellectual 
property rights may be extremely broad, and it may not be possible for Sunlight to conduct its operations in such a way as 
to avoid all alleged violations of such intellectual property rights. Given the complex, rapidly changing and competitive 
technological and business environment in which Sunlight operates, and the potential risks and uncertainties of intellectual 
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property-related litigation, an assertion of an infringement claim against Sunlight may cause Sunlight to spend significant 
amounts to defend the claim, even if Sunlight ultimately prevails. If Sunlight does not prevail, Sunlight may be required to 
pay significant money damages, suffer losses of significant revenues, be prohibited from using the relevant systems, 
processes, technologies or other intellectual property (temporarily or permanently), be required to cease offering certain 
products or services, or incur significant license, royalty or technology development expenses.

In addition, although in some cases a third party may have agreed to indemnify Sunlight for such costs, such indemnifying 
party may refuse or be unable to uphold its contractual obligations. In other cases, insurance may not cover potential 
claims of this type adequately or at all, and Sunlight may be required to pay monetary damages, which may be significant.

Some aspects of the Sunlight Platform and processes include open source software, and any failure to comply 
with the terms of one or more of these open source licenses could negatively affect its business.

Aspects of the Sunlight Platform include software covered by open source licenses. The terms of various open source 
licenses have not been interpreted by United States courts, and such licenses could be construed in a manner that 
imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions on Sunlight’s Platform. If portions of Sunlight’s proprietary software are 
determined to be subject to an open source license, Sunlight could be required to publicly release the affected portions of 
source code, re-engineer all or a portion of its technologies or otherwise be limited in the licensing of technologies, each of 
which could reduce or eliminate the value of Sunlight’s technologies. In addition to risks related to license requirements, 
usage of open source software can lead to greater risks than use of third-party commercial software because open source 
licensors generally do not provide warranties or controls on the origin of the software. Many of the risks associated with 
the use of open source software cannot be eliminated and could adversely affect Sunlight’s business, results of operations 
and financial condition.

Contractor and Capital Provider-Related Risks

Sunlight’s growth is dependent on its contractor network and in turn the quality of the products and services 
they provide to their customers, and Sunlight’s failure to retain or replace existing contractors, to grow its 
contractor network or the number of Sunlight loans offered through its existing network, or increases in loan 
delinquencies due to any deficiencies in Sunlight’s contractor underwriting practices, could adversely impact 
Sunlight’s business.

Solar system and home improvement loans are offered through Sunlight to Sunlight’s contractor networks to such 
contractors’ consumer customers who buy solar systems or home improvements. In order to continue to grow, Sunlight 
will need to further expand its contractor networks. Sunlight is subject to significant competition for the recruitment and 
retention of contractors from its current competitors and new entrants to the solar system loan and home improvement 
loan markets, and Sunlight may not be able to recruit new or replacement contractors in the future, or expand its loan 
volume with existing contractors, at a rate required to produce projected growth.

Sunlight competes for contractors with solar system and home improvement lenders primarily based on scope of loan 
product offerings that respond to consumer demand, pricing to the contractors (“OID”), user friendliness of Sunlight’s 
technology (Orange®) and other processes to make the loan sale process efficient and individualized in service and 
responsiveness. Sunlight does not have any exclusivity agreements with its contractors. Accordingly, there can be no 
assurance that Sunlight will be able to maintain its current contractor relationships. Sunlight may lose existing contractors 
that represent a significant portion of Sunlight’s business, and there is no guarantee that Sunlight would be able to engage 
replacement contractors on terms similar to its existing contractors, or at all.

Additionally, dependence on any one contractor or small group of contractors creates concentration risk, particularly in the 
event that any such contractor elects to terminate its relationship with Sunlight, experiences business disruption, a 
business failure or bankruptcy, or fails to supply, or perform the installation of, the solar system or home improvement 
product to the satisfaction of the customer, which may result in potential loan defaults which could have a material adverse 
impact on Sunlight’s results of operations. For example, in May 2021, Sunlight was advised by a significant contractor that 
it will discontinue use of Sunlight’s platform to source solar loans effective immediately. This contractor accounted for 
approximately 6.7% and, due to continuing pull-through after the discontinuation date, 9.5% of Sunlight’s total funded loan 
volumes during the years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2021, respectively.

For the fiscal years ended December 31, 2019, December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2021, Sunlight’s top ten 
contractors accounted for approximately 46%, 42%, and 45% of the total funded loan volumes for such periods, 
respectively.
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Sunlight’s capital advance program exposes it to potential losses in the event that a contractor fails to fully 
perform under its agreements with Sunlight or becomes insolvent prior to completion of the underlying 
installation or construction, which losses could have an adverse impact on Sunlight’s business, results of 
operations and financial condition.

Sunlight maintains a primarily short-term capital advance program with certain contractors that provides such contractors 
with up-front working capital to pay for certain expenses for installation or the construction of solar systems and home 
improvements. Such capital advances may be paid to contractors prior to the commencement of such installation or 
construction, or at specified periods during the installation or construction process. The aggregate amount of advances 
available to a given contractor is based on a risk evaluation and tiering conducted by Sunlight’s commercial risk team that 
performs contractor underwriting generally, as well as additional oversight and periodic monitoring requirements, which 
may not be able to fully address all risks which could result in insufficient underwriting thereby resulting in an adverse 
impact to Sunlight’s business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, at any time prior to completion of 
installation or construction of solar systems or home improvements, Sunlight is at risk for defaults if a contractor to whom 
such advances have been made fails to fully perform under its agreements with Sunlight or becomes insolvent prior to the 
completion of installation or construction. The ability of, or failure of, contractors to fully perform or maintain their solvency 
depends on a number of factors, including, but not limited to, changes in economic conditions, adverse trends or events 
affecting the solar system and home improvement industries, lack of availability of, and/or access to, as well as increases 
in the cost of, materials or labor for the installation or construction of solar systems or home improvements, due to global 
supply chain shortages and the increase in competition for skilled labor, permitting delays, natural disasters and 
management and cash flow levels. As of December 31, 2020, Sunlight had an aggregate of $35.4 million of outstanding 
advances to 141 contractors. Approximately 60.1% of those advances were made to four of Sunlight’s largest contractor 
relationships in terms of funded loan volume. As of December 31, 2021, Sunlight had an aggregate of $67.1 million of 
outstanding advances to 170 contractors. Approximately 71.6% of those advances were made to five of Sunlight’s largest 
contractor relationships in terms of funded loan volume. In the event that one or more contractors who receive such 
capital advances are unable to fully perform under their agreements with Sunlight or maintain their solvency, Sunlight may 
lose a portion or all of the funds advanced to such contractor, may need to modify the provisions of the capital advance 
program with such contractor on materially less favorable terms to Sunlight, or may incur additional operational and 
maintenance expenses, any of which may have an adverse impact on Sunlight’s business, results of operations and 
financial condition.

Further, Sunlight advances funding payments to contractors in order to ensure payment to its contractors within 24 hours. 
If a capital provider fails to reimburse Sunlight for such advances as anticipated, Sunlight may need to write-off such 
advances, subjecting Sunlight to consumer credit risk. Alternatively, if the contractor funded by Sunlight declares 
bankruptcy prior to Sunlight being reimbursed, the capital provider is not likely to fund the loan and reimburse Sunlight. 
Sunlight could be subject to losses if the consumers borrowing funds from Sunlight under these loans do not pay as and 
when required.

Sunlight’s rebate program with certain of its contractors may be utilized by such contractors to a greater degree 
in certain periods, resulting in decreased fee income from its contractor partners, which could have a material 
adverse impact on Sunlight’s revenues during those periods.

Sunlight offers rebates to certain of its contractor partners in exchange for volume commitments. In general, the 
contractors with these rebate arrangements realize a rebate on funded loans originated over an agreed period of time (for 
example, one year) provided that the agreed volume of funded loan origination was achieved by that contractor. Sunlight 
accrues for such rebates on a quarterly basis based on the estimated amount of the rebate, but the accrual may be less 
than the actual rebate earned by a contractor or contractors when the rebate is required to be paid if volume is higher than 
anticipated in certain periods. If that occurs, Sunlight may be required to record a charge for rebates that is larger than 
would be the case if its accrual matched the rebates actually earned. If such a charge occurs, Sunlight’s revenues for the 
applicable quarterly period may be adversely impacted.

Loans originated through Sunlight’s technology platform (Orange®) are originated by third-party capital 
providers. As Sunlight continues to grow, Sunlight will need to either expand the commitments of its existing 
capital providers or find additional capital providers to fund additional volume. Sunlight’s inability to identify 
capital provider sources for new loan volume or to replace loan volume funding capacity should a capital 
provider elect to terminate its relationship with Sunlight could have a material adverse impact on Sunlight’s 
growth.

Sunlight relies on third-party capital providers to originate solar system and home improvement loans through Sunlight’s 
Platform to third party borrowers. As Sunlight’s business grows, Sunlight will need additional funding sources for those 
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loans to third party borrowers, either from its existing capital providers or by entering into program funding agreements 
with new capital providers. Sunlight’s failure to obtain additional funding commitments in an amount needed to fund its 
projected loan volume, or Sunlight’s failure to extend its existing commitments or identify new capital providers on 
economic terms similar to or better than what Sunlight currently has with its existing capital providers, could have a 
material adverse impact on Sunlight’s business, results of operations and financial condition.

Additionally, Sunlight’s funding program agreements generally have automatic renewal provisions, but Sunlight cannot 
predict whether a capital provider will elect to terminate their commitment in the future. Many factors may influence the 
ability or willingness of Sunlight’s existing capital providers to renew their annual capital commitments and the terms on 
which such renewals are made, including, but not limited to, changes in economic conditions, including credit markets and 
interest rates, adverse trends or events affecting the lending industry or industries that Sunlight serves, changes in 
strategy by capital providers, the overall attractiveness of the returns that may be realized from solar system or home 
improvement loans by capital providers from their relationship with Sunlight, Sunlight’s performance and the performance 
of loans originated through Sunlight’s Platform and changes in legislation and regulations that affect Sunlight or capital 
providers. Sunlight cannot predict its third-party capital providers’ appetite to continue originating solar system or home 
improvement loans or other risks to such parties businesses that could cause any such party to not renew their loan 
funding program with Sunlight.

In addition, Sunlight’s funding program agreements contain covenants and agreements relating to the origination of loans 
on such providers’ balance sheets. If Sunlight materially breaches these conditions and fails to cure them in the time 
allotted, the relevant capital provider may terminate its relationship with Sunlight. Such covenants and agreements 
generally include, among others, obligations related to funding volumes, concentration limits on certain loan products, 
FICO score requirements, agreements related to Sunlight’s legal compliance in the origination process, underwriting 
requirements, milestone payment requirements and data privacy requirements. If Sunlight were to breach one or more of 
the covenants and the relevant existing capital provider elects to terminate its relationship with Sunlight and Sunlight is 
unable to procure alternative agreements with new capital providers or increase commitments from other existing capital 
providers in a timely manner and on acceptable terms, or at all, Sunlight’s results of operations could be materially and 
adversely affected.

Dependence by Sunlight on one capital provider or a group of similarly situated capital providers that would be impacted 
similarly by market factors subjects Sunlight to concentration risk. In 2019, 2020, and 2021, respectively, one capital 
provider, Technology Credit Union, funded 48.9%, 47.4%, and 29.4% of Sunlight’s funded solar system loan volume. Also, 
although in separate geographical jurisdictions, in those same years, 73.9%, 84.3%, and 74.4%, respectively, of Sunlight’s 
total solar system loan volume was funded by credit unions, which could have similar market, regulatory or other risks that 
could simultaneously impact their ability to continue to originate solar system loans through Sunlight. Sunlight’s continued 
growth could be materially and adversely affected if this or any other of its capital providers or a group of them were not 
able to or determined not to continue to fund solar loans facilitated by Sunlight, and Sunlight was not able to attract 
additional capital providers to replace that funding capacity. Capital providers could determine to stop funding solar loans 
for different reasons that are outside of Sunlight’s control such as a desire to diversify their own asset bases, changes in 
the market or regulatory requirements or other circumstances.

Sunlight is subject to regular audits by its capital providers and their regulators, as well as certain other parties 
closely involved in Sunlight’s processes, such as credit bureaus. If Sunlight does not “pass” these audits, 
Sunlight could suffer reputational damage that will make it more difficult to engage capital providers or extend its 
current relationships on positive economic terms to Sunlight, which could negatively impact Sunlight’s business 
and financial condition.

Sunlight is subject to regular audits by its capital providers and their regulators, as well as certain other parties closely 
involved in Sunlight’s processes, such as credit bureaus. These audits are broad and include reviews of Sunlight’s 
consumer protection law policies and procedures, privacy practices, information technology security measures, human 
resources practices and other areas of operation. If Sunlight does not “pass” these audits or Sunlight’s performance is 
deemed weak or significant deficiencies are identified, Sunlight could suffer reputational damage. Sunlight’s existing 
capital providers may be less willing to extend the terms of their existing agreements or may elect to increase the cost of 
capital to Sunlight if it perceives these issues as increasing their risk. These issues may also make it more difficult for 
Sunlight to engage new capital providers on positive economic terms to Sunlight. Further, if third parties critical to 
Sunlight’s operations should find Sunlight’s audit results concerning, they may not be willing to continue to partner with 
Sunlight. If these critical parties are not willing to continue to partner with Sunlight, Sunlight may need to alter its 
operations in a manner that has a negative impact on its business or Sunlight may experience business disruption while it 
seeks to find a replacement vendor (which, if identified, may not be available to Sunlight on positive economic terms) that 
could negatively impact Sunlight’s business and financial condition.
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Contractor and marketplace confidence in Sunlight’s liquidity and long-term business prospects is important for 
building and maintaining Sunlight’s business. Additionally, if Sunlight experiences negative publicity, it may lose 
the confidence of its funding providers, capital providers and contractors and Sunlight’s business may suffer.

Sunlight’s financial condition, operating results and business prospects may suffer materially if it is unable to establish and 
maintain confidence about its liquidity and long-term business prospects among contractors, consumers and within 
Sunlight’s industry. Sunlight’s contractor network is Sunlight’s distribution channel for the loans originated through 
Orange® and therefore serves as the means by which Sunlight is able to rapidly and successfully expand within existing 
and prospective markets. Contractors and other third parties will be less likely to enter into agreements with Sunlight if 
they are uncertain if Sunlight will be able to make payments on time, its business will succeed or its operations will 
continue for many years. Sunlight may not succeed in its efforts to build this confidence.

Sunlight relies on a number of third-party service providers and vendors, and if certain of those vendors are 
unable or unwilling to provide their services or products, Sunlight may experience meaningful harm to its 
business, results of operations and financial condition.

Sunlight has established a process whereby it evaluates each vendor to determine if such vendor is “critical” to Sunlight’s 
business. Sunlight defines “critical” as a vendor that, if unwilling or unable to provide its services or products to Sunlight 
for seven days, would potentially cause Sunlight to experience material harm to its business. Sunlight currently has 18 
vendors qualified as critical. Most of these critical vendors relate to services provided to support Orange® and other 
related technology. No assurance can be given that any vendor critical to Sunlight’s business will not experience a 
prolonged business or system disruption, financial difficulties, including potential bankruptcy, or other circumstances that 
could cause such vendor to be unable to perform under its contract with Sunlight. Further, Sunlight cannot predict whether 
any critical vendor would choose to breach an agreement or not renew a contract in an effort to increase pricing or 
otherwise that a dispute will not occur between Sunlight and a critical vendor. If any of these events do occur, Sunlight will 
need to find a replacement and integrate such replacement vendor quickly. If Sunlight cannot locate an adequate 
replacement or cannot integrate the replacement vendor services quickly, Sunlight may have to alter its operations or 
experience business disruption itself, which would likely have a material adverse impact on Sunlight’s business, results of 
operations and financial condition.

Financial and Accounting-Related Risks

Sunlight’s projections are subject to significant risks, assumptions, estimates and uncertainties. As a result, 
Sunlight’s projected revenues, market share, expenses, profitability and any guidance it may publish from time to 
time may differ materially from its expectations.

Sunlight operates in a rapidly changing and competitive industries and Sunlight’s projections will be subject to the risks 
and assumptions made by management with respect to its industry. Operating results are difficult to forecast because they 
generally depend on a number of factors, including competition, Sunlight’s ability to attract and retain capital providers and 
contractors, general industry trends and financial market considerations. Additionally, as described under “—Sunlight’s 
revenue is impacted, to a significant extent, by the general economy, including supply chain disruptions, and the financial 
performance of its capital providers and contractors,” Sunlight’s business may be affected by reductions in consumer 
spending from time to time as a result of a number of factors that may be difficult to predict, rising interest rates and a 
reduction of the general availability of capital to consumers. This may result in decreased revenue and Sunlight may be 
unable to adopt measures in a timely manner to compensate for any unexpected decline. This inability could cause 
Sunlight’s operating results in a given quarter to be higher or lower than expected. If actual results differ from Sunlight’s 
estimates, analysts may negatively react and Sunlight’s stock price could be materially adversely impacted.

Additionally, Sunlight may, from time to time, provide guidance regarding its future performance that represents 
management’s estimates as of the date such guidance is provided. Guidance is necessarily speculative in nature, and it 
can be expected that some or all of the assumptions that inform such guidance will not materialize or will vary significantly 
from actual results. Sunlight’s ability to meet funded volume, cost, Adjusted EBITDA, free cash flow or any other forward-
looking guidance is impacted by a number of factors including, but not limited to, changes in domestic and foreign 
business, market, financial, political and legal conditions; risks related to Sunlight’s business and the timing of expected 
business milestones or results; the effects of competition and regulatory risks, and the impacts of changes in legislation or 
regulations on Sunlight’s future business; the expiration, renewal, modification or replacement of the federal solar 
investment tax credit; the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on Sunlight’s business or future results; and Sunlight’s ability 
to issue equity or equity-linked securities. Accordingly, Sunlight’s guidance is only an estimate of what management 
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believes is realizable as of the date such guidance is provided. Actual results may vary from such guidance and the 
variations may be material.

Sunlight’s revenue is impacted, to a significant extent, by the general economy, including supply chain 
disruptions, and the financial performance of its capital providers and contractors.

Sunlight’s business, the consumer financial services industry, its contractors’ and its capital providers’ businesses are 
sensitive to macroeconomic conditions. Economic factors such as interest rates, changes in monetary and related 
policies, inflation, market volatility, increased labor costs and labor shortages, delays in the supply chain and supply chain 
shortages, consumer confidence and unemployment rates are among the most significant factors that impact consumer 
spending behavior. Weak economic conditions or a significant deterioration in economic conditions reduce the amount of 
disposable income consumers have, which in turn reduces consumer spending and the willingness of qualified borrowers 
to take out loans. Such conditions are also likely to affect the ability and willingness of borrowers to pay amounts owed to 
Sunlight or its capital providers, each of which would have a material adverse effect on its business, results of operations 
and financial condition. 

General economic conditions and the willingness of its capital providers to deploy capital in the consumer industries within 
which Sunlight operates also impact Sunlight’s performance. The origination of new loans through Orange®, and the 
platform fees and other fee income to Sunlight associated with such loans, is dependent upon sales and installations of 
solar systems and home improvements. Contractors’ sales may decrease or fail to increase as a result of factors outside 
of their control, such as the macroeconomic conditions referenced above, business conditions affecting an industry 
vertical or region, changing regulatory environments, delays in permitting and/or permission to operate of residential solar. 
Weak economic conditions including increased labor costs and labor shortages, delays in the supply chain and supply 
chain shortages, and delays in permitting and/or permission to operate of residential solar also could extend the length of 
contractors’ sales cycle and cause prospective borrowers to delay making (or not make) purchases of solar systems or 
home improvements. The decline in and delay of sales by contractors for any reason will generally result in reduced loan 
volume and associated fee income for Sunlight and its capital providers, particularly from platform fees on Direct Channel 
Loans, for which revenue is not recognized until the Direct Channel Partner funds the Loans, which may reduce loan 
volume and materially adversely affect Sunlight’s business, results of operations and financial condition.

In addition, if a contractor or capital provider becomes subject to a voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy proceeding (or if 
there is a perception that it may become subject to a bankruptcy proceeding), borrowers may have less incentive to pay 
their outstanding balances to Sunlight or its capital providers, which could result in higher charge-off rates than 
anticipated. Any consistent or system failures of Sunlight’s contractors or capital providers could materially adversely 
affect Sunlight’s business, results of operations and financial condition.

Risks Related to Legal Matters and Sunlight’s Regulatory Environment

Litigation, regulatory actions and compliance issues could subject Sunlight to significant fines, penalties, 
judgments, remediation costs, indemnification obligations and/or other requirements resulting in increased 
expenses and negatively impacting Sunlight’s liquidity and financial condition.

Sunlight’s business is subject to increased risks of litigation and regulatory actions as a result of a number of factors and 
from various sources, including as a result of the highly regulated nature of the consumer financial services industry and 
the focus of state and federal enforcement agencies on the financial services industry.

Federal and state agencies have broad enforcement powers over Sunlight, including powers to investigate Sunlight’s 
business practices and broad discretion to deem particular practices unfair, deceptive, abusive or otherwise not in 
accordance with the law. The continued focus of regulators on the consumer financial services industry has resulted, and 
could continue to result, in new enforcement actions that could, directly or indirectly, affect the manner in which Sunlight 
conducts its business and increase the costs of defending and settling any such matters, which could negatively impact its 
business. In some cases, regardless of fault, it may be less time-consuming or costly to settle these matters, which may 
require Sunlight to implement certain changes to its business practices, provide remediation to certain individuals or make 
a settlement payment to a given party or regulatory body. There is no assurance that any future settlements will not have 
a material adverse effect on Sunlight’s business.

From time to time, Sunlight may be involved in, or the subject of, reviews, requests for information, examinations, 
investigations and proceedings (both formal and informal) by state and federal governmental agencies regarding 
Sunlight’s business activities and Sunlight’s qualifications to conduct its business in certain jurisdictions, which could 
subject Sunlight to significant fines, penalties, obligations to change its business practices, capital provider, contractor and 
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consumer remediations, increased compliance costs and other requirements resulting in increased expenses and 
diminished earnings. Sunlight’s involvement in any such matter also could cause significant harm to its reputation and 
divert management attention from the operation of its business, even if the matters are ultimately determined in Sunlight’s 
favor. Moreover, any settlement, or any consent order or adverse judgment in connection with any formal or informal 
proceeding or investigation by a government agency, may prompt litigation or additional investigations or proceedings as 
other litigants or other government agencies begin independent reviews of the same activities.

In addition, a number of participants in the consumer finance industry have been the subject of putative class action 
lawsuits; state attorney general actions and other state regulatory actions; federal regulatory enforcement actions, 
including actions relating to alleged unfair, deceptive or abusive acts or practices; violations of state licensing and lending 
laws, including state usury laws; actions alleging discrimination on the basis of race, ethnicity, gender or other prohibited 
bases; and allegations of noncompliance with various state and federal laws and regulations relating to originating and 
servicing consumer finance loans. The current regulatory environment, increased regulatory compliance requirements and 
enhanced regulatory enforcement could result in significant operational and compliance costs and may prevent Sunlight 
from offering certain products and services. There is no assurance that these regulatory matters or other factors will not, in 
the future, affect how Sunlight conducts its business and, in turn, could have a material adverse effect on Sunlight’s 
business or results of operations. In particular, legal proceedings brought under state consumer protection statutes or 
under several of the various federal consumer financial services statutes may result in a separate fine for each violation of 
the statute, which, particularly in the case of class action lawsuits, could result in damages substantially in excess of the 
amounts Sunlight earned from the underlying activities.

In addition, from time to time, through Sunlight’s operational and compliance controls, Sunlight identifies compliance 
issues that require it to make operational changes and, depending on the nature of the issue and contractual obligations 
to its various capital providers, result in financial remediation to impacted capital providers or consumers. These self-
identified issues and voluntary remediation payments could be significant, depending on the issue and the number of 
capital providers, contractors or consumers impacted, and also could generate litigation or regulatory investigations that 
subject Sunlight to additional risk.

Sunlight is subject to federal and state consumer protection laws.

In connection with the origination of loans, Sunlight must comply with various state and federal regulatory regimes, 
including those applicable to consumer credit transactions, various aspects of which are untested as applied to Sunlight’s 
business model. The complex regulatory environment of the consumer credit industry are subject to constant change and 
modification. While changes to statutes and promulgating new regulations may take a substantial amount of time, issuing 
regulatory guidance with the force of law in the form of opinions, bulletins and notices can occur quickly. Also, consumer 
credit regulators often initiate inquiries into market participants, which can lead to investigations and, ultimately, 
enforcement actions. In addition, the laws and regulations applicable to Sunlight are subject to administrative or judicial 
interpretation. Some of these laws and regulations have been enacted only recently and may not yet have been 
interpreted or may be interpreted infrequently. As a result of infrequent or sparse interpretations, ambiguities in these laws 
and regulations may create uncertainty with respect to what type of conduct is permitted or restricted under such laws and 
regulations. Any ambiguity under a law or regulation to which Sunlight is subject may lead to regulatory investigations, 
governmental enforcement actions and private causes of action, such as class action lawsuits, with respect to Sunlight’s 
compliance with such laws or regulations. As a result, Sunlight is subject to a constantly evolving consumer finance 
regulatory environment that is difficult to predict and which may affect Sunlight’s business. The laws to which Sunlight 
directly or its services by contract are or may be subject to include, among others:

• state laws and regulations that impose requirements related to loan disclosures and terms, credit discrimination 
and unfair, deceptive or abusive business acts or practices;

• the Truth-in-Lending Act, and its implementing Regulation Z, and similar state laws, which require certain 
disclosures to borrowers regarding the terms and conditions of their loans and credit transactions;

• Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, which prohibits unfair and deceptive acts or practices in or 
affecting commerce, and Section 1031 of the Dodd-Frank Act, which prohibits unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or 
practices (“UDAAP”), in connection with any consumer financial product or service;

• the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, and its implementing Regulation B, which prohibit creditors from discriminating 
against credit applicants on the basis of race, color, sex, age, religion, national origin, marital status, the fact that 
all or part of the applicant’s income derives from any public assistance program or the fact that the applicant has 
in good faith exercised any right under the Federal Consumer Credit Protection Act or any applicable state law;

• the Fair Credit Reporting Act (the “FCRA”), and its implementing Regulation V, as amended by the Fair and 
Accurate Credit Transactions Act, which promotes the accuracy, fairness and privacy of information in the files of 
consumer reporting agencies;
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• the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, and its implementing Regulation F, the Telephone Consumer Protection 
Act, as well as state debt collection laws, all of which provide guidelines and limitations concerning the conduct of 
debt collectors in connection with the collection of consumer debts;

• the Bankruptcy Code, which limits the extent to which creditors may seek to enforce debts against parties who 
have filed for bankruptcy protection;

• the California Consumer Privacy Act, which includes certain limitations on the disclosure of nonpublic personal 
information by financial institutions about a consumer to nonaffiliated third parties, in certain circumstances 
requires financial institutions to limit the use and further disclosure of nonpublic personal information by 
nonaffiliated third parties to whom they disclose such information and requires financial institutions to disclose 
certain privacy policies and practices with respect to information sharing with affiliated and nonaffiliated entities as 
well as to safeguard personal consumer information, and other privacy laws and regulations;

• the Gramm Leach Bliley Act, and its implementing Regulation P, which requires financial institutions to disclose 
certain information to consumers about the privacy and use of their data and which imposes certain data security 
requirements on financial institutions; 

• the rules and regulations promulgated by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the National Credit Union 
Administration, as well as state banking regulators;

• the Office of Foreign Assets Control, which publishes a list of individuals and companies owned or controlled by, 
or acting for or on behalf of, targeted or sanctioned countries, whose assets are blocked and Sunlight is generally 
prohibited from dealing with;

• the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act, which allows active duty military members to suspend or postpone certain 
civil obligations, and prohibits certain creditor self-help remedies, including repossession, so that the military 
member can devote his or her full attention to military duties;

• the Military Lending Act, enacted in 2006 and implemented by the Department of Defense, which imposes a 36% 
cap on the “all-in” annual percentage rates charged on certain loans to active-duty members of the U.S. military, 
reserves and National Guard and their dependents;

• the Electronic Fund Transfer Act, and Regulation E promulgated thereunder, which provide disclosure 
requirements, guidelines and restrictions on the electronic transfer of funds from consumers’ bank accounts;

• the Telephone Consumer Protection Act, which restricts telephone solicitations and the use of automated phone 
equipment;

• the Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act, and similar state laws, particularly the Uniform 
Electronic Transactions Act, which authorize the creation of legally binding and enforceable agreements utilizing 
electronic records and signatures; and

• the Bank Secrecy Act, which relates to compliance with anti-money laundering, due diligence and record-keeping 
policies and procedures.

While Sunlight has developed policies and procedures designed to assist in compliance with these laws and regulations, 
no assurance is given that its compliance policies and procedures will be effective. Failure to comply with these laws and 
with regulatory requirements applicable to Sunlight’s business could subject it to damages, revocation of licenses, class 
action lawsuits, administrative enforcement actions, civil and criminal liability, indemnification obligations to its capital 
providers, loan repurchase obligations and reputational damage which may harm Sunlight’s business, results of 
operations and financial condition.

The consumer finance industry is highly regulated and subject to regular changes or evolution in those 
regulatory requirements. Changing federal, state and local laws, as well as changing regulatory enforcement 
policies and priorities, may negatively impact Sunlight’s business.

In connection with Sunlight’s financial services operations, Sunlight is subject to extensive regulation, supervision and 
examination under United States federal and state laws and regulations. Sunlight is required to comply with numerous 
federal, state and local laws and regulations that regulate, among other things, the manner in which Sunlight administers 
loans, the terms of the loans that its capital providers originate and the fees that Sunlight may charge. Any failure to 
comply with any of these laws or regulations could subject Sunlight to lawsuits or governmental actions or damage 
Sunlight’s reputation, which could materially and adversely affect Sunlight’s business. Regulators have broad discretion 
with respect to the interpretation, implementation and enforcement of these laws and regulations, including through 
enforcement actions that could subject Sunlight to civil money penalties, capital provider and consumer remediations, 
increased compliance costs and limits or prohibitions on Sunlight’s ability to offer certain products or services or to engage 
in certain activities. In addition, to the extent that Sunlight undertakes actions requiring regulatory approval or non-
objection, regulators may make their approval or non-objection subject to conditions or restrictions that could have a 
material adverse effect on its business. Moreover, any competitors subject to different, or in some cases less restrictive, 
legislative or regulatory regimes may have or obtain a competitive advantage over Sunlight.
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Proposals to change the statutes affecting financial services companies are frequently introduced in Congress and state 
legislatures that, if enacted, may affect its operating environment in substantial and unpredictable ways. In addition, 
numerous federal and state regulators have the authority to promulgate or change regulations that could have a similar 
effect on Sunlight’s operating environment. Sunlight cannot determine with any degree of certainty whether any such 
legislative or regulatory proposals will be enacted and, if enacted, the ultimate impact that any such potential legislation or 
implementing regulations, or any such potential regulatory actions by federal or state regulators, would have upon 
Sunlight’s business, results of operations or financial condition.

Sunlight is also subject to potential enforcement and other actions that may be brought by state attorneys general or other 
state enforcement authorities and other governmental agencies. Any such actions could subject Sunlight to civil money 
penalties and fines, capital provider, contractor and consumer remediation, and increased compliance costs, damage its 
reputation and brand and limit or prohibit Sunlight’s ability to offer certain products and services or engage in certain 
business practices.

New laws, regulations, policy or changes in enforcement of existing laws or regulations applicable to Sunlight’s business, 
or reexamination of current practices, could adversely impact Sunlight’s profitability, limit its ability to continue existing or 
pursue new business activities, require it to change certain of its business practices or alter its relationships with 
contractors or capital providers, affect retention of key personnel, including management, or expose Sunlight to additional 
costs (including increased compliance costs and/or capital provider, contractor or consumer remediation). These changes 
also may require Sunlight to invest significant resources, and devote significant management attention, to make any 
necessary changes and could adversely affect its business, results of operations and financial condition.

Sunlight’s “business to business to consumer” business model subjects Sunlight and its capital providers to 
potential regulatory risk and litigation based on the sales practices employed by the various contractors in 
Sunlight’s networks.

Loan products offered by Sunlight through Orange® are offered to the consumer customers of the various contractors in 
Sunlight’s contractor networks by sales people employed by or engaged as third-party service providers of such 
contractors. Sales of consumer loans are regulated by various federal, state and local regulators. From time to time, 
Sunlight and its capital providers have been included in lawsuits brought by the consumer customers of certain 
contractors in Sunlight’s networks citing claims based on the sales practices of these contractors. Sunlight does not view 
contractors in its networks as its agents for whose actions Sunlight would potentially have vicarious liability. Sunlight has 
processes to provide educational support to these contractors and a robust process to detect any contractor sales 
practices that may violate applicable law and Sunlight obtains indemnities for such claims in the program agreements 
between Sunlight and the contractors with whom Sunlight partners. While Sunlight has paid only minimal damages to 
date, Sunlight cannot be sure that a court of law would not determine that Sunlight is liable for the actions of the 
contractors in Sunlight’s networks or that a regulator or state attorney general’s office may hold Sunlight accountable for 
violations of consumer protection or other applicable laws by the contractors in selling Sunlight loans. Sunlight’s risk 
mitigation processes may not be sufficient to mitigate financial harm to Sunlight or its capital providers associated with 
violations of applicable law by its contractors or that any such contractor would or is able to make good on its 
indemnification obligations to Sunlight or its capital providers. Any significant finding making Sunlight liable for damages in 
such claims could expose Sunlight to broader liabilities, a need to adjust its distribution channels for its loan products or 
otherwise change its business model, and could have a material and adverse impact on Sunlight’s business prospects.

The highly regulated environment in which Sunlight’s capital providers operate could have an adverse effect on 
Sunlight’s business.

Sunlight and its capital providers are subject to federal and state supervision and regulation. Federal and state regulation 
of the banking industry, credit unions and other types of capital providers, along with tax and accounting laws, regulations, 
rules and standards, may limit their operations significantly and control the methods by which they conduct business and 
when and how they are able to deploy their capital. These requirements may constrain Sunlight’s ability to enter funding 
program agreements with new capital providers or the ability of its existing capital providers to continue originating loans 
through Sunlight’s Platform. In choosing whether and how to conduct business with Sunlight, current and prospective 
capital providers can be expected to take into account the legal, regulatory and supervisory regimes that apply to them, 
including potential changes in the application or interpretation of regulatory standards, licensing requirements or 
supervisory expectations. Regulators may elect to alter standards or the interpretation of the standards used to measure 
regulatory compliance or to determine the adequacy of liquidity, certain risk management or other operational practices for 
financial services companies in a manner that impacts capital providers’ ability to originate loans through Sunlight’s 
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Platform. An inability for an individual or type of capital provider to originate loans through Sunlight’s Platform could 
materially and adversely affect Sunlight’s ability to grow its business.

The contours of the Dodd-Frank UDAAP standard remain uncertain, and there is a risk that certain features of 
Sunlight’s business could be deemed to be a UDAAP.

The Dodd-Frank Act prohibits UDAAP and authorizes the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (the “CFPB”) to enforce 
that prohibition. The CFPB has filed a large number of UDAAP enforcement actions against consumer lenders for 
practices that do not appear to violate other consumer finance statutes. There is a risk that the CFPB could determine that 
certain features of loans for the purchase and installation of solar systems or home improvements or the process by which 
Sunlight originates such loans are unfair, deceptive or abusive, which could have a material adverse effect on Sunlight’s 
business, financial condition and results of operations. Most states also have their own statutes designed to protect 
consumers from UDAAP. In addition, to federal UDAAP claims, Sunlight could also be subject to consumer litigation 
arising out of state UDAAP laws or state regulatory investigations alleging that Sunlight’s business practices are unfair, 
deceptive or abusive, which could in turn have similar material adverse effects on Sunlight’s business and financial 
condition.

Regulations relating to privacy, information security and data protection could increase Sunlight’s costs, affect 
or limit how Sunlight collects and uses personal information, and adversely affect its business opportunities.

Sunlight is subject to various privacy, information security and data protection laws, including, without limitation, 
requirements concerning security breach notification, and it could be negatively impacted by them. Furthermore, 
legislators and/or regulators are increasingly adopting or revising privacy, information security and data protection laws 
that potentially could have a significant impact on Sunlight’s current and planned privacy, data protection and information 
security-related practices; Sunlight’s collection, use, sharing, retention and safeguarding of consumer or employee 
information; and some of Sunlight’s current or planned business activities. This also could increase Sunlight’s costs of 
compliance and business operations and could reduce income from certain business initiatives.

Compliance with current or future privacy, information security and data protection laws (including those regarding security 
breach notification) affecting consumer or employee data to which Sunlight is subject could result in higher compliance 
and technology costs and could restrict Sunlight’s ability to provide certain products and services (such as products or 
services that involve sharing information with third parties), which could materially and adversely affect Sunlight’s 
profitability. Additionally, regulators may attempt to assert authority over Sunlight’s business in the area of privacy, 
information security and data protection or disagree with our interpretation of laws and regulations related to the foregoing 
areas apply to us. If Sunlight’s vendors also become subject to laws and regulations in the more stringent and expansive 
jurisdictions, this could result in increasing costs on Sunlight’s business.

Privacy requirements, including notice and opt-out requirements under the FCRA, are enforced by the Federal Trade 
Commission and by the CFPB (through UDAAP). State entities also may initiate actions for alleged violations of privacy or 
security requirements under state law. Sunlight’s failure to comply with privacy, information security and data protection 
laws could result in potentially significant regulatory investigations and government actions, litigation, fines or sanctions, 
consumer, capital providers or contractor actions and damage to Sunlight’s reputation and brand, all of which could have a 
material adverse effect on Sunlight’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

If Sunlight is found to be operating without having obtained necessary state or local licenses, it could adversely 
affect Sunlight’s business.

Certain states have adopted laws regulating and requiring licensing by parties that engage in certain activity regarding 
consumer finance transactions, including, in certain circumstances facilitating and assisting such transactions. While 
Sunlight believes it has obtained all necessary licenses, the application of some consumer finance licensing laws to 
Sunlight’s loans is unclear. Further, if a governmental or enforcement agency determines that Sunlight is the “true lender” 
of loans originated under its bank partnership arrangement, Sunlight could be found to have violated licensing 
requirements of several states and other consumer protection statutes. If Sunlight is found to be in violation of applicable 
state licensing requirements by a court or a state, federal, or local enforcement agency, it could be subject to fines, 
damages, injunctive relief (including required modification or discontinuation of Sunlight’s business in certain areas), 
criminal penalties and other penalties or consequences, including indemnification obligations to its capital providers, and 
the loans originated through Orange® could be rendered void or unenforceable, in whole or in part, any of which could 
have a material adverse effect on Sunlight’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Sunlight may in the future be subject to federal or state regulatory inquiries regarding its business.

From time to time, in the normal course of its business, Sunlight may receive or be subject to, inquiries or investigations 
by state and federal regulatory agencies and bodies, such as the CFPB, state attorneys general, state financial regulatory 
agencies and other state or federal agencies or bodies regarding its loans, including the origination and servicing of 
consumer loans, practices by contractors or other third parties and licensing and registration requirements. Any such 
inquiries or investigations could involve substantial time and expense to analyze and respond to, could divert 
management’s attention and other resources from running Sunlight’s business and could lead to public enforcement 
actions or lawsuits and fines, penalties, injunctive relief and the need to obtain additional licenses that it does not currently 
possess. Sunlight’s involvement in any such matters, whether tangential or otherwise and even if the matters are 
ultimately determined in Sunlight’s favor, could also cause significant harm to its reputation, lead to additional 
investigations and enforcement actions from other agencies or litigants, and further divert management attention and 
resources from the operation of Sunlight’s business. As a result, the outcome of legal and regulatory actions arising out of 
any state or federal inquiries Sunlight receives could be material to its business, results of operations, financial condition 
and cash flows and could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition or results of operations.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Securities 

Sunlight qualifies as an emerging growth company within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended 
(the “Securities Act”) and takes advantage of certain exemptions from disclosure requirements available to 
emerging growth companies, which may make Sunlight’s securities less attractive to investors and may make it 
more difficult to compare its performance to the performance of other public companies. 

Sunlight qualifies as an “emerging growth company” as defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the Securities Act, as modified by 
the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (“JOBS Act”). As such, Sunlight is eligible for and takes advantage of 
certain exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth 
companies for as long as it continues to be an emerging growth company, including (i) the exemption from the auditor 
attestation requirements with respect to internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act, (ii) the exemptions from say-on-pay, say-on-frequency and say-on-golden parachute voting requirements and 
(iii) reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in its periodic reports and proxy statements. 
Sunlight will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of (i) the last day of the fiscal year in which the market 
value of the shares of its Class A Common Stock that are held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of June 30 of that 
fiscal year, (ii) the last day of the fiscal year in which it has total annual gross revenue of $1.07 billion (as adjusted for 
inflation pursuant to SEC rules from time to time) or more during such fiscal year, (iii) the date on which it has issued more 
than $1 billion in non-convertible debt in the prior three-year period and (iv) the last day of the fiscal year following 
November 30, 2025, the fifth anniversary of the initial public offering. In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act also 
provides that an emerging growth company can take advantage of the exemption from complying with new or revised 
accounting standards provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act so long as Sunlight remains an emerging growth 
company. An emerging growth company can therefore delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those 
standards would otherwise apply to private companies. Sunlight may elect not to avail itself of this exemption from new or 
revised accounting standards and, therefore, it may not be subject to the same new or revised accounting standards as 
other public companies that are not emerging growth companies. Investors may find Class A Common Stock of Sunlight 
less attractive because it will rely on these exemptions, which may result in a less active trading market for such Class A 
Common Stock and its stock price may be more volatile. Additionally, this may make comparison of Sunlight’s financial 
statements with another public company that is neither an emerging growth company nor an emerging growth company 
that has opted out of using the extended transition period difficult or impossible because of the potential differences in 
accounting standards used. 

Anti-takeover provisions contained in Sunlight’s governing documents and applicable laws could impair a 
takeover attempt. 

Sunlight’s Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (the “Second A&R Charter”) and Sunlight’s 
Amended and Restated Bylaws (the “Bylaws”) afford certain rights and powers to the Sunlight board of directors that could 
contribute to the delay or prevention of an acquisition that it deems undesirable. Sunlight is also subject to Section 203 of 
the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”) and other provisions of Delaware law that limit the ability of 
stockholders in certain situations to effect certain business combinations. Any of the foregoing provisions and terms that 
has the effect of delaying or deterring a change in control could limit the opportunity for stockholders to receive a premium 
for their shares of Class A Common Stock, and could also affect the price that some investors are willing to pay for the 
Class A Common Stock. 
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The Second A&R Charter designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole and exclusive 
forum for certain types of actions and proceedings that may be initiated by our stockholders, which could limit 
our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or 
employees. 

The Second A&R Charter provides that, unless Sunlight consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the 
Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (“Court of Chancery”) will, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law and 
subject to applicable jurisdictional requirements, be the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding 
as to which the DGCL confers jurisdiction upon the Court of Chancery, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a 
fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer or other employee of Sunlight to Sunlight or its stockholders, (iii) any action 
asserting a claim against Sunlight, its directors, officers or employees arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL, the 
Second A&R Charter or the Bylaws or (iv) any action asserting a claim against Sunlight, its directors, officers or 
employees that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine, in each case except for such claims as to which (a) the Court 
of Chancery determines that it does not have personal jurisdiction over an indispensable party, (b) exclusive jurisdiction is 
vested in a court or forum other than the Court of Chancery or (c) the Court of Chancery does not have subject matter 
jurisdiction. Further, the forum selection provision is not intended to apply to claims arising under the Securities Act or the 
Exchange Act. The Second A&R Charter provides that, unless Sunlight consents in writing to the selection of an 
alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States will be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint 
asserting a cause of action arising under the federal securities laws of the United States. 

If any action, the subject matter of which is within the scope of the forum selection provision described in the preceding 
paragraph, is filed in a court other than the Court of Chancery (or, if the Court of Chancery does not have jurisdiction, 
another state court or a federal court located within the State of Delaware) (a “Foreign Action”) in the name of any 
stockholder, such stockholder shall be deemed to have consented to (i) the personal jurisdiction of the state and federal 
courts located within the State of Delaware in connection with any action brought in any such court to enforce the forum 
selection provision (an “Foreign Enforcement Action”) and (ii) having service of process made upon such stockholder in 
any such Foreign Enforcement Action by service upon such stockholder’s counsel in the Foreign Action as agent for such 
stockholder. 

Sunlight is a holding company and its sole material asset is its indirect equity interest in Sunlight Financial LLC. 
As a result, Sunlight is dependent upon distributions from Sunlight Financial LLC to pay taxes, make payments 
under the Tax Receivable Agreement, cover its corporate and other overhead expenses and pay dividends, if any, 
on its Common Stock. 

Sunlight is a holding company, and has no material assets other than its indirect equity interest in Sunlight Financial LLC. 
Sunlight has no independent means of generating revenue or cash flow. To the extent Sunlight Financial LLC has 
available cash, taking into account available borrowings, and subject to the terms of any current or future debt 
instruments, the Fifth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Sunlight LLC (the “Sunlight A&R 
LLC Agreement”) requires Sunlight Financial LLC to make pro rata cash distributions to all holders of Sunlight Units, 
including Sunlight in an amount generally intended to allow the holders of Sunlight Units (as defined therein), including 
Sunlight, to satisfy their respective income tax liabilities with respect to their allocable share of the income of Sunlight 
Financial LLC, based on certain assumptions, provided that tax distributions, except in limited circumstances, will be made 
sufficient to allow Sunlight to satisfy its actual tax liabilities and obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement. Sunlight 
expects Sunlight Financial LLC to fund such distributions out of available cash, taking into account available borrowings, 
and in the event that payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement are accelerated, where applicable, Sunlight 
generally expects to fund such accelerated payment out of the proceeds of the Change of Control (as defined in the Tax 
Receivable Agreement) giving rise to such acceleration. In addition, the Sunlight A&R LLC Agreement allows SL Financial 
Holdings Inc., as the sole managing member of Sunlight Financial LLC, to cause Sunlight Financial LLC to make non-pro 
rata payments to Sunlight to reimburse it for its corporate and other overhead expenses, which payments are not treated 
as distributions under the Sunlight A&R LLC Agreement. To the extent that Sunlight needs funds and Sunlight Financial 
LLC fails to generate sufficient cash flow to distribute funds to it or is restricted from making such distributions or 
payments under applicable law or regulation or under the terms of its financing arrangements, or is otherwise unable to 
provide such funds, Sunlight’s liquidity and financial condition could be materially adversely affected. 

Moreover, because Sunlight has no independent means of generating revenue, Sunlight’s ability to make tax payments 
and payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement are dependent on the ability of Sunlight Financial LLC to make 
distributions to Sunlight in an amount sufficient to cover Sunlight’s tax obligations and payment obligations under the Tax 
Receivable Agreement. This ability, in turn, may depend on the ability of any subsidiaries Sunlight Financial LLC may have 
in the future to make distributions to it. The ability of Sunlight Financial LLC, any subsidiaries and any other entity in which 
it may own an interest, to make such distributions is subject to, among other things, (i) the applicable provisions of 
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Delaware law (or other applicable jurisdiction) that may limit the amount of funds available for distribution and (ii) 
restrictions in relevant debt instruments of Sunlight Financial LLC and its subsidiaries, if any. To the extent that Sunlight is 
unable to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement for any reason, such payments will be deferred and will 
accrue interest until paid. 

Sunlight has never paid cash dividends on its capital stock, and does not anticipate paying dividends in the 
foreseeable future. 

Sunlight has not paid any cash dividends on its capital stock to date. Sunlight may retain future earnings, if any, for future 
operations, expansion and debt repayment and has no current plans to pay cash dividends for the foreseeable future. Any 
decision to declare and pay dividends in the future will be made at the discretion of the Sunlight board of directors and will 
depend on, among other things, Sunlight’s results of operations, financial condition, cash requirements, contractual 
restrictions and other factors that the Sunlight board of directors may deem relevant. In addition, Sunlight’s ability to pay 
dividends is limited by covenants regarding its existing outstanding indebtedness. 

In certain cases, payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement may be accelerated and/or significantly exceed 
the actual benefits, if any, Sunlight realizes in respect of the tax attributes subject to the Tax Receivable 
Agreement.

If Sunlight experiences a Change of Control (as defined in the Tax Receivable Agreement) or the Tax Receivable 
Agreement terminates early (at Sunlight’s election or as a result of Sunlight’s material breach thereunder), Sunlight will be 
required to make a payment equal to the deemed present value of the anticipated future payments to be made by it under 
the Tax Receivable Agreement, and such early termination payment could be substantial, depending, among other things, 
on the timing of such early termination. The calculation of anticipated future payments would be based upon certain 
assumptions and deemed events set forth in the Tax Receivable Agreement, including (i) that Sunlight has sufficient 
taxable income to fully utilize the tax benefits covered by the Tax Receivable Agreement, and (ii) that any Sunlight Class 
EX Units outstanding on the termination date or Change of Control date, as applicable, are deemed to be redeemed on 
such date. In the case of termination at Sunlight’s election or as a result of Sunlight’s material breach, the termination 
payment would be due immediately. In the case of a Change of Control of Sunlight, Sunlight will have the option to make 
such early termination payment immediately upon such Change of Control or ratably over a two-year period following the 
Change of Control. In such situations, payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement may be made significantly in 
advance of, and may materially exceed, the actual realization, if any, of the future tax benefits to which the early 
termination payment relates. 

If Sunlight experiences a Change of Control or the Tax Receivable Agreement terminates early (at Sunlight’s election or as 
a result of Sunlight’s material breach thereunder), Sunlight’s obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement could have 
a material adverse effect on Sunlight’s liquidity and could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing certain 
mergers, asset sales, or other forms of business combinations or changes of control, or reduce the consideration payable 
to holders of shares of Class A Common Stock. In the event that Sunlight’s obligation to make payments under the Tax 
Receivable Agreement is accelerated as a result of a Change of Control, where applicable, we generally expect the 
accelerated payments due under the Tax Receivable Agreement to be funded out of the proceeds of the Change of 
Control giving rise to such acceleration. However, Sunlight may be required to fund such payment from other sources, and 
as a result, any early termination of Sunlight’s obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement could have a substantial 
negative impact on our liquidity and may substantially reduce the consideration payable to holders of Sunlight’s Class A 
Common Stock in connection with a Change of Control. Sunlight does not currently expect to cause an acceleration due 
to breach, and does not currently expect that Sunlight would elect to terminate the Tax Receivable Agreement early, 
except in cases where the early termination payment would not be material. There can be no assurance that Sunlight will 
be able to meet its obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement. 

Sunlight will not be reimbursed for any payments made under the Tax Receivable Agreement in the event that 
any tax benefits are subsequently disallowed.

Payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement will be based on the tax reporting positions that Sunlight will determine, 
and the IRS or another tax authority may challenge all or part of the tax basis increases upon which the payments under 
the Tax Receivable Agreement are based, as well as other related tax positions Sunlight takes, and a court could sustain 
such challenge. The TRA Holders (as defined therein) will not reimburse Sunlight for any payments previously made 
under the Tax Receivable Agreement if any tax benefits that have given rise to payments under the Tax Receivable 
Agreement are subsequently disallowed, except that excess payments made to any such TRA Holders will be netted 
against future payments that would otherwise be made to such TRA Holders, if any, after Sunlight’s determination of such 
excess (which determination may be made a number of years following the initial payment and after future payments have 
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been made). As a result, in such circumstances, Sunlight could make payments that are greater than its actual cash tax 
savings, if any, and may not be able to recoup those payments, which could materially adversely affect its liquidity. 

In certain circumstances, Sunlight Financial LLC will be required to make tax distributions to holders of Sunlight 
Units, including Sunlight, and such tax distributions may be substantial. To the extent Sunlight receives tax 
distributions in excess of its actual tax liabilities and retains such excess cash, holders of Sunlight Class EX 
Units would benefit from such accumulated cash balances if they exercise their redemption right.

Pursuant to the Sunlight A&R LLC Agreement, to the extent Sunlight Financial LLC has available cash (taking into account 
Sunlight Financial LLC’s borrowing capacity), Sunlight Financial LLC will generally be required to make pro rata 
distributions (which we refer to as “tax distributions”), to all holders of Sunlight Units, including Sunlight, in an amount 
generally intended to allow holders of Sunlight Units, including Sunlight, to satisfy their respective income tax liabilities 
with respect to their allocable share of the income of Sunlight Financial LLC, based on certain assumptions and 
conventions, provided that tax distributions will be made, except in limited circumstances, sufficient to allow Sunlight to 
satisfy its actual tax liabilities and obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement. The amount of such tax distributions 
will be determined based on certain assumptions, including an assumed individual income tax rate (unless the corporate 
tax rate is higher), and will be calculated after taking into account other distributions (including prior tax distributions) made 
by Sunlight Financial LLC. Because tax distributions will be made pro rata based on ownership and due to, among other 
items, differences between the tax rates applicable to Sunlight and the assumed individual income tax rate used in the 
calculation and requirements under the applicable tax rules that Sunlight Financial LLC’s net taxable income be allocated 
disproportionately to its unitholders in certain circumstances, tax distributions may significantly exceed the actual tax 
liability for many of the holders of Sunlight Units, including Sunlight. If Sunlight retains the excess cash it receives, the 
holders of Sunlight Class EX Units would benefit from any value attributable to such accumulated cash balances as a 
result of their exercise of the Redemption Right (as defined in the Sunlight A&R LLC Agreement). However, Sunlight 
expects to take other steps to eliminate any material cash balances. In addition, the tax distributions Sunlight Financial 
LLC will be required to make may be substantial and may exceed the tax liabilities that would be owed by a similarly 
situated corporate taxpayer. Funds used by Sunlight Financial LLC to satisfy its tax distribution obligations will not be 
available for reinvestment in our business, except to the extent Sunlight uses the excess cash it receives to reinvest in 
Sunlight Financial LLC for additional Sunlight Units. In addition, because cash available for additional tax distributions is 
determined by taking into account the ability of Sunlight Financial LLC and any subsidiaries to incur additional borrowing, 
Sunlight Financial LLC may be required to increase its indebtedness in order to fund additional tax distributions. Such 
additional borrowing may adversely affect Sunlight Financial LLC’s financial condition and business operations by, without 
limitation, limiting Sunlight Financial LLC’s ability to borrow in the future for other purposes, such as capital expenditures, 
and increasing Sunlight Financial LLC’s interest expense and leverage ratios. 

General Risk Factors

The loss of one or more members of Sunlight’s senior management or key employees, or failure or inability to 
hire additional highly qualified employees, may adversely affect its ability to implement its business strategy.

Sunlight depends on its experienced management team to formulate and execute its business strategy.  Further, Sunlight 
relies on other key employees and broader team to maintain operations to current standards and support business 
growth.  The loss of one or more key executives, including Sunlight’s Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer, or 
other key employees, could have a negative impact on its ability to execute on its business growth strategy or, potentially, 
to maintain operations as now conducted. 

Current job markets are extremely competitive making it more difficult for Sunlight to hire qualified employees at the same 
rate as Sunlight has been able to in the past and making it more difficult for Sunlight to retain talent. If Sunlight is unable to 
attract and retain qualified leaders and sufficient personnel with industry experience and relationships, execution on 
Sunlight’s strategic business plans could be limited or delayed and maintenance of operations to current standards could 
be negatively impacted, which could have a material adverse effect on Sunlight’s business, results of operations and 
financial condition.

Sunlight’s insurance for certain indemnity obligations to its officers and directors may be inadequate, and 
potential claims could materially and negatively impact Sunlight’s financial condition and results of operations.

Pursuant to Sunlight’s Certificate of Formation, the Sunlight A&R LLC Agreement and certain indemnification agreements, 
among various other agreements, Sunlight indemnifies its officers and directors for certain liabilities that may arise in the 
course of their service to Sunlight. Although Sunlight currently maintains director and officer liability insurance for certain 
potential third-party claims for which it is legally or financially unable to indemnify them, such insurance may be 
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inadequate to cover certain claims, or may prove prohibitively costly to maintain in the future. If Sunlight were required to 
pay a significant amount on account of such liabilities, its business, financial condition and results of operations could be 
materially harmed.

If assumptions or estimates Sunlight uses in preparing its financial statements are incorrect or are required to 
change, Sunlight’s reported results of operations, liquidity and financial condition may be adversely affected.

Sunlight is required to make various assumptions and estimates in preparing its financial statements under generally 
accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”), including for purposes of determining finance charge reversals, share-based 
compensation, asset impairment, reserves related to litigation and other legal matters, and other regulatory exposures and 
the amounts recorded for certain contractual payments to be paid to, or received from, Sunlight’s counterparties and 
others under contractual arrangements. In addition, significant assumptions and estimates are involved in determining 
certain disclosures required under GAAP, including those involving fair value measurements. If the assumptions or 
estimates underlying Sunlight’s financial statements are incorrect, the actual amounts realized on transactions and 
balances subject to those estimates will be different, which could have a material adverse effect on Sunlight’s business.

Future changes in financial accounting standards may significantly change Sunlight’s reported results of 
operations.

GAAP is subject to standard setting or interpretation by the Financial Accounting Standards Board, the PCAOB, the SEC 
and various bodies formed to promulgate and interpret appropriate accounting principles. A change in these principles or 
interpretations could have a significant effect on Sunlight’s reported financial results and could affect the reporting of 
transactions completed before the announcement of a change.

Additionally, Sunlight’s assumptions, estimates and judgments related to complex accounting matters could significantly 
affect its financial results. GAAP and related accounting pronouncements, implementation guidelines and interpretations 
with regard to a wide range of matters that are relevant to its business, including, without limitation, revenue recognition, 
finance charge reversals and share-based compensation, are highly complex and involve subjective assumptions, 
estimates and judgments by Sunlight. Changes in these rules or their interpretation or changes in underlying assumptions, 
estimates or judgments by Sunlight could require Sunlight to make changes to its accounting systems that could increase 
its operating costs and significantly change its reported or expected financial performance.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Sunlight's principal executive offices are located in leased office space at 101 N. Tryon Street, Charlotte, North Carolina 
28246. As of December 31, 2021, Sunlight leases office space in locations including New York and North Carolina. 
Sunlight does not own any real property. Sunlight uses each facility for its single operating segment and considers them to 
be suitable and adequate for the management and operations of its business.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As previously disclosed in the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2021 filed with 
the SEC on August 16 2021, two lawsuits were filed by purported Spartan stockholders in connection with the Business 
Combination entitled Boiron v. Spartan Acquisition Corp. II et. al., Index No. 652310/2021 (Sup. Ct. N.Y. Cnty.), filed in the 
Supreme Court of the State of New York on April 7, 2021 (the “Boiron complaint”) and Gonzalez v. Spartan Acquisition 
Corp. II et al., Case No. 1:21-cv-02896 (S.D.N.Y.), filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New 
York on April 15, 2021 (the “Gonzalez complaint” and, together with the Boiron complaint, the “complaints”), alleging, 
among other things, that the Registration Rights Agreement entered into in connection with the Business Combination was 
misleading and/or omitted material information concerning the Business Combination and that, as a result, the members 
of the Spartan Board of Directors breached their fiduciary duties. The Gonzalez complaint also alleged that all defendants 
violated Section 14(e) of the Exchange Act, and that the members of the Spartan Board of Directors violated Section 20(a) 
of the Exchange Act. The complaints were dismissed in July 2021, and on November 3, 2021, the Company and the 
plaintiffs agreed upon terms of a settlement.

Sunlight is, from time to time, subject to inquiries by government entities and is party to various other legal proceedings 
arising in the ordinary course of its business, but it is not currently a party to any legal proceeding that management 
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believes would have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial position or results of operations of the 
Company.

 ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
 
Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER 
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Sunlight's Class A Common Stock has been listed and is traded on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") under the 
symbol "SUNL" since the closing of the Business Combination. Prior to the Business Combination, Class A shares of 
Spartan Acquisition Corp. II traded on the NYSE under the symbol "SPRQ." There is no established public trading market 
for Sunlight’s Class B shares, as there are no Class B shares currently outstanding, or Class C Common Stock.

Holders of Record

Based on information made available to Sunlight by Sunlight’s transfer agent, as of March 22, 2022, there were 
approximately 68 record holders of Sunlight’s Class A Common Stock, one of which was Cede & Co., a nominee for The 
Depository Trust Company, no record holders of Sunlight’s Class B shares as there are no Class B shares currently 
outstanding, and 22 record holders of Sunlight’s Class C Common Stock.

All of our Class A Common Stock held by brokerage firms, banks and other financial institutions as nominees for beneficial 
owners are considered to be held of record by Cede & Co., who is considered to be one stockholder of record. A 
substantially greater number of holders of our Class A Common Stock are “street name” or beneficial holders, whose 
Class A Common Stock is held of record by banks, brokers and other financial institutions.

Dividends on Common Stock

Sunlight has not paid any cash dividends on its Class A Common Stock to date. The payment of cash dividends is subject 
to the discretion of Sunlight’s Board of Directors and may be affected by various factors, including our future earnings, 
financial condition, capital requirements, share repurchase activity, current and future planned strategic growth initiatives, 
levels of indebtedness, and other considerations Sunlight’s Board of Directors deem relevant. Sunlight currently does not 
intend to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

None.

Issuer Purchases of Common Stock

The table below sets forth the information with respect to repurchases made by or on behalf of Sunlight or any "affiliated 
purchaser" (as defined in Rule 10b-18(a)(3) under the Exchange Act) of its Class A Common Stock during the three 
months ended December 31, 2021.

Total Number 
of Shares 

Purchased(a)

Average Price 
Paid per 

Share
October 1, 2021 to October 31, 2021  5,892 $ 5.91 
November 1, 2021 to November 30, 2021  5,710  4.37 
December 1, 2021 to December 31, 2021  5,900  4.78 
Total for Quarter Ended December 31, 2021  17,502  5.03 

a. Represents shares withheld by Sunlight to pay taxes due upon the vesting of RSUs. The Company does not currently have a publicly announced 
share repurchase plan or program.

Equity Incentive Plan and Employee Stock Purchase Plan

On June 17, 2021, Sunlight’s Board of Directors approved the Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan 
(the “Equity Plan”) and Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP” and together with the 
Equity Plan, the “Plans”). Stockholders of the Company approved the Plans on July 8, 2021, under which 28,050,000 
shares of Class A Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share, are issuable under the Equity Plan and 3,400,000 shares 
of Class A Common Stock are reserved for issuance under the ESPP.
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ITEM 6. [RESERVED]
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis provides information which management believes is relevant to an assessment and 
understanding of Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc.’s (the “Company,” “Sunlight,” “Successor,” “we,” “our” and “us”) 
consolidated results of operations and financial condition. The discussion should be read in conjunction with Sunlight’s 
consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This 
discussion contains forward-looking statements and involves numerous risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited 
to, those described under the heading “Risk Factors.” Actual results may differ materially from those contained in any 
forward-looking statements. Unless the context otherwise requires, references in this “Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” to “Sunlight” is intended to mean the business and operations 
of Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND RISK FACTORS SUMMARY

This report contains certain “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act 
of 1995, which statements involve substantial risks and uncertainties. Such forward-looking statements relate to, among 
other things, the operating performance of our investments, the stability of our earnings, our financing needs, and the size 
and attractiveness of market opportunities. Forward-looking statements are generally identifiable by the use of forward-
looking terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “potential,” “intend,” “expect,” “endeavor,” “seek,” “anticipate,” 
“estimate,” “overestimate,” “underestimate,” “believe,” “could,” “project,” “predict,” “continue” or other similar words or 
expressions. Forward-looking statements are based on certain assumptions; discuss future expectations; describe future 
plans and strategies; contain projections of results of operations, cash flows, or financial condition; or state other forward-
looking information. Our ability to predict results or the actual outcome of future plans or strategies is inherently limited. 
Although we believe that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are based on reasonable 
assumptions, our actual results and performance could differ materially from those set forth in the forward-looking 
statements. These forward-looking statements involve risks, uncertainties, and other factors that may cause our actual 
results in future periods to differ materially from forecasted results.

Our ability to implement our business strategy is subject to numerous risks, as more fully described under Item 1A. “Risk 
Factors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. These risks include, among others:

• Sunlight has incurred net losses in the past, and Sunlight may be unable to sustain profitability in the future.
• The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and other health epidemics and outbreaks could adversely affect Sunlight’s 

business, results of operations and financial condition.
• If Sunlight fails to manage its operations and growth effectively, Sunlight may be unable to execute its business 

plan, maintain high levels of customer services and support or adequately address competitive challenges.
• Sunlight may in the future expand to new industry verticals outside of the U.S. solar system and home 

improvement industries, and failure to comply with applicable regulations, accurately predict demand or growth, or 
build a process valued in those new industries could have an adverse effect on Sunlight’s business.

• To the extent that Sunlight seeks to grow through future acquisitions, or other strategic investments or alliances, 
Sunlight may not be able to do so effectively.

• A material reduction in the retail price of electricity charged by electric utilities, other retail electricity providers, or 
other energy sources as compared to potential savings for purchasing and using a solar system or an increase in 
pricing for purchasing and using a solar system above the cost of other energy sources could result in a lower 
demand for solar systems, which could have an adverse impact on Sunlight’s business, results of operations and 
financial condition.

• Sunlight’s inability to compete successfully or maintain or improve Sunlight’s market share and margins could 
adversely affect its business.

• Disruptions in the operation of Sunlight’s computer systems and those of its critical third-party service providers 
and capital providers could have an adverse effect on Sunlight’s business.

• Existing regulations and policies and changes to these regulations and policies may present technical, regulatory, 
and economic barriers to the purchase and use of solar energy systems, which may significantly reduce demand 
for our loan products.

• Sunlight’s growth is dependent on its contractor network and in turn the quality of the service and products they 
provide to their customers, and Sunlight’s failure to retain or replace existing contractors, to grow its contractor 
network or the number of Sunlight loans offered through its existing network, or increases in loan delinquencies 
due to any deficiencies in Sunlight’s contractor underwriting practices, could adversely impact Sunlight’s business.

• Sunlight’s revenue is impacted, to a significant extent, by the general economy, including supply chain disruptions, 
and the financial performance of its capital providers and contractors.

• Sunlight has never paid cash dividends on its capital stock, and does not anticipate paying dividends in the 
foreseeable future.

• If assumptions or estimates Sunlight uses in preparing its financial statements are incorrect or are required to 
change, Sunlight’s reported results of operations, liquidity, and financial condition may be adversely affected.

• A significant portion of Sunlight’s total outstanding shares are restricted from immediate resale but may be sold 
into the market in the near future. This could cause the market price of our Class A Common Stock to drop 
significantly, even if its business is doing well.
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Executive Overview

Sunlight’s revenue is primarily attributable to platform fees earned by Sunlight for facilitating the origination of solar and 
home improvement loans by its capital providers. Sunlight believes that revenue, and resulting Adjusted EBITDA, will 
increase over time as the solar and home improvement markets grow organically, as Sunlight adds solar and home 
improvement contractors to its network, and as Sunlight continues to expand its relationship with its existing contractor 
partners.

Sunlight has prepared the discussion of its results of operations for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 by 
combining the Predecessor and Successor results of operations and cash flows during the year ended December 31, 
2021 and comparing the combined data to the results of operations and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 
2020. Sunlight believes that the discussion of Sunlight’s combined operational results, while on different bases of 
accounting related to the application of purchase accounting, is appropriate as Sunlight highlights operational changes as 
well as purchase accounting related items.

The Combined Annual Period Compared to the Predecessor’s Year Ended December 31, 2020

• Sunlight facilitated the origination of $2.5 billion of loans during the Combined Annual Period, representing an 
increase of 71.9% from $1.5 billion of loans during the year ended December 31, 2020.

• Revenue was $114.7 million for the Combined Annual Period, representing an increase of 64.9% from $69.6 
million for the year ended December 31, 2020.

• Net income (loss) was $(241.0) million for the Combined Annual Period, representing a decrease from $10.6 
million for the year ended December 31, 2020.

• Adjusted Net Income (Loss) was $40.5 million for the Combined Annual Period, representing an increase from 
$16.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2020.

• Adjusted EBITDA was $52.9 million for the Combined Annual Period, representing an increase of 120.8% from 
$24.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020.

As discussed more fully in “—Results of Operations,” Sunlight’s net income (loss), Adjusted Net Income (Loss), and 
Adjusted EBITDA for the Combined Annual Period includes the effects from the Business Combination and presented on 
a basis different than those measures for the Predecessor’s Year Ended December 31, 2020.

Adjusted EBITDA

Information regarding use of Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP measure, and a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net 
income, the most comparable GAAP measure, is included in “—Non-GAAP Financial Measures.” The following charts 
depict adjusted EBITDA and other key performance measures for the Combined Annual Period, and the year ended 
December 31, 2020 (in thousands):
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a. Includes the results of operations for the Predecessor during the period of January 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021 and for the Successor during the 
period of July 10, 2021 through December 31, 2021. Refer to “—Key Performance Measures” and “—Results of Operations” for amounts related to 
that period. 
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Highlights

In the fourth quarter of 2021, Sunlight continued to experience strong growth including:
• The number of borrowers increased to 18,225, up 1.9% from 17,882 borrowers in the prior-year period.
• Contractor relationships grew 40.2% relative to the prior-year period, with 25 new solar and home improvement 

contractors joining the Sunlight Platform in the fourth quarter of 2021.
• Battery attachment rate grew to 17.8%, compared with 16.6% in the prior-year period.
• Average loan balance decreased 2.5% year-over-year to 34,774, with a record-high average solar loan balance of 

$41,983 in the fourth quarter of 2021.
• As of December 31, 2021, Sunlight had a cumulative funded loan total of $6.1 billion.

Key Performance Measures

Sunlight reviews several key performance measures, discussed below, to evaluate its business and results, measure 
performance, identify trends, formulate plans and make strategic decisions. Sunlight believes that the presentation of such 
metrics is useful to its investors and counterparties because they are used to measure and model the performance of 
companies such as Sunlight using similar metrics.

The following table sets forth key performance measures for the Successor Period, the Predecessor Annual Period, the 
Combined Annual Period, and the year ended December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except percentages):

Successor Predecessor Predecessor
For the Period 
July 10, 2021 
to December 

31, 2021

For the Period 
January 1, 

2021 to July 9, 
2021

Combined 
Annual 
Period(a)

For the Year 
Ended 

December 31, 
2020

Percentage 
Change(b)

Funded Loans $ 1,214,754 $ 1,309,504 $ 2,524,258 $ 1,468,647  71.9 %
Direct Channel Funded Loans  923,848  1,048,232  1,972,080  1,205,392  63.6 
Indirect Channel Funded Loans  290,906  261,272  552,178  263,255  109.8 

Platform Fee Loans  1,228,022  1,318,644  2,546,666  1,432,661  77.8 
Direct Channel Platform Fee Loans  923,848  1,048,232  1,972,080  1,205,392  63.6 
Indirect Channel Platform Fee Loans  304,174  270,412  574,586  227,269  152.8 

Revenue  61,674  53,064  114,738  69,564  64.9 
Net Income (Loss)  (247,084)  6,131  (240,953)  10,624 n.m.
Adjusted Net Income (Loss)  21,789  18,689  40,478  16,211  149.7 
Adjusted EBITDA  29,644  23,260  52,904  23,958  120.8 

a. The Combined Annual Period represents the combined results of the Successor Period and the Predecessor Annual Period. Funded Loans, 
Platform Fee Loans, and Revenues were not materially impacted by the Business Combination for the year ended December 31, 2021. Refer to “—
Results of Operations” for a discussion of the effects of the Business Combination on Net Income (Loss), Adjusted Net Income (Loss), and Adjusted 
EBITDA.

b. Change represents the Combined Annual Period compared to the year ended December 31, 2020.

Funded Loans. Sunlight refers to the aggregate principal balance of the loans facilitated through Orange®, and funded by 
Sunlight’s capital providers, during a given period, as “funded loans.” Direct channel capital providers fund Sunlight-
facilitated solar or home improvement loans one-by-one directly onto their balance sheet via Orange®. Sunlight’s direct 
channel capital providers are depository institutions with the power and authority to originate loans such as banks and 
credit unions. In the indirect channel, Sunlight’s intermediary bank partner originates solar and home improvement loans, 
as directed by Sunlight’s allocation engine, onto its balance sheet. These loans are aggregated, pooled, and sold to 
indirect channel capital providers that cannot, or do not wish to, directly originate solar or home improvement loans. The 
indirect channel capital provider relationship allows Sunlight to access a broader range of capital, which may include, 
among others, credit funds, insurance companies, and pension funds. The home improvement line of business represents 
an immaterial portion of the funded loans.

Platform Fee Loans. Indicates loans facilitated by Sunlight on which it earns platform fees in a given period (as described 
further under “Revenue” below).
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Revenue. Sunlight earns revenue in two primary streams: platform fees earned on funded loans, as described above, and 
fees for loan portfolio management and administration services. For loans originated through Sunlight’s direct channel, 
Sunlight earns platform fees when the direct channel capital provider funds a particular loan and, for loans originated 
through Sunlight’s indirect channel, Sunlight earns platform fees when the indirect channel capital provider purchases a 
particular loan from Sunlight’s intermediary bank partner. Fees earned by Sunlight for loan portfolio management and 
administration services are paid to Sunlight by the capital providers for which such services are performed on a monthly 
basis or such other period as the parties agree.

The contracts under which Sunlight (a) arranges loans for the purchase and installation of home improvements other than 
residential solar energy systems and (b) earns income from the prepayment of certain of those Loans sold to an Indirect 
Channel Loan Purchaser are considered derivatives under GAAP. As such, Sunlight’s revenues exclude the platform fees 
that Sunlight earns in connection with these contracts. Instead, Sunlight records realized gains on the derivatives within 
“Realized Gains on Contract Derivative, Net.”

Net Income. Net income is a financial measure used to measure Sunlight’s performance from period-to-period on a 
consistent basis.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures. Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EBITDA are non-GAAP financial measures used by 
Sunlight’s management to evaluate operating performance, generate future operating plans, and make strategic 
decisions, including those relating to operating expenses and the allocation of internal resources. Please see “—Non-
GAAP Financial Measures” for a further description of the calculation of Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted EBITDA, and 
reconciliations to net income.
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Loan Characteristics

The following table sets forth the average characteristics of loans Sunlight facilitated for the Successor Period, the 
Predecessor Annual Period, and the year ended December 31, 2020 (USD in thousands):

Successor Predecessor Predecessor

Average Loan Characteristic

For the Period 
July 10, 2021 
to December 

31, 2021

For the Period 
January 1, 

2021 to July 9, 
2021

Combined 
Annual Period

For the Year 
Ended 

December 31, 
2020

Solar
Loan Term (in months)  234  231  232  224 
Customer Interest Rate  2.3 %  2.5 %  2.4 %  3.8 %
Customer FICO Score  752  752  752  746 
Loan Balance $ 41 $ 40 $ 41 $ 35 

Solar Maxx®(a)

Loan Term (in months)  292 n.a.  292 n.a.
Customer Interest Rate  6.9 % n.a.  6.9 % n.a.
Customer FICO Score  641 n.a.  641 n.a.
Loan Balance $ 46 n.a. $ 46 n.a.

Home Improvement
Loan Term (in months)  111  107  109  105 
Customer Interest Rate  10.7 %  10.2 %  10.5 %  10.1 %
Customer FICO Score  747  754  750  753 
Loan Balance $ 16 $ 16 $ 16 $ 15 

Home Improvement Maxx®(b)

Loan Term (in months)  107 n.a.  107 n.a.
Customer Interest Rate  17.9 % n.a.  17.9 % n.a.
Customer FICO Score  634 n.a.  634 n.a.
Loan Balance $ 10 n.a. $ 10 n.a.

a. Solar Maxx® loans represented less than 1.0% of loans facilitated by Sunlight during the year ended December 31, 2021.
b. Home Improvement Maxx® loans represented less than 1.0% of loans facilitated by Sunlight during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Recent Developments

Coronavirus Outbreak. During the first quarter of 2020, Sunlight experienced strong continued growth in funded loan 
volume, which was a continuation of the rapid growth experienced in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019. The onset 
of the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic beginning in March 2020 led to a 3% decline in the number of credit 
approvals and a 15% decline in volume of loans funded during the second quarter of 2020 compared to the second 
quarter of 2019. However, the number of credit approvals and funded loan volumes largely recovered in the third quarter 
of 2020 to exceed the levels experienced during the third quarter of 2019. At December 31, 2021, Sunlight facilitated 
cumulative funded loan volume since inception of approximately $6.1 billion.

Key Factors Affecting Operating Results

Sunlight’s future operating results and cash flows are dependent upon a number of opportunities, challenges, and other 
factors, including (i) growth in the number of loans funded to the customers of each contractor; (ii) the availability of capital 
to fund the loan products offered by Sunlight and desired by the markets in which Sunlight participates and on economic 
terms favorable to Sunlight; (iii) funded loan volume; (iv) competition in the markets in which Sunlight operates; (v) the 
cost of traditional and other alternative sources of power to consumers and industry trends and general economic 
conditions; (vi) growth in the number of contractors included in Sunlight’s network; and (vii) concentration among 
Sunlight’s contractor partners and capital provider partners.
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Growth in the Number of Contractors and in the Number of Loans Funded for the Customers of Each Contractor

Sunlight’s expansive network of residential solar and other home improvement contractors, supported by a differentiated 
set of tools and services offered through Orange® and by Sunlight more generally, constitutes the distribution channel 
through which Sunlight builds funded loan volume and earns fee income. Sunlight believes that continued growth in the 
number of contractors in Sunlight’s network and growth in the number of loans funded to the customers of each such 
contractor through deepening relationships with, as well as first-look exclusivity arrangements and volume commitments 
from, those contractors, have been and will continue to be key components of Sunlight’s increased market penetration, 
growth in funded loan volume, and Sunlight’s operating results.

Availability of Capital to Fund Loans; Funded Loan Volume

Sunlight’s business model is heavily dependent on connecting its capital providers, who wish to build a portfolio of 
residential solar or home improvement loans, to the homeowner customers of the contractors in Sunlight’s distribution 
network, who wish to finance the purchase of residential solar systems or other home improvements. Sunlight earns a 
platform fee on each solar and home improvement loan facilitated through Orange®. Sunlight’s ability to continue to 
increase its funding capacity either by adding additional capital providers or by increasing the commitments of its existing 
capital providers to fund loans on terms desired by the solar and/or home improvement markets and on terms that are 
economically favorable to Sunlight is an important factor in Sunlight’s ability to increase funded loan volume, which is in 
turn a critical factor in Sunlight’s operating results.

Competition

Competition for Sunlight occurs at two levels: (i) competition to acquire and maintain contractor relationships; and (ii) 
competition to acquire high quality capital to fund loans, in each case on economic terms favorable to Sunlight.

Competition to Acquire and Maintain Contractor Relationships

Competition to obtain and maintain contractor relationships is significant. Although Sunlight has negotiated first-look 
exclusivity arrangements with, and volume commitments from, certain contractors, the contractors in the residential solar 
market generally do not enter, contractors generally do not enter exclusive relationships with residential solar loan 
providers and Sunlight’s agreements with its network of contractors generally do not provide for exclusive relationships. 
Contractors may offer loan products from Sunlight, as well as from Sunlight’s competitors, and generally select between 
loan providers based on pricing (ie. the dealer fee or original issue discount charged to the contractor), consumer credit 
approval rates, variety of loan products to address shifting consumer demands and market conditions, ease of loan 
application and completion process (platform) and other services to facilitate the contractor’s business.

Sunlight believes that the following factors, among others, are key to Sunlight’s success in acquiring and maintaining 
contractor relationships:

• Superior value proposition for contractors. Sunlight’s large array of loan products and flexibility in offering new and 
additional products stem from the depth, diversity and attractively-priced funding of Sunlight’s capital providers. 
Sunlight’s loan products allow contractors to capture additional purchase opportunities from consumers that do 
not want to or are not able to pay cash for solar system installation or do not want to lease a system from a third 
party and forego the benefits of ownership. Sunlight’s attractive loan products and competitive contractor fees 
allow contractors to choose products that fit their business needs and the financing needs of their customers. The 
broad range of products offered by Sunlight improves the contractor’s chances of meeting its customers’ financing 
needs and completing a sale.

• Easy-to-use technology-enabled POS financing platform, instant credit decisioning. Orange® is easy to use and 
provides instant credit decisions for homeowners interested in financing the purchase of a residential solar system 
or home improvement. Access to prompt credit decisions and the ability to close financing transactions through an 
intuitive and easy process through the execution of loan agreements in one encounter with a potential customer 
provides significant additional sale opportunities for contractors. Orange® may be accessed via the Orange® web 
address, directly from certain contractor’s own website via a flexible application programming interface, or API, 
and via Sunlight’s mobile application. Besides instant credit decisioning, Orange® includes automated loan 
stipulation, secure document upload, e-sign capacity and other features that facilitate efficient loan transactions 
and provide contractors with the ability to grow their businesses.

• Additional features and services offered by Sunlight further support the growth of contractor businesses, attract 
new contractors to Sunlight’s network and build contractor loyalty. Sunlight prioritizes innovation in Orange® and 
services that support growth in the businesses of its existing network of contractors, attract new contractors and 
build contractor loyalty. Examples of such innovations include Sunlight’s advance program, Sunlight’s launch of 
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Spanish-language loan products and Sunlight Rewards™. Sunlight believes that it has innovated more quickly 
than its competitors and offers contractors a greater array of valuable services that drive their determination to 
offer their customers Sunlight-offered loan products over those of Sunlight’s competitors and that Sunlight will 
continue to be able to innovate quickly to meet the needs of its contractor network.

Competition to Acquire Capital to Fund Loans

The residential solar system and home improvement loan markets are relatively fragmented. Facilitating the aggregation 
of loan volume from these markets is a highly competitive sector of these broader industries. Sunlight faces competition 
from a diverse landscape of consumer lenders, including traditional banks, credit unions, specialized residential solar 
system lenders, and lease providers. Sunlight’s competitors source capital from a mix of alternative sources, including 
depository capital and/or other alternatives that rely on the capital markets.

Sunlight believes that it offers capital providers an attractive value proposition due to its industry-leading consumer credit 
underwriting, attractive risk-adjusted returns earned by its capital providers relative to other asset classes, the access that 
Sunlight’s Platform provides to a unique and growing asset class that may reduce volatility in the ability to deploy capital, 
and the ability to access new customers for very little cost. Sunlight has successfully added capital providers and grown 
commitments from existing capital providers since inception. As its contractor network has grown, Sunlight has 
consistently diversified its capital provider base to ensure that it has sufficient capital to fund the demand for Sunlight 
facilitated loans and that it is able to offer an evolving and competitive mix of loan products to meet contractor and 
consumer demand. Capital providers have actively participated in this success and Sunlight has not experienced any 
capital provider attrition since inception, although one capital provider provided notice to Sunlight that it had exceeded its 
internal asset concentration levels for solar loans and, accordingly, such capital provider terminated their program 
agreement with Sunlight in April 2021. This capital provider purchased an immaterial portion (less than 2.2%) of Sunlight’s 
total facilitated solar loans in 2020. Sunlight believes that there are many institutions seeking to deploy capital into solar 
and home improvement loan assets, but Sunlight intends to continue to be selective about adding capital provider 
partners. Sunlight values diversification but will specifically focus on partnering with potential capital providers that can 
enable Sunlight to meet strategic goals, including access to the most attractive pricing and access to capacity for a 
growing suite of loan products, among others.

Industry Trends and General Economic Conditions; Cost of Power

Sunlight’s results of operations in the past have been fairly resilient to economic downturns but in the future may be 
impacted by the relative strength of the overall economy and its effect on unemployment, consumer spending. and 
consumer demand for solar systems and home improvements. As general economic conditions improve or deteriorate, the 
amount of disposable income consumers have access to tends to fluctuate, which in turn impacts consumer spending 
levels and the willingness of consumers to take out loans to finance purchases. Specific economic factors such as interest 
rate levels, changes in monetary, fiscal and related policies, market volatility, consumer confidence, the impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic and, particularly, the unemployment rate also influence consumer spending and borrowing patterns.

Sunlight’s results of operations are also dependent upon continued growth in the residential solar market and the 
continued penetration of residential solar across the country. Growth in the solar market is attributable to several factors 
including, among others, savings available to consumers as compared with the cost of traditional sources of power or 
other forms of clean or alternative power and the opportunity to participate in the world-wide effort of reducing carbons in 
the atmosphere, or “going green.” The cost to homeowners to install solar is impacted by many factors, including the cost 
of materials, the cost of labor, the availability of federal, state and local incentives, and, to the extent financed, prevailing 
interest rates.

Specifically, future results of operations may be impacted by the potential discontinuation or material reduction or other 
change in the federal solar tax credit (the “ITC”). The ITC currently allows a qualifying homeowner to deduct 26% of the 
cost of installing residential solar systems from their U.S. federal income taxes, thereby returning a material portion of the 
purchase price of the residential solar system to homeowners. Congress has extended the ITC expiration date multiple 
times including, most recently, in December 2020. Under the terms of the current extension, the ITC will remain at 26% 
through the end of 2022, reduce to 22% for 2023, and further reduce to 0.0% after the end of 2023 for residential solar 
systems, unless it is extended before that time. Although the ITC has been extended several times, there is no guarantee 
that it will be extended beyond 2023.

Though the residential solar market has grown steadily over the last several years, Sunlight cannot guarantee that such 
growth will continue. In addition, although the home improvement business is not currently a material part of Sunlight’s 
business, Sunlight believes that it is well-positioned to grow that business significantly over time. The home improvement 
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industry is, however, subject to many of the same industry trends and challenges associated with a changing economy as 
the solar industry and Sunlight cannot guarantee that it will be successful in growing that business as planned.

Concentration

Sunlight’s expansive network of residential solar system and other home improvement contractors, supported by a 
differentiated set of tools and services offered through Orange®, constitutes the distribution channel through which the 
Sunlight-facilitated loans made available by Sunlight’s capital providers are sold to the consumer customers of such 
contractors. Sunlight partners with some of the largest contractors in the United States, which in the aggregate generate a 
material portion of Sunlight’s funded loan volume through Sunlight’s network of capital providers. However, Sunlight’s 
contractor network is considerably diversified. In the period from December 31, 2019 to December 31, 2020, the top ten 
contractors in Sunlight’s network were responsible for selling 42.0% of Sunlight’s funded loan volume, and in the period 
from December 31, 2020 to December 31, 2021 that percentage increased to 45.4%. In both of these periods, only one 
contractor sold loans aggregating more than 10% of Sunlight’s revenue. That contractor was responsible for selling more 
than 15.4% and 13.3% of Sunlight’s funded loan volume in the period from December 31, 2019 to December 31, 2020 
and in the period from December 31, 2020 to December 31, 2021, respectively. While the percentage of Sunlight’s funded 
loan volume sold by any contractor in Sunlight’s network varies from period to period, there is one contractor, Marc Jones 
Construction, L.L.C. d/b/a Sunpro Solar (“Sunpro”), that sold 11.3% and 15.2% of Sunlight’s funded loan volume during 
the Successor Period and the Predecessor Annual Period, respectively, and 15.4% during the year ended December 31, 
2020. Sunlight believes that its contractor network is sufficiently diversified to continue to grow with the residential solar 
market, and increase share given market dynamics, but intends to continue adding contractors to the network in order to 
further diversify and broaden the opportunity to grow the business.

Sunlight has multiple capital providers in both its direct and indirect funding channels, all of which have increased their 
commitments since partnering with Sunlight. Sunlight's largest capital provider in the period from December 31, 2020 to 
December 31, 2021 has materially increased its commitment since the relationship began in 2015. Though Sunlight 
believes that the relationship with this capital provider is healthy and will continue without disruption, the significant portion 
of funded loan volume attributable to this capital provider results in concentration risk. This capital provider funded 45.3% 
and 29.4% of Sunlight’s funded loans during the period from December 31, 2019 to December 31, 2020 and during the 
period from December 31, 2020 to December 31, 2021, respectively. Sunlight cannot guarantee that this capital provider 
will continue to fund loans facilitated by Sunlight in the same volume or at all beyond its current contractual commitment. 
This capital provider may reduce the volume commitment in whole or in part upon no less than 90 days’ prior written 
notice. Sunlight added new capital providers in 2021 to reduce its capital provider concentration risk and will continue to 
do so selectively. Further, Sunlight is in continuous discussions with multiple capital providers on an ongoing basis and, if 
Sunlight were to receive an advance notice of termination from the capital provider, Sunlight will use the advance 
notification to develop alternate funding sources to replace this capital provider. While Sunlight believes that it would be 
able to identify and implement alternative arrangements during this period, Sunlight cannot guarantee that it would be able 
to do so at all or on equivalent or favorable terms. Sunlight believes that a failure to arrange alternative loan funding on 
equivalent terms would have little impact on Sunlight’s funded loan volume, as capital for the solar loan industry has 
historically been readily available. Rather, Sunlight believes that such failure would be more likely to have a greater 
negative impact on the amount of platform fees that Sunlight earns, and therefore could impact revenue.

Basis of Presentation

Sunlight conducts business through one operating segment, and Sunlight operates in one geographic region, the United 
States. See Notes 1 and 2 of the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Sunlight for more information.

Components of Results of Operations

Revenues

Revenue. Sunlight earns revenue in two primary streams: platform fees earned on each loan facilitated via Orange® and 
fees earned for loan portfolio management and administration services.

Platform fees. Platform fee revenue for each loan facilitated via Orange® is generally the difference between the 
contractor fee that Sunlight charges to the contractors in its network for access to Orange® and the ability to offer 
financing options to their customers and the capital provider discount charged to Sunlight (cost of capital to Sunlight) for 
such loan. The platform fee percentage is equal to the dollar amount of such fee divided by the principal balance at 
origination of such loan. Platform fees are generally earned by Sunlight in the direct channel when the direct channel 
capital provider funds a particular loan and in the indirect channel when an indirect channel capital provider purchases a 
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particular loan from Sunlight’s intermediary bank partner. The contract between Sunlight and its intermediary bank partner 
for home improvement loans is considered a derivative for GAAP purposes, whereas the contract between Sunlight and 
its intermediary bank partner for solar loans is not. For indirect channel home improvement loans, Sunlight records a 
“realized gain on contract derivative (net)” in lieu of a platform fee generally when the loans are purchased by Sunlight’s 
indirect capital provider from Sunlight’s bank partner, and Sunlight is paid. As such, Sunlight excludes from its revenue 
any platform fee associated with an indirect channel home improvement loan under Sunlight’s related home improvement 
agreement. Sunlight estimates the fair value of the derivative components of the bank partnership arrangement based on 
the present value of the net cash flows that Sunlight expects to collect under the agreement. Under this home 
improvement bank partnership arrangement, with respect to a given home improvement loan, Sunlight will expect to 
collect (x) the amount paid by Sunlight’s indirect capital provider to purchase the loan from Sunlight’s bank partner (the 
outstanding principal balance of the loan less the amount of the capital provider discount applied to that loan plus any 
accrued and unpaid interest) minus (y) the total of amounts funded to the relevant contractor in respect of the related 
home improvement project (total cost of the project to the consumer customer of the relevant contractor less the 
applicable contractor fee) and any amounts that Sunlight owes to its bank partner in the form of minimum guaranteed 
returns to the bank partner on the origination of such loan. The aggregate estimated fair value of this agreement is marked 
to market by Sunlight on a monthly basis. When a loan sale occurs, the estimated fair value associated with the loans 
included in the sold portfolio is reversed and Sunlight recognizes the related realized net cash as a realized gain as noted 
above.

Loan portfolio management and administration revenue. Sunlight also earns revenue from fees charged by Sunlight for 
providing loan portfolio management, servicing, and administration services for certain of its capital providers. These 
services include the reporting of loan performance information, administration of servicing performed by third parties, and 
addressing customer concerns or complaints through Sunlight’s call center on behalf of the relevant capital provider.

Costs and Expenses

Cost of revenues. Sunlight’s cost of revenues includes the aggregate costs that Sunlight incurs to satisfy its obligations in 
facilitating the origination of a loan. The cost of revenues includes variable consideration that Sunlight pays for its platform 
fees which do not otherwise meet the criteria necessary for netting against gross revenues, including items such as credit 
bureau fees, the cost to check homeowners’ title in connection with the homeowner credit underwriting, the cost of certain 
sales incentives, and certain information technology costs directly associated with loan origination activities, among 
others.

Compensation and benefits. Compensation and benefits expenses represent costs related to our employees, such as 
salaries, bonuses, benefits and equity-based compensation expenses. Also included are any recruiting costs incurred by 
Sunlight in attracting talent and professional and consulting fees related to certain services that Sunlight outsources to 
third parties.

Selling, general, and administrative. Selling, general and administrative expenses include legal, audit and other 
professional services fees, travel and entertainment expenses, and insurance premiums as incurred. Sunlight recognizes 
expenses associated with co-marketing agreements when earned by the counterparty.

Property and technology. Property and technology expenses comprise rent, information technology services to support 
the Orange® infrastructure and operation, as well as other Sunlight technology requirements, and noncapitalizable costs 
to internally develop software as incurred.

Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization expenses relate primarily to the amortization of definite-lived 
intangible assets acquired in the Business Combination that include contractor and capital provider relationships, 
developed technology, and trademarks/ tradenames. Other amortization includes internally developed software to support 
Orange® or otherwise developed by or on behalf of Sunlight after the Business Combination and leasehold 
improvements. Depreciation expense includes the depreciation of computer hardware as well as furniture, fixtures, and 
equipment.

Goodwill Impairment. To the extent Sunlight determines the carrying value of its goodwill resulting from the Business 
Combination exceeds its implied fair value, Sunlight recognizes an impairment loss for that difference on the date of such 
determination.

Provision for losses. Provision for losses expenses relate primarily to certain receivables that are held-for-investment by 
Sunlight that are not performing or Sunlight estimates will not perform based upon historical experience. The term relates 
to Sunlight’s advances program, its prefunding program, and to certain solar and home improvement loans and loan 
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participations that Sunlight purchased from Sunlight’s capital providers pursuant to the terms of its contract with those 
capital providers.

Management fees to affiliate. These expenses relate to fees paid pursuant to management agreements entered into 
between Sunlight and certain of Sunlight’s affiliates. These management agreements terminated upon closing of the 
Business Combination.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Interest income. Sunlight recognizes income on certain receivables that are held-for-investment by Sunlight, including 
certain solar or home improvement loans, or participations in solar loans, held on the Sunlight balance sheet, in each case 
to the extent such receivables are performing. Sunlight accrues interest income based on the unpaid principal balance 
and contractual terms of such receivables, and recognizes income related to the discounts associated with such 
receivables as a yield adjustment using the interest method, or on a straight-line basis when it approximates the interest 
method, over the loan term.

Interest expense. Interest expenses represent interest payable by Sunlight on its borrowings under its Loan and Security 
Agreement (as defined below). Interest expense also includes the amortization of associated deferred financing costs 
prior to the Business Combination.

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities. The change in fair value of warrant liabilities relates to certain warrants issued by 
Sunlight to certain third parties to purchase Sunlight’s Class A Common Stock. Such warrants are marked to market 
periodically and any change in value is reflected in this line item.

Change in fair value of, and realized gains on, contract derivative, net. The arrangement with Sunlight’s intermediary bank 
partner to originate indirect channel home improvement loans is considered a derivative under GAAP. As such, Sunlight’s 
revenues exclude the platform fees that Sunlight earns from the sale of home improvement loans from the bank partner’s 
balance sheet. Instead, Sunlight records a derivative that is marked to market on a monthly basis, with realized gains 
recognized on the derivative on the sale of the loan from the bank partner to an indirect channel capital provider and 
accounting for the impact of any changes to the applicable interest rates on the amounts payable to the bank partner in 
connection with any such sale.

Other realized losses, net. Other realized losses primarily relate to losses Sunlight incurred in connection with certain 
indirect channel loans.

Other income (expense). Other income or expense primarily relate to the changes in a liability for certain guarantees of 
performance provided by Sunlight to Sunlight’s bank partner relating to the loans held on the balance sheet of Sunlight’s 
bank partner and certain other guarantees of performance made by Sunlight to certain of its capital providers with respect 
to specified solar loans.

Business Combination expenses. The expenses Sunlight incurs that are not considered operating expenses. For the 
Combined Annual Period, these costs primarily represent legal and other professional costs Sunlight incurred in 
connection with the Business Combination.

Income tax benefit (expense). The income taxes Sunlight incurs on the taxable income, or income tax benefit in periods of 
taxable loss, not allocable to noncontrolling interests in Sunlight Financial LLC.

Noncontrolling interests in income (loss) of consolidated subsidiaries. The net income (loss) of Sunlight’s consolidated 
subsidiaries allocable to third parties and to which Sunlight is not entitled.
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Results of Operations

This section includes a summary of our results of operations, followed by detailed comparisons of our results for the 
Combined Annual Period, and the year ended December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except percentages):

Successor Predecessor Predecessor
For the 

Period July 
10, 2021 to 
December 
31, 2021

For the 
Period 

January 1, 
2021 to July 

9, 2021

Combined 
Annual 
Period

For the Year 
Ended 

December 
31, 2020 Increase (Decrease)(a)

Revenue $ 61,674 $ 53,064 $ 114,738 $ 69,564 $ 45,174  64.9 %
Costs and Expenses

Cost of revenues (exclusive of items shown separately 
below)  9,873  10,556  20,429  13,711  6,718  49.0 
Compensation and benefits  44,996  17,162  62,158  26,174  35,984  137.5 
Selling, general, and administrative  7,419  3,450  10,869  3,806  7,063  185.6 
Property and technology  3,088  2,790  5,878  4,304  1,574  36.6 
Depreciation and amortization  43,389  1,688  45,077  3,231  41,846  1,295.1 
Provision for losses  1,217  1,172  2,389  1,350  1,039  77.0 
Goodwill impairment  224,701  —  224,701  —  224,701 n.m.
Management fees to affiliate  —  204  204  400  (196)  (49.0) 

 334,683  37,022  371,705  52,976  318,729  601.6 
Operating income (loss)  (273,009)  16,042  (256,967)  16,588  (273,555) n.m.

Other Income (Expense), Net
Interest income  149  262  411  520  (109)  (21.0) 
Interest expense  (554)  (604)  (1,158)  (829)  (329)  39.7 
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities  22,583  (5,504)  17,079  (5,510)  22,589 n.m.
Change in fair value of contract derivatives, net  638  (662)  (24)  1,435  (1,459) n.m.
Realized gains on contract derivatives, net  2,866  2,992  5,858  103  5,755  5,587.4 
Other realized losses, net  —  —  —  (171)  171  (100.0) 
Other income (expense)  (181)  616  435  (634)  1,069 n.m.
Business combination expenses  (3,080)  (7,011)  (10,091)  (878)  (9,213)  1,049.3 

 22,421  (9,911)  12,510  (5,964)  18,474 n.m.
Net Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes  (250,588)  6,131  (244,457)  10,624  (255,081) n.m.

Income tax benefit (expense)  3,504  —  3,504  —  3,504 n.m.
Net Income (Loss)  (247,084)  6,131  (240,953)  10,624  (251,577) n.m.

Noncontrolling interests in loss of consolidated subsidiaries  87,528  —  87,528  —  87,528 n.m.
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Class A Shareholders $ (159,556) $ 6,131 $ (153,425) $ 10,624 $ (164,049) n.m.

a. Change represents the Combined Annual Period compared to the year ended December 31, 2020.

The Combined Annual Period Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2020 (Predecessor)

Revenue

The following table provides the components of Sunlight’s revenue for the Successor Period, the Predecessor Annual 
Period, the Combined Annual Period, and the year ended December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except percentages):

Successor Predecessor Predecessor Increase (Decrease)(a)

For the 
Period July 
10, 2021 to 
December 
31, 2021

For the 
Period 

January 1, 
2021 to July 

9, 2021

Combined 
Annual 
Period

For the Year 
Ended 

December 
31, 2020 $ %

Direct Channel Platform Fees, net $ 49,937 $ 45,703 $ 95,640 $ 64,120 $ 31,520  49.2 %
Indirect Channel Platform Fees, net  6,846  5,054  11,900  2,733  9,167  335.4 
Other revenues  4,891  2,307  7,198  2,711  4,487  165.5 

Total $ 61,674 $ 53,064 $ 114,738 $ 69,564 $ 45,174  64.9 

a. Change represents the Combined Annual Period compared to the year ended December 31, 2020.
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Revenue increased by $45.2 million or 64.9% for the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2020 due to an increase of 77.8% in platform fee loans, as well as an overall 0.1% increase in the average 
platform fee percentage earned on loans funded by direct channel capital providers or purchased by indirect channel 
capital providers. Sunlight’s revenue excludes amounts earned through its facilitation of indirect channel home 
improvement loan originations, which Sunlight presents as realized gains on contract derivatives.

Funded loans increased from $1.5 billion for the year ended December 31, 2020 to $2.5 billion for the year ended 
December 31, 2021, an increase of 71.9%. Sunlight believes that the increase in funded loans year-over-year is 
attributable primarily to growth in the residential solar market, deepening relationships with existing contractors, and an 
increase in the number of contractors in Sunlight’s contractor network. 

The average platform fee percentage earned on loans funded by direct channel capital providers or purchased by indirect 
channel capital providers increased 0.1% from the year ended December 31, 2020 to the year ended December 31, 2021. 
The platform fee percentage earned by Sunlight is dependent on several factors, including (i) the contractor fees charged 
by Sunlight to contractors (which is impacted by competitive pressure that varies from period to period, by loan product 
based on consumer and contractor preferences, and by the mix of contractors in a particular period as certain contractors 
may generally have higher or lower contractor fees than others), (ii) the capital provider discounts charged to Sunlight by 
Sunlight’s capital providers (which may fluctuate based on, among other things, market conditions impacting cost of 
capital, opportunities in other asset classes, and the mix of capital providers funding or purchasing loans in a particular 
period as certain capital providers may generally have higher or lower capital provider discounts than others), (iii) the mix 
of Sunlight loan products funded in a particular period (as certain products in that period, for reasons relating to 
competitive pressure for certain loan products or otherwise, may generally carry a higher or lower capital provider discount 
or contractor fee than others) and (iv) other factors. Sunlight earns revenues from platform fees, which are determined by 
the margin between capital provider discounts charged to Sunlight and contractor fees charged by Sunlight to the 
contractors that sell the Sunlight facilitated loan products. Both components in the calculation of platform fees are 
influenced by a variety of factors, including but not limited to those described above. For example, capital providers 
wishing to obtain greater volume may reduce capital provider discounts charged across all products to make funding with 
this capital provider an attractive option to Sunlight. As well, competitive pressures or volume discounts negotiated with 
certain contractors may reduce the contractor fees that Sunlight charges to such contractors on certain loan products or 
across loan products.

Sunlight believes that the difference in platform fee percentage from December 31, 2020 to December 31, 2021 is 
primarily attributable to competition in the market with regard to contractor fees, the mix of Sunlight loan products funded 
in the two periods (based on the recent trend towards contractor preference to offer certain longer term, lower interest rate 
loan products facing significant competitive pressure from other participants offering loan financing in the market and 
driving attractive contractor fee pricing in those periods) and an increase in capital provider discounts charged to Sunlight 
by capital providers in Sunlight’s indirect channel during the second quarter of 2020. Sunlight’s indirect channel capital 
providers are generally more reactive than direct channel capital providers to market uncertainty and interest rate market 
volatility as presented at the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. Unlike Sunlight’s direct channel capital providers, 
Sunlight’s indirect channel capital providers are generally not depository institutions and therefore their own cost of capital 
is subject to market uncertainty. Consequently, the capital provider discounts charged to Sunlight by such indirect channel 
capital providers are also likely to be more reactive. Deposits, which are generally used by Sunlight’s direct channel 
capital providers to fund loans, are generally more stable, less reactive to market variance, and the least expensive cost of 
capital. 
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The following table presents averages weighted by original loan balance of capital provider discounts, contractor fees and 
platform fees.

Successor Predecessor Predecessor

Change in 
Average(a)

For the Period 
July 10, 2021 
to December 

31, 2021

For the Period 
January 1, 

2021 to July 9, 
2021

Combined 
Annual Period

For the Year 
Ended 

December 31, 
2020

Solar Total - Capital Provider Discount  16.8 %  16.7 %  16.7 %  13.0 %  3.7 %
Solar Total - Contractor Fee  21.8  20.8  21.5  17.7  3.8 
Solar Total - Platform Fee  5.0  4.1  4.8  4.7  0.1 

Solar Direct Channel - Capital Provider Discount  16.5  16.6  16.5  12.5  4.0 
Solar Direct Channel - Contractor Fee  21.9  20.9  21.6  17.8  3.8 
Solar Direct Channel - Platform Fee  5.4  4.3  5.1  5.3  (0.2) 

Solar Indirect Channel - Capital Provider Discount  17.9  17.2  17.6  15.4  2.2 
Solar Indirect Channel - Contractor Fee  21.5  20.2  20.8  16.9  3.9 
Solar Indirect Channel - Platform Fee  3.6  3.0  3.2  1.5  1.7 

a. Change represents the Combined Annual Period compared to the year ended December 31, 2020.

Costs and Expenses

Cost of revenues increased by 49.0% for the year ended December 31, 2021, which is less than the 64.9% increase in 
revenues when compared to the year ended December 31, 2020. The $6.7 million increase in cost of revenues resulted 
from $2.2 million of increased costs of consumer credit underwriting arising from increased credit approval volumes, 
$1.5 million from rewards earned by salespeople under Sunlight Rewards™, $2.5 million from costs incurred in connection 
with the increase of funded loan volume and Sunlight’s role in facilitating those loans, and increased costs of $0.4 million 
from broker fees paid to financial institutions for arranging certain loan origination or purchase arrangements with capital 
providers. The broker fees are calculated as a percentage of the funded loan volume originating from an applicable loan 
origination or purchase arrangement with a capital provider. Sunlight’s obligation to pay these broker fees generally 
terminates between three and five years after the date that the initial loan is originated or purchased pursuant to an 
arrangement facilitated by the broker.

Compensation and benefits expense increased by $36.0 million, or 137.5% for the year ended December 31, 2021 when 
compared to the year ended December 31, 2020. Of the $36.0 million increase, $29.6 million of compensation expense 
recognized in the Successor period resulted from Business Combination, including $21.0 million from the immediate 
vesting of equity-based compensation awards granted to employees of Sunlight’s Predecessor that satisfied vesting 
conditions upon completion of the Business Combination, $5.7 million from such awards that did not immediately vest 
(provisionally-vested replacement awards were granted upon completion of the Business Combination and vest in future 
periods), and $2.9 million from restriction stock units granted on or after the Business Combination to Sunlight employees. 
The remaining $6.4 million of increased compensation expense resulted from an increase in employees from 190 at 
December 31, 2020 to 216 at December 31, 2021. The increase in employees is consistent with the growth in Sunlight’s 
business and Sunlight expects to continue hiring as its business grows in order to continue to expand its contractor 
network, develop its home improvement business and meet the demands of its contractors and capital providers.

Selling, general, and administrative expense increased by $7.1 million, or 185.6% for the year ended December 31, 2021 
when compared to the year ended December 31, 2020. Of the $7.1 million increase, Sunlight incurred $2.7 million of 
expense related to Sunlight’s operations as a public company, including $2.0 million of insurance expenses and $0.6 
million of incremental professional fees during the Successor Period. The remaining $4.4 million increased costs for 
additional professional and administrative fees associated with Sunlight’s continuing growth.

Property and technology expense increased by $1.6 million, or 36.6% for the year ended December 31, 2021 when 
compared to the year ended December 31, 2020, primarily due to an increase in licensing fees charged by certain of 
Sunlight’s third-party service providers that support the infrastructure and operation of Orange® associated with the 
growth in Sunlight’s network of contractors.
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Depreciation and amortization expense increased by $41.8 million, or 1,295.1% for the year ended December 31, 2021 
when compared to the year ended December 31, 2020, primarily due to the amortization of intangible assets acquired in 
the Business Combination during the Successor Period amounting to $43.1 million and the amortization of investments 
made in Orange® to support ongoing innovation and to automate certain other corporate processes.

Sunlight recorded goodwill of $670.0 million upon closing of the Business Combination, of which Sunlight considered 
$224.7 million impaired as part of Sunlight’s annual goodwill impairment test during the Successor Period. Market 
activities adversely impacting the valuation of public companies similar to Sunlight indicated that the $670.0 million 
carrying value of goodwill, after taking into account price adjustments, exceeded its fair value by the $224.7 million 
impairment amount.

Provision for loss expense increased by $1.0 million, or 77.0% for the year ended December 31, 2021 when compared to 
the year ended December 31, 2020. Such increase was due primarily to an increased level of funded loan volume with 
Sunlight’s bank partner. The ratio of provision for loss expense over aggregate funded bank partner loan volume in the 
year ended December 31, 2020 was 0.5% as compared to 0.4% during the year ended December 31, 2021, indicating an 
decrease in loss experience as compared to funded bank partner loan volume.

Operating margin decreased materially from the year ended December 31, 2020 to the year ended December 31, 2021 
due to the factors described above, primarily related to non-cash charges in connection with the Business Combination. 
Generally, operating margin benefits from the fixed nature of a material level of Sunlight expense and revenue generally 
growing materially faster than operating expenses when excluding the amortization effects of identified intangible assets 
and equity-based compensation expense.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Total other income (expense) increased $18.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 when compared to the year 
ended December 31, 2020, primarily resulting from a $22.6 million decrease in the fair value of public and private 
warrants, originally issued by Spartan and assumed by Sunlight upon closing of the Business Combination, during the 
Successor Period and a $5.8 million realized gain from the sale of indirect channel home improvement loans under an 
agreement with Sunlight’s bank partner, accounted as a derivative under U.S. GAAP. These increases were partially offset 
by a $9.2 million increase in costs incurred in connection with the Business Combination and $1.5 million reversal of the 
fair value in connection with the realized gains from the aforementioned sale of indirect channel home improvement loans.

Income Tax Benefit

Sunlight's Predecessor was a limited liability company not subject to income taxes. During the Successor Period, the $3.5 
million income tax benefit reflects an effective tax rate of 1.4%.

Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Subsidiaries

Sunlight's Predecessor did not consolidate any entities in which third parties owned a noncontrolling interest. During the 
Successor Period, income (loss) of consolidated subsidiaries allocated to noncontrolling interests represents $250.6 
million of Sunlight Financial LLC consolidated net loss during the Successor Period allocated to such noncontrolling 
interests at a weighted-average ownership of 35.0%.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2021, Sunlight had $91.9 million of unrestricted cash on hand and had drawn $20.6 million available 
to it under its $30.0 million credit facility.

On April 26, 2021, Sunlight entered into a Loan and Security Agreement, as amended (the “Loan and Security 
Agreement”) with Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB”). The Loan and Security Agreement, which replaced Sunlight’s prior $15.0 
million credit facility, has a borrowing capacity of up to $30.0 million and matures on April 26, 2023. To secure the payment 
and performance of Sunlight’s obligations under the Loan and Security Agreement, Sunlight granted a continuing security 
interest in certain collateral, which generally includes all of Sunlight’s assets, whether currently owned or thereafter 
acquired, and all proceeds and products thereof. Borrowings under the Loan and Security Agreement accrue interest at a 
rate equal to the greater of (i) 5.0% and (ii) the prime rate plus 1.75% per annum. The Loan and Security Agreement 
contains certain financial covenants, including maintenance of (i) Liquidity (as defined therein) at all times in an amount 
equal to or greater than the greater of (a) 35% of all outstanding principal amounts of any advances and (b) $10.0 million; 
(ii) at all times Available Takeout Commitment Amount (as defined therein) in an amount equal to or greater than $200.0 
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million; and (iii) EBITDA (as defined therein) of at least $5.0 million for the six-month period ending on the last day of each 
month. The Loan and Security Agreement contains customary events of default. SVB can elect to accelerate the maturity 
of the loans and/or terminate the commitments under the Loan and Security Agreement upon the occurrence and during 
the continuation of an event of default, and Sunlight can be required to repay all amounts outstanding under the Loan and 
Security Agreement. In connection with the transition of accounts to SVB, Sunlight experienced a technical default that 
was waived by SVB. Otherwise, no defaults or events of default have occurred as of the date of this filing.

Sunlight’s cash requirements relate primarily to funding Sunlight advances and prefunding programs, to invest in 
continued innovations in Orange® and to pay Sunlight’s operating expenses, repayment of borrowings (and interest 
thereon), outstanding commitments and guarantees (including Sunlight’s purchase of loans pursuant to the terms of 
certain of its capital provider agreements and loan participations), other operating expenses, income taxes, and tax 
distributions to noncontrolling interests. Sunlight may be required to purchase loans from its bank partner after an agreed 
period of time if Sunlight has not arranged the sale of such loans. To date, Sunlight has not been required to purchase 
loans from its bank partner due to an inability to sell such loans to an indirect channel capital provider. Additionally, 
Sunlight assumes the risk of compliance errors and the risk of borrower or contractor fraud in the origination of the loans, 
and as such, Sunlight is obligated to purchase the applicable loan from its bank partner should these events occur. 
Sunlight has also entered into a program agreement with its bank partner to fund its home improvement loans that 
contains similar provisions related to risks accepted by Sunlight.

Historically, Sunlight has met its cash requirements from cash flow generated by operations, collection of advances under 
its contractor advance funding program and in prefunding payments under its prefunding program, and draws on 
Sunlight’s credit facility. Sunlight believes that it will continue to generate cash flow from its operations which, together with 
funds available under its new credit facility and cash on hand, will be sufficient to meet its current and future liquidity 
needs.

Relationships with Contractors and Capital Providers

Relationships with Contractors

Sunlight’s expansive network of residential solar system installers and other home improvement contractors, supported by 
a differentiated set of tools and services offered through Orange®, constitutes the distribution channel through which 
Sunlight builds funded loan volume and earns platform fees. The ability to finance residential solar systems on terms that 
typically translate to immediate saving for homeowners on their utility bills and significant amounts in lifetime savings has 
materially contributed to the strong growth in the number of residential solar systems installed in the United States over 
the last five years. Sunlight attracts and builds strong relationships with residential solar system contractors of all sizes in 
key solar markets by prioritizing innovations in Orange® and providing services that assist the contractors in growing their 
own businesses. Sunlight’s team of business development and relationship management professionals provides hands-on 
support to these contractors. Sunlight believes that innovations such as prequalification capabilities, easy and secure 
document upload features, reliable next day funding and Sunlight’s capital advance program (as described more fully 
below), amongst other innovations, both attract new contractors to Sunlight’s network and build loyalty and deepen 
Sunlight’s existing contractor relationships. In addition, Sunlight’s diverse set of capital providers enables Sunlight to offer 
its network of contractors a wide array of loan products that vary as to structure, interest rate and tenor, and thereby 
permits Sunlight’s network of contractors to offer competitively-priced products that best serve their markets. These 
benefits to Sunlight’s existing network of contractors translate to deeper penetration of the contractors’ sales, which is an 
important contributor to the growth of Sunlight’s market share and revenue. There can be no assurance that Sunlight will 
be able to maintain its current contractor relationships. Sunlight may lose existing contractors that represent a significant 
portion of Sunlight’s business, and there is no guarantee that Sunlight would be able to engage replacement contractors 
on terms similar to its existing contractors.

Sunlight started its business in 2014 and developed a key anchor partnership with a large residential solar contractor in 
2016. Beginning in 2017 and through 2018, Sunlight focused on building and diversifying its contractor relationships and 
continues that process today. In 2020, as compared with 2019, Sunlight grew its solar contractor base by more than 60%. 
In 2021, as compared with 2020, Sunlight grew its solar contractor base by more than 32.3%. However, dependence on 
any one contractor or small group of contractors creates concentration risk, particularly in the event that any such 
contractor elects to terminate its relationship with Sunlight or experiences business disruption or a business failure or 
bankruptcy. For example, during May 2021, Sunlight was advised by a significant contractor that it would discontinue use 
of the Sunlight platform to finance its consumer customers effective immediately. This contractor accounted for 
approximately 6.7% and 9.5% of Sunlight’s total funded loan volumes during the year ended December 31, 2020 and for 
the year ended December 31, 2021, respectively. Sunlight believes that its strong relationships with the existing 
contractors in Sunlight’s network, the continued growth in the number of contractor relationships, and the various 
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competitive loan products and sales tools in Orange® have been and will continue to be key components of Sunlight’s 
increased market penetration, growth in funded loan volume and revenue.

Relationships with Capital Providers

Sunlight’s business model is dependent on its ability to connect its capital providers, who wish to build a portfolio of 
residential solar system loans, to the homeowner customers of the contractors in Sunlight’s distribution network, who wish 
to finance the purchase of a residential solar system. Sunlight earns a platform fee on each solar and home improvement 
loan facilitated through Orange®. The platform fee is generally equal to the difference, or the margin, between (i) the 
contractor fee that Sunlight charges to contractors for access to Orange® and for making the various Sunlight-offered loan 
products available to such contractors and (ii) the capital provider discount charged by the relevant capital provider either 
funding or purchasing the loan in the direct and indirect channels, respectively (as described below). Sunlight’s business 
is therefore heavily dependent upon the availability of capital on attractive economic terms. Sunlight believes that it offers 
capital providers an attractive value proposition due to its industry-leading consumer credit underwriting, the attractive 
risk-adjusted returns that Sunlight’s capital providers earn relative to other asset classes, the access that our Platform 
provides to a unique and growing asset class that may reduce volatility in the ability to deploy capital, and the ability to 
access new customers for very little cost.

Sunlight engages with its capital providers not just as funding sources but as funding partners. As with Sunlight’s network 
of contractors, Sunlight works closely with its capital providers to understand and address their business needs as related 
to the residential solar loan industry. Matters related to loan product, credit strategy, contractor commercial underwriting 
and consumer protection practices are considered and designed in tandem with the goal of creating a robust and growing 
channel for funded loan volume. Additionally, through Orange®, Sunlight’s capital providers operating within Sunlight’s 
direct channel can track and manage the pipeline of solar loan volume allocated to that capital provider. Sunlight’s 
relationships with its diverse and growing network of capital providers provides significant flexibility to source competitively 
priced capital. Since the acquisition of Sunlight’s initial flow capital funding source in 2016, the number of capital providers 
funding Sunlight-facilitated solar loans has increased materially and, more importantly, all of Sunlight’s direct channel 
capital providers have significantly increased their commitments to fund solar loan volume.

Sunlight categorizes its capital providers as being either in Sunlight’s direct or indirect channel. Sunlight maintains both 
channels to provide diversification of funding sources, access to funding for different types of loan products and for other 
strategic purposes. The ability of Sunlight to allocate loans to various capital providers, as well as the availability of the 
two different funding channels, creates flexibility and allows Sunlight to respond nimbly to shifting market conditions.

Direct channel capital providers fund Sunlight-facilitated solar or home improvement loans one-by-one directly onto their 
balance sheet via Orange®. Sunlight’s direct channel capital providers are depository institutions with the power and 
authority to originate loans such as banks and credit unions. Generally, direct channel capital providers choose to service 
the loans they originate.

In the indirect channel, Sunlight’s allocation engine directs that certain solar and home improvement loans be funded on 
the balance sheet of Sunlight’s intermediary bank partner. These loans are aggregated, pooled and sold to indirect 
channel capital providers that cannot, or do not wish to, directly originate solar loans. The indirect channel capital provider 
relationship allows Sunlight to access a broader range of capital, which may include, among others, credit funds, 
insurance companies and pension funds. Indirect channel capital providers present a unique opportunity for Sunlight to 
access high quality and significant sources of funding that are diverse from traditional depository sources.
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Cash Flow and Liquidity Analysis

Sunlight assesses liquidity primarily in terms of its ability to generate cash to fund operating and financing activities. 
Sunlight has historically generated increasing amounts of cash from operating activities, and management believes that 
Sunlight is in a strong financial and liquidity position. Sunlight’s cash from operating activities are generally derived from 
platform fees which are fully earned at the funding of a loan by direct channel capital providers and the purchase of a loan 
from our bank partner’s balance sheet by an indirect channel capital provider. Refer to “Critical Accounting Policies and 
Estimates” and Item 1A. “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a full description of the related estimates, 
assumptions, and judgments.

The Combined Annual Period Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2020 (Predecessor)

The following provides a summary of cash flow data for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (in thousands):

Successor Predecessor Predecessor
For the Period 
July 10, 2021 
to December 

31, 2021

For the Period 
January 1, 

2021 to July 9, 
2021

Combined 
Annual 
Period

For the Year 
Ended 

December 31, 
2020

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ (18,565) $ 14,356 $ (4,209) $ 5,025 
Net cash used in investing activities  (308,012)  (1,404)  (309,416)  (4,803) 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  203,958  (2,025)  201,933  827 

Cash Flow from Operating Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2021, net cash used in operating activities was $4.2 million. Operating cash inflows for 
the year ended December 31, 2021 primarily consisted of proceeds from Sunlight’s direct channel capital providers to 
fund, and indirect channel capital provider to purchase, without duplication, loans of $2.1 billion, of which Sunlight paid 
$2.0 billion to contractors; repayment of advances and prefunds of $1.7 billion (conversely, Sunlight advanced or 
prefunded $1.8 billion); and net interest expense paid of $1.0 million. Operating cash outflows primarily consisted of 
compensation and benefits of $58.3 million, information technology expenses of $3.9 million, and management fees paid 
to affiliates of $0.2 million.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, net cash provided by operating activities was $5.0 million. Operating cash inflows 
for the year ended December 31, 2020 primarily consisted of proceeds from Sunlight’s direct channel capital providers to 
fund, and indirect channel capital providers to purchase without duplication, loans of $1.3 billion, of which Sunlight paid 
$1.2 billion to contractors; repayment of advances and prefunds of $1.1 billion (conversely, Sunlight advanced or 
prefunded $1.1 billion); and net interest expense paid of $0.3 million. Operating cash outflows primarily consisted of 
compensation and benefits of $21.0 million, information technology expenses of $3.6 million, professional fees of $1.1 
million, and management fees paid to affiliates of $0.4 million.

Cash Flow from Investing Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2021, net cash used in investing activities was $309.4 million, of which $304.6 million 
represents cash paid for the acquisition of Sunlight Financial LLC as part of the Business Combination and the remaining 
activities involved recurring business activities consisting of cash paid to acquire loans and loan participations of $1.9 
million, net of $1.5 million in cash received as return of capital thereon, and $4.5 million paid to internally develop software 
and acquire property and equipment. For the year ended December 31, 2020, net cash used in investing activities was 
$4.8 million, consisting of cash paid to acquire loans and loan participations of $2.8 million, net of $1.3 million in cash 
received as return of capital thereon, and $3.3 million paid to internally develop software and acquire property and 
equipment.
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Cash Flow from Financing Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2021, net cash provided by financing activities was $201.9 million, which included a 
$250.0 million in proceeds from and equity raise, net of $19.6 million of related costs, and $26.4 million in tax payments 
made on share-based payments in connection with the Business Combination. The remaining uses of cash consisted of 
ongoing operations consisting of repayments of borrowings under Sunlight’s prior credit facilities of $14.8 million, net of 
borrowings of $20.7 million, distributions of $7.5 million, and $0.5 million payment of debt issuance costs. For the year 
ended December 31, 2020, net cash provided by financing activities was $0.8 million, consisting of borrowings of $8.7 
million, net of repayments of borrowings under Sunlight’s prior credit facilities of $5.9 million, and distributions of $2.0 
million.

Long-Term Debt

On April 26, 2021, Sunlight entered into the Loan and Security Agreement with SVB. The Loan and Security Agreement, 
which replaces Sunlight’s prior $15.0 million credit facility, has a borrowing capacity of up to $30.0 million and matures on 
April 26, 2023. Borrowings under the Loan and Security Agreement accrue interest at a rate equal to the greater of (i) 
5.0% and (ii) the prime rate plus 1.75% per annum. The Loan and Security Agreement contains certain financial 
covenants, including (i) liquidity in an amount equal to or greater than (a) 35% of all outstanding principal amounts of any 
advances and (b) $10.0 million; (ii) Available Takeout Commitment Amount (as defined therein) in an amount equal to or 
greater than $200.0 million; and (iii) EBITDA (as defined therein) of at least $5.0 million for the six-month period ending on 
the last day of each month. The Loan and Security Agreement contains customary events of default. SVB could elect to 
accelerate the maturity of the loans and/or terminate the commitments under the Loan and Security Agreement upon the 
occurrence and during the continuation of an event of default, and Sunlight could be required to repay all amounts 
outstanding under the Loan and Security Agreement. In connection with the transition of accounts to SVB, Sunlight 
experienced a technical default that was waived by SVB. Otherwise, no defaults or events of default have occurred as of 
the date of this filing.

Other Changes in Financial Position

Year Ended December 31, 2021 

In addition to the changes in Sunlight’s financial position from December 31, 2020 to December 31, 2021 described in “—
Results of Operations” and “—Cash Flow and Liquidity Analysis,” the following activities also occurred:

• Restricted cash. The cash Sunlight holds subject to contractual restrictions decreased by $1.1 million resulting 
from a $0.6 million decrease in cash temporarily held by Sunlight in connection with Sunlight’s administration of 
loan participations on behalf of a third party.

• Goodwill. As result of the Business Combination, Sunlight recorded $670.5 million of goodwill, net of purchase 
price adjustments, representing the excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the identifiable 
net assets acquired. As of December 31, 2021, as result of Sunlight’s annual goodwill impairment analysis, 
Sunlight recorded an impairment charge of $224.7 million.

• Intangible Assets. As result of the Business Combination and the related purchase price allocation, Sunlight 
identified the intangible assets in related to contractor relationships, capital provider relationships, trademarks, 
and developed technology, recorded at a total fair value of $407.6 million at the Closing Date of the Business 
Combination, and carried at a value net of amortization over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis.

• Noncontrolling Interest. As result of the Business Combination and the revised organizational structure, certain 
unitholders of Sunlight Financial LLC received a new class of common units in Sunlight, the Class EX units 
(“Class EX Units”), as well as one share of Class C Common Stock of the Company, to replace their current 
holding of Class C units in Sunlight Financial LLC. The Class EX Units represent noncontrolling interests in 
Sunlight Financial LLC, valued at $427.2 million at the Closing Date.
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Other Factors Affecting Liquidity and Capital Resources

Unitholders’ Distribution

Predecessor

Pursuant to the Fourth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Sunlight Financial LLC, dated as 
of May 25, 2018, as amended or otherwise modified (the “Prior Sunlight LLC Agreement”), holders of Class A-1 Units, 
Class A-2 Units or Class A-3 Units (collectively, the “Class A Units”) were generally entitled to receive, with respect to each 
such Class A Unit, a preferred return on a quarterly basis. Sunlight Financial LLC’s board of directors could have elected 
to pay this return in cash or by issuing additional Class A Units to each such holder. If the board of directors elected to pay 
this return in cash, Sunlight Financial LLC would have paid such in an amount equal to $12.50, $15.22, and $24.06 per 
unit per annum to the Class A-1, Class A-2, and Class A-3 Units. If the board of directors elected to pay this return in 
additional units, Sunlight Financial LLC would have issued a number of units equal to 14.5% of each such holders 
outstanding units, on an annualized basis. Sunlight Financial LLC’s board of directors elected to pay this return in the form 
of additional Class A Units for all periods through the date of the Business Combination. In addition, the Prior Sunlight LLC 
Agreement also provided that members of Sunlight Financial LLC were entitled to be paid certain tax distributions on a pro 
rata basis in accordance with their relative tax obligation from available cash and subject to certain customary limitations 
on distributions.

Successor

Sunlight Financial LLC replaced the Prior Sunlight LLC Agreement with the Sunlight A&R LLC Agreement, which was 
entered into concurrently with the closing of the Business Combination. Under the Sunlight A&R LLC Agreement, SL 
Financial Holdings Inc., as the sole managing member of Sunlight Financial LLC, has the right to determine when 
distributions will be made to the holders of Sunlight Units (as defined therein) and the amount of any such distributions, 
except that Sunlight Financial LLC is required to make distributions to the extent and in an amount such that the Sunlight 
Unitholders, including Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc., receive certain tax-related distributions and to make distributions in 
the event of dissolution. If a distribution is paid to the members of Sunlight Financial LLC, such distribution will be made to 
the holders of Sunlight Units on a pro rata basis in accordance with their respective percentage ownership of Sunlight 
Units. Funds used by Sunlight to satisfy its tax distribution obligations will not be available for reinvestment in its business, 
except to the extent Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. uses any excess cash it receives to reinvest in Sunlight Financial LLC 
for additional Sunlight Units.

The holders of Sunlight Class X Units and Sunlight Class EX Units, including SL Financial Holdings Inc., will generally 
incur U.S. federal, state and local income taxes on their share of any net taxable income of Sunlight Financial LLC. Net 
income and losses of Sunlight Financial LLC generally will be allocated to the holders of Sunlight Class X Units and 
Sunlight Class EX Units on a pro rata basis in accordance with their respective percentage ownership of Sunlight Class X 
Units and Sunlight Class EX Units, subject to requirements under U.S. federal income tax law that certain items of 
income, gain, loss or deduction be allocated disproportionately in certain circumstances. To the extent that Sunlight has 
legally available cash (including borrowings available under the new credit facility or other debt arrangements) and subject 
to the terms of any current or future debt instruments, the Sunlight A&R LLC Agreement requires Sunlight Financial LLC to 
make pro rata cash distributions to all holders of Sunlight Units, including Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc., (1) first, in an 
amount sufficient to allow Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries to satisfy their actual tax 
liabilities and obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement except to the extent (i) based on the written advice of legal 
counsel, the distribution may reasonably constitute a fraudulent conveyance, or (ii) the terms of any financing necessary 
to make such tax distribution could reasonably, in the good faith judgment of SL Financial Holdings Inc., cause Sunlight 
Financial LLC to become insolvent within the twelve (12) month period following the date of such distribution, and (2) 
thereafter to the extent necessary, in an amount generally intended to allow Sunlight Unitholders, including Sunlight 
Financial Holdings Inc., to satisfy their respective income tax liabilities with respect to their allocable share of income of 
Sunlight Financial LLC, based on certain assumptions and conventions (including an assumed income tax rate) and after 
taking into account other distributions (including prior tax distributions) made by Sunlight Financial LLC.

Tax Receivable Agreement (Successor)

On the Closing Date, Sunlight entered into the Tax Receivable Agreement with the TRA Holders and the Agent (as defined 
therein). The Tax Receivable Agreement generally provides for the payment by Sunlight to the Agent, for disbursement to 
the TRA Holders on a pro rata basis, of 85% of the net cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state and local income tax and 
franchise tax that Sunlight actually realizes (or is deemed to realize in certain circumstances) in periods after the Closing 
Date as a result of (i) certain increases in tax basis that occur as a result of Sunlight’s acquisition (or deemed acquisition 
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for U.S. federal income tax purposes) of all or a portion of a TRA Holder’s Sunlight Class EX Units upon the exercise of 
the redemption or call rights set forth in the Sunlight A&R LLC Agreement and (ii) imputed interest deemed to be paid by 
Sunlight as a result of, and additional tax basis arising from, any payments Sunlight makes under the Tax Receivable 
Agreement. Sunlight will retain the benefit of the remainder of the actual net cash savings, if any.

If Sunlight elects to terminate the Tax Receivable Agreement early or if it is terminated early due to Sunlight’s failure to 
honor a material obligation thereunder or due to a Change of Control (as defined in the Tax Receivable Agreement), 
Sunlight will be required to make a payment equal to the deemed present value of the anticipated future payments to be 
made by it under the Tax Receivable Agreement (based upon certain assumptions and deemed events set forth in the Tax 
Receivable Agreement), which amount may substantially exceed the actual cash tax savings realized by Sunlight. In the 
case of an early termination upon a Change of Control, such early termination payment may, at Sunlight election, be paid 
ratably over the two-year period following the Change of Control.

Operating Lease Obligations

Sunlight’s operating lease obligations consist of its lease of real property from third parties under noncancellable operating 
leases, including the lease of its current office spaces. Sunlight leases office space at two locations: (i) 101 N. Tryon 
Street, Suite 1000, Charlotte, North Carolina 28246 (the “North Carolina Office Space”) and (ii) 234 West 39th Street, 7th 
Floor, New York, New York 10018 (the “New York Office Space”). The operating lease rent expense for the North Carolina 
Office Space was $0.4 million and $0.3 million for the Successor Period and Predecessor Annual Period, respectively, and 
$0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The lease for the North Carolina Office Space will expire in June 
2029. The operating lease rent expense for the New York Office Space was $0.2 million and $0.2 million for the Successor 
Period and Predecessor Annual Period, respectively, and $0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The lease 
for the New York Office Space is scheduled to expire in October 2022. 

Available Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2021, Sunlight’s cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash was $93.9 million. The restricted cash 
held by Sunlight primarily relates to a cash reserve that Sunlight’s bank partner requires to secure Sunlight’s short-term 
guarantee obligations of certain loans temporarily held by Sunlight’s bank partner. The contractual cash reserve is the 
difference between (a) the average original issue discount percentage of loans originated and held by Sunlight’s bank 
partner and (b) a contractual minimum original issue discount percentage, multiplied by the balance of the loans on the 
bank partner’s balance sheet at a given time. Sunlight guarantees the loans between the time the bank partner originates 
such loans and the time Sunlight arranges the sale of such loans to a Sunlight indirect channel capital provider.

Sunlight’s liquidity and its ability to fund its capital requirements is dependent on its future financial performance, which is 
subject to general economic, financial and other factors that are beyond its control and many of which are described under 
Item 1A. “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. If those factors significantly change or other unexpected 
factors adversely affect Sunlight, Sunlight’s business may not generate sufficient cash flow from operations or it may not 
be able to obtain future financings to meet its liquidity needs.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure used by Sunlight’s management to evaluate operating performance, 
generate future operating plans, and make strategic decisions, including those relating to operating expenses and the 
allocation of internal resources. Accordingly, Sunlight believes this measure provides useful information to investors and 
others in understanding and evaluating Sunlight’s operating results in the same manner as Sunlight’s management and 
board of directors. In addition, Adjusted EBITDA provides a useful measure for period-to-period comparisons of Sunlight’s 
business, as it removes the effect of certain non-cash items, variable charges, non-recurring items, unrealized gains or 
losses or other similar non-cash items that are included in net income or expenses associated with the early stages of the 
business that are expected to ultimately terminate, pursuant to the terms of certain existing contractual arrangements or 
expected to continue at levels materially below the historical level, or that otherwise do not contribute directly to 
management’s evaluation of its operating results. Adjusted EBITDA is defined as net income excluding interest expense 
incurred in connection with Sunlight’s debt obligations, income taxes, amortization and depreciation expense, stock-based 
compensation expense, non-cash changes in certain financial instruments, fees paid to brokers related to the funding of 
loans by certain of Sunlight’s capital providers that will terminate pursuant to existing contractual arrangements, certain 
transaction bonuses and other expenses resulting from the Business Combination, and other items that management has 
determined are not reflective of Sunlight’s operating performance.

Adjusted Net Income

Adjusted Net Income is a non-GAAP financial measure used by Sunlight’s management to evaluate operating 
performance. Accordingly, Sunlight believes this measure provides useful information to investors and others in 
understanding and evaluating Sunlight’s operating results in the same manner as Sunlight’s management and board of 
directors. In addition, Adjusted Net Income provides a useful measure for period-to-period comparisons of Sunlight’s 
business, as it removes the effect of certain non-cash items, variable charges, non-recurring items, unrealized gains or 
losses or other similar non-cash items that are included in net income. Adjusted Net Income is defined as net income 
excluding non-cash changes in certain financial instruments, certain transaction bonuses and other expenses resulting 
from the Business Combination, and other items that management has determined are not reflective of Sunlight’s 
operating performance.

Free Cash Flow

Free Cash Flow is a non-GAAP financial measure that Sunlight uses to indicate cash flow generated by Sunlight’s 
operations. Sunlight believes that Free Cash Flow is a supplemental financial measure useful as an indicator of Sunlight’s 
ability to generate cash. Sunlight’s calculation of Free Cash Flow, however, may not necessarily be comparable to similar 
measures presented by other companies. Specifically, Sunlight defines Free Cash Flow as cash from operating activities 
adjusted for changes in working capital (including changes in advances and funding commitments), capital expenditures, 
certain restricted cash items, business combination costs, and other items that management has determined are not 
reflective of cash generation in Sunlight’s business.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of net income to Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted EBITDA and Free Cash Flow 
as well as cash from operating activities to free cash flow for the Successor Period, Predecessor Annual Period, the 
Combined Annual Period, and year ended December 31, 2020 (in thousands):

Successor Predecessor Predecessor
For the Period 

July 10, 2021 to 
December 31, 

2021

For the Period 
January 1, 2021 
to July 9, 2021

Combined 
Annual Period

For the Year 
Ended 

December 31, 
2020

Net Income (Loss) $ (247,084) $ 6,131 $ (240,953) $ 10,624 
Adjustments for adjusted net income (loss)

Amortization of Business Combination intangibles  43,152  —  43,152  — 
Non-cash change in financial instruments  (23,039)  5,547  (17,492)  4,709 
Intangible impairment  224,701  —  224,701  — 
Accelerated postcombination compensation expense  20,979  —  20,979  — 
Expenses from the Business Combination  3,080  7,011  10,091  878 

Adjusted Net Income (Loss)  21,789  18,689  40,478  16,211 
Adjustments for adjusted EBITDA

Depreciation and amortization  237  1,688  1,925  3,231 
Interest expense  554  604  1,158  829 
Income tax expense (benefit)  (3,504)  —  (3,504)  — 
Equity-based compensation  8,667  18  8,685  126 
Fees paid to brokers  1,901  2,261  4,162  3,561 

Adjusted EBITDA  29,644  23,260  52,904  23,958 
Adjustments for net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Interest expense  (554)  (604)  (1,158)  (829) 
Income tax benefit (expense)  3,504  —  3,504  — 
Fees paid to brokers  (1,901)  (2,261)  (4,162)  (3,561) 
Expenses from the Business Combination  (3,080)  (7,011)  (10,091)  (878) 
Provision for losses  1,217  1,172  2,389  1,350 
Changes in operating capital and other  (47,395)  (200)  (47,595)  (15,015) 

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities  (18,565)  14,356  (4,209)  5,025 
Adjustments for free cash flow(a)

Capital expenditures  (1,873)  (1,295)  (3,168)  (3,280) 
Changes in advances, net of funding commitments  22,956  6,013  28,969  19,000 
Changes in restricted cash  1,826  (108)  1,718  (1,193) 
Payments of Business Combination costs  1,770  6,549  8,319  — 
Other changes in working capital  13,310  (590)  12,720  (10,552) 

Free Cash Flow $ 19,424 $ 24,925 $ 44,349 $ 9,000 

a. Sunlight updated adjustments to net cash provided by operating activities for the period January 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021 to reflect certain 
excluded items.

The following table presents a calculation of Adjusted Net Income per diluted Class A share (USD in thousands, except 
per share amounts):

Successor
For the Period 

July 10, 2021 to 
December 31, 

2021
Adjusted Net Income (Loss) $ 21,789 

Adjusted Net Income (Loss) per Class A Share, Diluted $ 0.13 

Weighted-average Class A Shares
Class A Shares 86,373,596
Class EX Units 47,595,455
Restricted Stock Units 2,085,501
Warrants 27,777,780

163,832,332
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of Sunlight’s financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates, 
assumptions and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the 
reporting period. Management makes subjective estimates and assumptions about future events that affect the amounts 
reported in Sunlight’s financial statements and accompanying notes. These estimates significantly impact revenues, 
determinations of fair value and the recognition of interest income on financing receivables and loss allowances thereon.

In accordance with Sunlight’s policies, Sunlight regularly evaluates its estimates, assumptions and judgments, and bases 
its estimates, assumptions and judgments on its historical experience and on factors Sunlight believes reasonable under 
the circumstances. The results involve judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities not readily apparent 
from other sources. If Sunlight’s assumptions or conditions change, the actual results Sunlight reports may significantly 
differ from these estimates.

Sunlight believes the estimates and assumptions underlying its consolidated financial statements are reasonable and 
supportable based on the information available as of December 31, 2021; however, uncertainty over the ultimate impact 
COVID-19 will have on the global economy generally, and on Sunlight’s business, makes any estimates and assumptions 
as of December 31, 2021 inherently less certain than they would be absent the current and potential impacts of 
COVID-19.

See Note 2 “—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in the notes accompanying Sunlight’s financial statements 
included elsewhere herein for a summary of Sunlight’s significant accounting policies, and discussion of recent accounting 
pronouncements. Sunlight believes that the following discussion addresses Sunlight’s most critical accounting policies, 
which are those that are most important to the portrayal of Sunlight’s financial condition and results of operations and 
require management’s most difficult, subjective and complex judgments.

Platform Fees

Sunlight is a business-to-business-to-consumer, technology-enabled POS financing platform that provides residential 
solar and home improvement contractors the ability to offer seamless POS financing to their customers when purchasing 
residential solar systems or other home improvements. The resulting loans are funded by Sunlight’s network of capital 
providers who, by partnering with Sunlight, gain access to a difficult-to-reach loan market, best-in-class consumer credit 
underwriting and attractive risk adjusted returns. These loans are facilitated by Orange®, through which Sunlight offers 
instant credit decisions to homeowners nationwide at the POS on behalf of Sunlight’s various capital providers. Sunlight 
recognizes platform fees as revenues at the time that direct channel partners or indirect channel loan purchasers obtain 
control of the service provided to facilitate their origination or purchase of a loan, which is no earlier than when Sunlight 
delivers loan documentation to the customer. Sunlight wholly satisfies its performance obligation to direct channel 
partners, bank partner and indirect channel loan purchasers upon origination or purchase of a loan. Sunlight considers 
rebates offered by Sunlight to certain contractors in exchange for volume commitments as variable components to 
transaction prices; such variability resolves upon the contractor’s satisfaction of their volume commitment. For outstanding 
volume commitments that require the contractor to deliver future loan volume, Sunlight reduces platform fee revenues it 
recognizes based on its estimates of the contractor’s delivery of future loan volume, which require significant judgment 
and are based, in part, upon the contractor’s historical volume delivery and Sunlight’s estimates of the contractor’s ability 
and likelihood to deliver future volume.

Sunlight’s contract pursuant to which its intermediary bank partner originates home improvement loans is considered a 
derivative under GAAP. As such, Sunlight’s revenues exclude the platform fees that Sunlight earns in connection with this 
contract. Instead, Sunlight estimates the fair value of the contract derivative based upon the present value of net cash 
flows Sunlight expects to collect under the contract, which predominately consist of the difference of the proceeds Sunlight 
expects to collect from an indirect channel capital provider at purchase of the loans by such capital provider (the principal 
balance of loans purchased less the relevant capital provider discount plus unpaid accrued interest on the loans to the 
date of purchase) and any amounts Sunlight owes to its bank partner in connection with such loans. Upon sale, Sunlight 
reverses the unrealized estimated fair value of the contract derivative for the loans sold and recognizes the net cash 
Sunlight receives from the sale within “Realized Gains on Contract Derivative, Net” in Sunlight’s consolidated statement of 
operations.

Sunlight is obligated to repurchase non-performing loans originated by its bank partner from the date of origination to the 
date the loans are purchased from Sunlight’s bank partner by a Sunlight indirect channel capital provider. Sunlight does 
not record loans originated by its bank partner on its consolidated balance sheets (as Sunlight is not the originator of the 
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loans), but Sunlight does record a liability for the losses Sunlight reasonably expects to incur in connection with Sunlight’s 
guarantee of its bank partner. Sunlight’s measurement of this liability is subject to significant judgement using historical 
loss experiences to estimate the likelihood that the guaranteed loans will default prior to sale and the severity of the loss 
Sunlight expects to incur. At December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the unpaid principal balance of loans, net of 
applicable discounts, for guaranteed loans held by Sunlight’s bank partner and delinquent more than 90 days was $0.1 
million and $0.6 million, respectively.

Financing Receivables

Sunlight records financing receivables for (a) advances that Sunlight remits to contractors to facilitate the installation of 
residential solar systems and (b) loans purchased by Sunlight pursuant to the terms of its contracts with its various capital 
providers and certain five percent (5%) loan participations purchased by Sunlight. Sunlight uses significant judgement in 
its recognition of interest income and impairment of financing receivables.

Interest Income

Loans (including Sunlight’s participation interests in such loans) with respect to which Sunlight expects to collect the 
unpaid principal balance and interest payments as they become due are considered performing loans. Sunlight accrues 
interest income on performing loans based on the unpaid principal balance and contractual terms of the loan. Interest 
income also includes discounts associated with the loans purchased as a yield adjustment using the interest method, or 
on a straight-line basis when it approximates the interest method, over the loan term. Sunlight expenses loan origination 
costs for loans acquired by Sunlight (including its participation interests in loans) as incurred. Sunlight does not accrue 
interest on loans placed on non-accrual status or on loans where the collectability of the principal or interest of the loan 
are deemed uncertain.

Loans are considered past due or delinquent if the required principal and interest payments have not been received as of 
the date such payments are due. Generally, loans, including impaired loans, are placed on non-accrual status (i) when 
either principal or interest payments are 90 days or more past due based on contractual terms or (ii) when an individual 
analysis of a borrower’s creditworthiness indicates a loan should be placed on non-accrual status. When a loan owned by 
Sunlight is placed on non-accrual status, Sunlight ceases to recognize interest income on the loans and reverses 
previously accrued and unpaid interest, if any. Subsequent receipts on non-accrual loans are recorded as a reduction of 
principal, and interest income may only be recorded on a cash basis after recovery of principal is reasonably assured. 
Sunlight may return a loan to accrual status when repayment of principal and interest is reasonably assured under the 
terms of the loan or the restructured loan, as the case may be.

Advances made to contractors under Sunlight’s contractor advances program or prefunding program are created at par 
and do not bear, and therefore do not accrue, interest income.

Allowance for Losses

The allowance for financing receivable losses represents Sunlight’s best estimate of probable credit losses arising from 
financing receivables. Sunlight’s allowance for financing receivable losses is evaluated at least quarterly, and based upon 
management’s assessment of several factors including historical losses, changes in the nature and volume of financing 
receivables, overall portfolio quality, and existing economic conditions that may affect the customer’s ability to pay. 
Although management uses the best information available, the evaluation of these indicators of impairment requires 
significant judgment by Sunlight’s management to determine whether failure to collect contractual amounts is probable as 
well as in estimating the resulting loss allowance. Future adjustments to the allowance for financing receivable losses may 
be necessary due to economic, operating, regulatory and other conditions beyond Sunlight’s control. Sunlight believes 
that its allowance for financing receivable losses is adequate to cover probable loan losses. However, actual losses, if any, 
could materially differ from management’s estimates.

Provision for Income Taxes

Sunlight accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are determined based on differences between the consolidated financial statement carrying amounts and tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards and are measured using the enacted tax 
rates that are expected to be in effect when the differences reverse. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a 
change in tax rates is recognized in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations in the period that includes 
the enactment date. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to an amount 
that, in the opinion of management, is more likely than not to be realized.
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Sunlight accounts for uncertain tax positions by reporting a liability for unrecognizable tax benefits resulting from uncertain 
tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. Sunlight recognizes interest and penalties, if any, related to 
unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense.

Judgment is required in assessing the future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in Sunlight’s 
consolidated financial statements or tax returns. Variations in the actual outcome of these future tax consequences could 
materially impact Sunlight’s consolidated financial statements.

Derivative Asset

Sunlight’s contract under which Sunlight arranges loans for the purchase and installation of home improvements other 
than residential solar energy systems contain features determined to be embedded derivatives from its host. Embedded 
derivatives are separated from the host contract and carried at fair value when the embedded derivative possesses 
economic characteristics that are not clearly and closely related to the economic characteristics of the host contract and a 
separate, standalone instrument with the same terms would qualify as a derivative instrument. The derivative is measured 
both initially and in subsequent periods at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized on the statement of operations.

Sunlight uses a discounted cash flow model to value its derivative asset using various key assumptions, such as 
estimation of the timing and probability of expected future cash flows and selection of a discount rate applied to future 
cash flows using Sunlight’s implied credit risk.

Sunlight Rewards™ Program

The Sunlight Rewards™ Program is a proprietary loyalty program that Sunlight offers to salespeople selling residential 
solar systems for Sunlight’s network of contractors. Sunlight records a contingent liability under Financial Accounting 
Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 450-20, Loss Contingencies using the 
estimated incremental cost of each point based upon the points earned, the point redemption value, and an estimated 
probability of point redemption consistent with Sunlight’s historical redemption experience under the program. When a 
salesperson redeems points from Sunlight’s third-party loyalty program vendor, Sunlight pays the stated redemption value 
of the points redeemed to the vendor. If all points earned under the Sunlight Rewards™ Program were redeemed at 
December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, Sunlight would pay $3.0 million and $1.3 million, respectively, of which 
Sunlight recorded liabilities of $1.8 million and $0.8 million.

Business Combination

Sunlight evaluates its acquisition of assets and other similar transactions to assess whether or not the transaction should 
be accounted for as a business combination or asset acquisition by first applying a test to determine if substantially all of 
the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable 
assets. If the test is met, the transaction is accounted for as an asset acquisition. If the test is not met, further 
determination is required as to whether or not Sunlight acquired inputs and processes that have the ability to create 
outputs which would meet the definition of a business. Significant judgment is required in the application of the test to 
determine whether an acquisition is a business combination or an acquisition of assets.

Sunlight uses the acquisition method in accounting for acquired businesses. Under the acquisition method, Sunlight’s 
financial statements reflect the operations of an acquired business starting from the completion of the acquisition. The 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded at their respective estimated fair values at the date of the acquisition. 
Any excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as 
goodwill.

Determining estimated fair value requires a significant amount of judgment and estimates. If Sunlight’s assumptions 
change or errors are determined in its calculations, the fair value could materially change resulting in a change in our 
goodwill or identifiable net assets acquired, including identified intangible assets.
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Emerging Growth Company

As an “emerging growth company,” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities 
Act”), as modified by the JOBS Act, Sunlight is eligible to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting 
requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not “emerging growth companies.” Section 107 of the 
JOBS Act provides that an “emerging growth company” can take advantage of the extended transition period provided in 
Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act for complying with new or revised accounting standards. In other words, an 
“emerging growth company” can delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise 
apply to private companies. Unless otherwise stated, Sunlight elects to adopt recent accounting pronouncements using 
the extended transition period applicable to private companies. Accordingly, the information contained herein may be 
different than the information you receive from other public companies.

Sunlight also intends to take advantage of some of the reduced regulatory and reporting requirements of emerging growth 
companies pursuant to the JOBS Act so long as Sunlight qualifies as an emerging growth company, including, but not 
limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation and exemptions from the requirements of holding 
non-binding advisory votes on executive compensation and golden parachute payments.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Issued, But Not Yet Adopted

See Note 2 “—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in the notes accompanying Sunlight’s consolidated financial 
statements.

Related Party Transactions

See Note 9 “—Transactions with Affiliates and Affiliated Entities” in the notes accompanying Sunlight’s consolidated 
financial statements.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Sunlight is a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended 
(the “Exchange Act”) and not required to provide the information otherwise required under this item.
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Report of RSM US LLP (PCAOB ID 49), Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors 
Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc.
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. and its subsidiaries 
(the Company) as of December 31, 2021 (Successor) and Sunlight Financial LLC and subsidiary as of December 31, 
2020 (Predecessor), the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in equity and cash flows for the period 
from July 10, 2021 to December 31, 2021 (Successor), the period from January 1, 2021 to July 9, 2021 (Predecessor), 
and the year ended December 31, 2020 (Predecessor), and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements 
(collectively, the financial statements). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2021 (Successor) and December 31, 2020 (Predecessor), and the 
results of its operations and its cash flows for the period from July 10, 2021 to December 31, 2021 (Successor), the period 
from January 1, 2021 to July 9, 2021 (Predecessor), and the year ended December 31, 2020 (Predecessor), in conformity 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
 
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to 
the Company in accordance with U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities 
and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an 
audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of 
internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
 
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also 
included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
 
/s/ RSM US LLP
 
We have served as the Company's auditor since 2018.
 
New York, New York
March 29, 2022

63



SUNLIGHT FINANCIAL HOLDINGS INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(dollars in thousands)
Successor Predecessor

December 31, 
2021

December 31, 
2020

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 91,882 $ 49,583 
Restricted cash  2,018  3,122 
Advances (net of allowance for credit losses of $238 and $121)  66,839  35,280 
Financing receivables (net of allowance for credit losses of $148 and $125)  4,313  5,333 
Goodwill  445,756  — 
Intangible assets, net  365,839  4,533 
Property and equipment, net  4,069  1,192 
Other assets  21,531  7,030 

Total assets $ 1,002,247 $ 106,073 

Liabilities, Temporary Equity, and Members' Equity
Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 23,386 $ 15,782 
Funding commitments  22,749  18,386 
Debt  20,613  14,625 
Distributions payable  —  7,522 
Deferred tax liabilities  36,686  — 
Warrants, at fair value  19,007  5,643 
Other liabilities  843  1,502 

Total liabilities  123,284  63,460 

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 10)

Temporary Equity (Predecessor)
Preferred class A-3 unit members' capital; 376,395 units authorized, issued, and outstanding as of 
December 31, 2020  —  260,428 
Preferred class A-2 unit members' capital; 225,972 units authorized, issued, and outstanding as of 
December 31, 2020  —  154,286 
Preferred class A-1 unit members' capital; 296,302 units authorized, issued, and outstanding as of 
December 31, 2020  —  202,045 
Common unit members' capital; 78,717 units authorized, issued, and outstanding as of December 31, 2020  —  47,757 

Stockholders' Equity
Other ownership interests' capital (Predecessor)  —  1,439 
Preferred stock (Successor); $0.0001 par value; 35,000,000 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding 
as of December 31, 2021  —  — 
Class A common stock (Successor); $0.0001 par value; 420,000,000 shares authorized; 86,373,596 issued; 
and 84,803,687 outstanding as of December 31, 2021  9  — 
Class B common stock (Successor); $0.0001 par value; 20,000,000 shares authorized; none issued and 
outstanding as of December 31, 2021  —  — 
Class C common stock (Successor); $0.0001 par value; 65,000,000 shares authorized; 47,595,455 issued 
and outstanding as of December 31, 2021  —  — 
Additional paid-in capital  764,366  — 
Accumulated deficit  (186,022)  (623,342) 

Total capital  578,353  (621,903) 
Treasury stock, at cost; 1,569,909 Class A shares as of December 31, 2021  (15,535)  — 

Total stockholders' equity  562,818  (621,903) 
Noncontrolling interests in consolidated subsidiaries  316,145  — 

Total equity  878,963  (621,903) 
Total liabilities, temporary equity, and stockholders' equity $ 1,002,247 $ 106,073 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SUNLIGHT FINANCIAL HOLDINGS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(dollars in thousands except per share amounts)
Successor Predecessor

For the 
Period July 
10, 2021 to 
December 
31, 2021

For the 
Period 

January 1, 
2021 to July 

9, 2021

For the Year 
Ended 

December 
31, 2020

Revenue $ 61,674 $ 53,064 $ 69,564 
Costs and Expenses

Cost of revenues (exclusive of items shown separately below) 9,873 10,556 13,711 
Compensation and benefits 44,996 17,162 26,174 
Selling, general, and administrative 7,419 3,450 3,806 
Property and technology 3,088 2,790 4,304 
Depreciation and amortization 43,389 1,688 3,231 
Provision for losses 1,217 1,172 1,350 
Goodwill impairment 224,701 — — 
Management fees to affiliate — 204 400 

334,683 37,022 52,976 
Operating income (loss) (273,009) 16,042 16,588 

Other Income (Expense), Net
Interest income 149 262 520 
Interest expense (554) (604) (829)
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities 22,583 (5,504) (5,510) 
Change in fair value of contract derivatives, net 638 (662) 1,435
Realized gains on contract derivatives, net 2,866 2,992 103 
Other realized losses, net — — (171) 
Other income (expense) (181) 616 (634) 
Business combination expenses (3,080) (7,011) (878) 

22,421 (9,911) (5,964) 
Net Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes (250,588) 6,131 10,624 

Income tax benefit (expense) 3,504 — — 
Net Income (Loss) (247,084) 6,131 10,624 

Noncontrolling interests in loss of consolidated subsidiaries 87,528 — — 
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Class A Shareholders $ (159,556) $ 6,131 $ 10,624 

Loss Per Class A Share
Net loss per Class A share

Basic $ (1.87) 
Diluted $ (1.87) 

Weighted average number of Class A shares outstanding
Basic 84,824,109
Diluted 84,824,109

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SUNLIGHT FINANCIAL HOLDINGS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(dollars in thousands)
Successor Predecessor

For the 
Period July 
10, 2021 to 

December 31, 
2021

For the 
Period 

January 1, 
2021 to July 

9, 2021

For the Year 
Ended 

December 31, 
2020

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net income (loss) $ (247,084) $ 6,131 $ 10,624 
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization  43,389  1,782  3,338 
Goodwill impairment  224,701  —  — 
Provision for losses  1,217  1,172  1,350 
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities  (22,583)  5,504  5,510 
Change in fair value of contract derivatives, net  (638)  662  (1,435) 
Other expense (income)  181  (616)  634 
Share-based payment arrangements  29,646  18  126 
Deferred income tax expense (benefit)  (5,524)  —  — 

Increase (decrease) in operating capital:
Increase in advances  (24,219)  (7,314)  (17,877) 
Decrease (increase) in due from affiliates  1,839  (1,839)  — 
Decrease (increase) in other assets  (16,367)  2,129  (3,000) 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued expenses  (3,476)  2,327  6,918 
Increase (decrease) in funding commitments  1,263  3,100  (1,123) 
Increase (decrease) in due to affiliates  (761)  761  — 
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities  (149)  539  (40) 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities  (18,565)  14,356  5,025 

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Return of investments in loan pool participation and loan principal repayments  710  832  1,316 
Payments to acquire loans and participations in loan pools  (716)  (1,170)  (2,839) 
Payments to acquire property and equipment  (3,436)  (1,066)  (3,280) 
Payments to acquire Sunlight Financial LLC, net of cash acquired  (304,570)  —  — 

Net cash used in investing activities  (308,012)  (1,404)  (4,803) 

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Proceeds from borrowings under line of credit  —  20,746  8,713 
Repayments of borrowings under line of credit  —  (14,758)  (5,899) 
Proceeds from issuance of private placement  250,000  —  — 
Payments of stock issuance costs  (19,618)  —  — 
Payments for share-based payment tax withholding  (26,424)  —  — 
Payment of capital distributions  —  (7,522)  (1,987) 
Payment of debt issuance costs  —  (491)  — 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  203,958  (2,025)  827 

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash  (122,619)  10,927  1,049 

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash, Beginning of Period  216,519  52,705  51,656 

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash, End of Period $ 93,900 $ 63,632 $ 52,705 

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information
Cash paid during the period for interest $ 527 $ 537 $ 713 

Noncash Investing and Financing Activities
Distributions declared, but not paid $ — $ — $ 7,522 
Preferred dividends, paid in-kind  —  58,709  33,650 
Change in temporary equity redemption value  —  195,665  502,076 
Capital expenditures incurred but not yet paid  1,156  —  — 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollars in tables in thousands, except unit and per unit data)

Note 1. Organization and Business

Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, the “Company” or “Sunlight”) is a premier, 
technology-enabled point-of-sale finance company. Sunlight Financial LLC, its accounting predecessor and wholly-owned 
subsidiary, was organized as a Delaware limited liability company on January 23, 2014.

On July 9, 2021 (the “Closing Date”), the Company consummated the transactions contemplated by that certain Business 
Combination Agreement (the “Business Combination Agreement”), dated as of January 23, 2021, by and among Spartan 
Acquisition Corp. II, a Delaware corporation incorporated on August 17, 2020 as a publicly-traded special purpose 
acquisition company sponsored by funds managed by an affiliate of Apollo Global Management, Inc. (the “Sponsor”) and 
formed for the purpose of effecting a merger, capital stock exchange, asset acquisition, stock purchase, reorganization or 
similar business combination with one or more businesses (“Spartan”), Sunlight Financial LLC and the Spartan 
Subsidiaries, FTV Blocker and Tiger Blocker (each as defined in the Business Combination Agreement). On the Closing 
Date, Spartan changed its name to “Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc.” and Sunlight Financial LLC became the operating 
subsidiary of Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc., organized in an “Up-C” structure (the “Business Combination”). As a result 
of the Business Combination, the Company’s trading symbol on the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) was changed 
from “SPRQ” to “SUNL.”

All activity for the period from August 17, 2020 (Spartan’s inception) to the Closing Date relates to the Company's 
formation, initial public offering and private placement of equity (Note 6), and search for a prospective business 
combination. The Company did not generate any operating revenues until after completion of the Business Combination. 
Upon completion of the Business Combination, the Company assumed the operations of, and began to consolidate, 
Sunlight Financial LLC. Refer to “Note 2 — Basis of Presentation” regarding the presentation of the Company’s financial 
statements before and after the Business Combination.

Business — Sunlight operates a technology-enabled financial services platform within the United States of America, 
using a nationwide network of contractors at the point-of-sale, to offer homeowners secured and unsecured loans 
(“Loans”), originated by third-party lenders, for the purchase and installation of residential solar energy systems and other 
home improvements. Sunlight arranges for the origination of Loans by third-party lenders in two distinct ways:

Direct Channel Loans — Sunlight arranges for certain Loans (“Direct Channel Loans”) to be originated and retained by 
third parties (“Direct Channel Partners”). The Direct Channel Partners originate the Direct Channel Loans directly, using 
their own credit criteria. These Direct Channel Partners pay for Direct Channel Loans by remitting funds to Sunlight, and 
Sunlight is thereafter responsible for making the appropriate payments to the relevant contractor. Sunlight earns income 
from the difference between the cash amount paid by a Direct Channel Partner to Sunlight for a given Direct Channel 
Loan and the dollar amount due to the contractor for such Direct Channel Loan. Sunlight does not participate in the 
ongoing economics of the Direct Channel Loans and, generally, does not retain any obligations with respect thereto 
except for certain ongoing fee-based administrative services performed by Sunlight.

Indirect Channel Loans — Sunlight arranges for other Loans (“Indirect Channel Loans”) to be originated by Sunlight’s 
issuing bank partner (“Bank Partner”). Sunlight has entered into program agreements with its Bank Partner that govern the 
terms and conditions with respect to originating and servicing the Indirect Channel Loans and Sunlight pays its Bank 
Partner a fee based on the principal balance of Loans originated by Bank Partner. Sunlight’s Bank Partner funds these 
Loans by remitting funds to Sunlight, and Sunlight is thereafter responsible for making the appropriate payments to the 
relevant contractor. Sunlight arranges for the sale of certain Indirect Channel Loans, or participations therein, to third 
parties (“Indirect Channel Loan Purchasers”). 

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation — As a result of the Business Combination, for accounting purposes, Sunlight Financial Holdings 
Inc. is the acquirer and Sunlight Financial LLC is the acquiree and accounting predecessor. The financial statement 
presentation includes the financial statements of Sunlight Financial LLC as “Predecessor” for periods prior to the Closing 
Date and of the Company as “Successor” for the periods after the Closing Date, including the consolidation of Sunlight 
Financial LLC.
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The accompanying consolidated financial statements and related notes, prepared in accordance with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”), include the accounts of Sunlight and its consolidated subsidiaries. In the opinion 
of management, all adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation of Sunlight’s financial position, results of 
operations and cash flows have been included and are of a normal and recurring nature. All intercompany balances and 
transactions have been eliminated.

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period's presentation.

Emerging Growth Company — The Company is an “emerging growth company,” as defined in Section 2(a) of the 
Securities Act, as modified by the JOBS Act, and it may take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting 
requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies, including, but not 
limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
of 2002, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in its periodic reports and proxy statements, 
and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder 
approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. 

Further, Section 102(b)(1) of the JOBS Act exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply with new 
or revised financial accounting standards until private companies (that is, those that have not had a Securities Act 
registration statement declared effective or do not have a class of securities registered under the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934, as amended) are required to comply with the new or revised financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act 
provides that an emerging growth company can elect to opt out of the extended transition period and comply with the 
requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies but any such an election to opt out is irrevocable. The 
Company has elected not to opt out of such extended transition period, which means that when a standard is issued or 
revised and it has different application dates for public or private companies, the Company, as an emerging growth 
company, can adopt the new or revised standard at the time private companies adopt the new or revised standard. This 
may make comparison of the Company’s consolidated financial statements with another public company that is neither an 
emerging growth company nor an emerging growth company that has opted out of using the extended transition period 
difficult or impossible because of the potential differences in accounting standards used.

Consolidation — Sunlight consolidates those entities over which it controls significant operating, financial, and investing 
decisions of the entity as well as those entities deemed to be variable interest entities (“VIEs”) in which the Company is 
determined to be the primary beneficiary.

The analysis as to whether to consolidate an entity is subject to a significant amount of judgment. Some of the criteria 
considered are the determination as to the degree of control over an entity by its various equity holders, the design of the 
entity, how closely related the entity is to each of its equity holders, the relation of the equity holders to each other and a 
determination of the primary beneficiary in entities in which Sunlight has a variable interest. These analyses involve 
estimates, based on the assumptions of management, as well as judgments regarding significance and the design of 
entities.
 
VIEs are defined as entities in which equity investors do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do 
not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from 
other parties. A VIE is required to be consolidated by its primary beneficiary, and only by its primary beneficiary, which is 
defined as the party who has the power to direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly impact its economic 
performance and who has the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could potentially 
be significant to the VIE.
 
Sunlight monitors investments in VIEs and analyzes the potential need to consolidate the related entities pursuant to the 
VIE consolidation requirements. These analyses require considerable judgment in determining whether an entity is a VIE 
and determining the primary beneficiary of a VIE since they involve subjective determinations of significance, with respect 
to both power and economics. The result could be the consolidation of an entity that otherwise would not have been 
consolidated or the deconsolidation of an entity that otherwise would have been consolidated.

As a result of the Business Combination, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. is the managing 
member of Sunlight Financial LLC, in which existing unitholders hold a 35.0% noncontrolling interest at December 31, 
2021, net of unvested Class EX Units (Note 6).

Through its indirect managing member interest, Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. directs substantially all of the day-to-day 
activities of Sunlight Financial LLC. The third-party investors in Sunlight Financial LLC do not possess substantive 
participating rights or the power to direct the day-to-day activities that most directly affect the operations of Sunlight 
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Financial LLC. However, these third-party investors hold both voting, noneconomic Class C shares in Sunlight Financial 
Holdings Inc. on a one-for-one basis along with nonvoting, economic Class EX Units issued by Sunlight Financial LLC. No 
single third-party investor, or group of third-party investors, possesses the substantive ability to remove the managing 
member of Sunlight Financial LLC. Sunlight considers Sunlight Financial LLC a VIE for consolidation purposes and its 
managing members holds the controlling interest and is the primary beneficiary. Therefore, Sunlight consolidates Sunlight 
Financial LLC and reflects Class EX unitholder interests in Sunlight Financial LLC held by third parties as noncontrolling 
interests.

Sunlight conducts substantially all operations through Sunlight Financial LLC and its consolidated subsidiary. 

Segments — Sunlight operates through one operating and reportable segment, which reflects how the chief operating 
decision maker allocates resources and assesses performance. Sunlight arranges for the origination of Loans by third-
party lenders using a predominately single expense pool.

Risks and Uncertainties — In the normal course of business, Sunlight primarily encounters credit risk, which is the risk 
of default on Sunlight’s investments that results from a borrower’s or counterparty’s inability or unwillingness to make 
contractually required payments.

Use of Estimates — The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the 
reporting period. Management makes subjective estimates of pending loan originations and sales, which significantly 
impacts revenues; determinations of fair value, including goodwill; estimates regarding loan performance, which impacts 
impairments and allowances for loan losses; the useful lives of intangible assets; and the forfeiture of equity-based 
awards affecting expenses recognized. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Fair Value — GAAP requires the categorization of the fair value of financial instruments into three broad levels that form a 
hierarchy based on the transparency of inputs to the valuation.

Level Measurement
1 Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement 

date.
2 Inputs are other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. 

Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, and inputs other than 
quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability.

3 Inputs are unobservable for the asset or liability, and include situations where there is little, if any, market 
activity for the asset or liability.

Sunlight follows this hierarchy for its financial instruments, with classifications based on the lowest level of input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement. The following summarizes Sunlight’s financial instruments hierarchy at 
December 31, 2021: 

Level Financial Instrument Measurement
1 Cash and cash equivalents 

and restricted cash
Estimates of fair value are measured using observable, quoted market 
prices, or Level 1 inputs

Public Warrants Estimates of fair value are measured using observable, quoted market 
prices of Sunlight’s warrants.

3 Loans and loan 
participations, held-for-
investment

Estimated fair value is generally determined by discounting the expected 
future cash flows using inputs such as discount rates.

Contract derivative Estimated fair value based upon discounted expected future cash flows 
arising from the contract.

Private Placement 
Warrants

Estimated fair value based upon quarterly valuation estimates of warrant 
instruments, based upon quoted prices of Sunlight’s Class A shares and 
warrants thereon as well as fair value inputs provided by an independent 
valuation firm. 
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Valuation Process — On a quarterly basis, with assistance from an independent valuation firm, management estimates 
the fair value of Sunlight’s Level 3 financial instruments. Sunlight’s determination of fair value is based upon the best 
information available for a given circumstance and may incorporate assumptions that are management’s best estimates 
after consideration of a variety of internal and external factors. When an independent valuation firm expresses an opinion 
on the fair value of a financial instrument in the form of a range, management selects a value within the range provided by 
the independent valuation firm to assess the reasonableness of management’s estimated fair value for that financial 
instrument. At December 31, 2021, Sunlight’s valuation process for Level 3 measurements, as described below, were 
conducted internally or by an independent valuation firm and reviewed by management.

Valuation of Loans and Loan Participations — Management generally considers Sunlight's loans and loan participations 
Level 3 assets in the fair value hierarchy as such assets are illiquid investments that are specific to the loan product, for 
which there is limited market activity. On a quarterly basis, management engages an independent valuation firm to 
estimate the fair value of each loan or loan participation categorized as a Level 3 asset. 

Valuation of Contract Derivative — Management considers Sunlight's contracts under which Sunlight (a) arranges Loans 
for the purchase and installation of home improvements other than residential solar energy systems (“Contract Derivative 
1”) and (b) earns income from the prepayment of certain of those Loans sold to an Indirect Channel Loan Purchaser 
(“Contract Derivative 2”), both considered derivatives under GAAP, as a Level 3 assets in the fair value hierarchy as such 
assets represent bilateral, nontraded agreements for which there is limited market activity. On a quarterly basis, 
management engages an independent valuation firm to estimate the fair value of the contracts.

Valuation of Warrants — Management considers the Private Placement Warrants (Note 6) redeemable for Sunlight’s 
equity as Level 3 liabilities in the fair value hierarchy as liquid markets do not exist for such liabilities. On a quarterly basis, 
management engages an independent valuation firm to estimate the fair value of Sunlight’s warrants, which includes 
models that include estimates of volatility, contractual terms, discount rates, dividend rates, expiration dates, and risk-free 
rates.

Other Valuation Matters — For Level 3 financial assets acquired and financial liabilities assumed during the calendar 
month immediately preceding a quarter end that were conducted in an orderly transaction with an unrelated party, 
management generally believes that the transaction price provides the most observable indication of fair value given the 
illiquid nature of these financial instruments, unless management is aware of any circumstances that may cause a 
material change in the fair value through the remainder of the reporting period. For instance, significant changes in a 
counterparty’s intent or ability to make payments on a financial asset may cause material changes in the fair value of that 
financial asset.

See Note 7 for additional information regarding the valuation of Sunlight's financial assets and liabilities.

Sales of Financial Assets and Financing Agreements — Sunlight will, from time to time, facilitate the sale of Indirect 
Channel Loans. In each case, the transferred loans are legally isolated from Sunlight and control of the transferred loans 
passes to the transferee, who may pledge or exchange the transferred asset without constraint of Sunlight. Sunlight 
neither recognizes any financial assets nor incurs any liabilities as a result of the sale, but does recognize revenue based 
upon the difference between proceeds received from the transferee and the proceeds paid to the transferor.
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Balance Sheet Measurement

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash — Cash and cash equivalents consist of bank checking accounts and 
money market accounts. Sunlight considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less at 
the time of purchase to be cash equivalents. Sunlight maintains cash in restricted accounts pursuant to various lending 
agreements and considers other cash amounts restricted under certain agreements with other counterparties. 
Substantially all amounts on deposit with major financial institutions exceed insured limits. Cash and cash equivalents and 
restricted cash are carried at cost, which approximates fair value. Sunlight reported cash and cash equivalents and 
restricted cash in the following line items of its Consolidated Balance Sheets, which totals the aggregate amount 
presented in Sunlight’s Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows:

Successor Predecessor
December 31, 

2021
December 31, 

2020
Cash and cash equivalents $ 91,882 $ 49,583 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents  2,018  3,122 
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown in the Consolidated 
Statement of Cash Flows $ 93,900 $ 52,705 

Financing Receivables — Sunlight records financing receivables for (a) advances that Sunlight remits to contractors to 
facilitate the installation of residential solar systems and the construction or installation of other home improvement 
projects and (b) loans and loan participations.

Advances — In certain circumstances, Sunlight will provide a contractually agreed upon percentage of cash to a 
contractor related to a Loan that has not yet been funded by either a Direct Channel Partner or its Bank Partner as well as 
amounts funded to contractors in anticipation of loan funding. Such advances are generally repaid upon the earlier of (a) a 
specified number of days from the date of the advance outlined within the respective contractor contract or (b) the 
substantial installation of the residential solar system or the construction or installation of other home improvement 
projects. In either case, Sunlight will net such amounts advanced from payments otherwise due to the related contractor. 
Sunlight carries advances at the amount advanced, net of allowances for losses and charge-offs.

Loans and Loan Participations — Sunlight recognizes Indirect Channel Loans purchased from Sunlight’s Bank Partner as 
well as its 5.0% participation interests in Indirect Channel Loans as financing receivables held-for-investment based on 
management's intent, and Sunlight's ability, to hold those investments through the foreseeable future or contractual 
maturity. Financing receivables that are held‑for‑investment are carried at their aggregate outstanding face amount, net of 
applicable (a) unamortized acquisition premiums and discounts, (b) allowance for losses and (c) charge-offs or write-
downs of impaired receivables. Upon consummation of the Business Combination, Sunlight adjusted the carrying value of 
loans and loan participations to their fair values at the Closing Date.If management determines a loan or loan participation 
is impaired, management writes down the loan or loan participation through a charge to the provision for losses. See “— 
Impairment” for additional discussion regarding management’s determination for loan losses. Sunlight applies the interest 
method to amortize acquisition premiums and discounts or on a straight-line basis when it approximates the interest 
method. Sunlight has not acquired any material loans with deteriorated credit quality that were not charged-off upon 
purchase.

Impairment — Sunlight holds financing receivables that management evaluates for impairment indicators at least quarterly 
using information obtained at least annually. In conjunction with this review, management assesses such factors as 
historical losses, changes in the nature and volume of financing receivables, overall portfolio quality, and existing 
economic conditions that may affect the customer’s ability to pay. In certain cases, management assigns a risk rating 
based on certain aforementioned factors. 
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The evaluation of these indicators of impairment requires significant judgment by management to determine whether 
failure to collect contractual amounts is probable as well as in estimating the resulting loss allowance. While management 
uses the best information available to make its evaluation, future adjustments to the allowance may be necessary if there 
are significant changes in economic conditions. These evaluations are inherently subjective, as they require material 
estimates and may be susceptible to significant change. Actual losses, if any, could materially differ from these estimates.

If management deems that it is probable that Sunlight will be unable to collect all amounts owed according to the 
contractual terms of a receivable, impairment of that receivable is indicated. Consistent with this definition, all receivables 
for which the accrual of interest has been discontinued (nonaccrual loans) are considered impaired. If management 
considers a receivable to be impaired, management establishes an allowance for losses through a valuation provision in 
earnings, which reduces the carrying value of the receivable to (a) the amounts management expect to collect, for 
receivables due within 90 days, or (b) the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the receivable’s 
contractual effective rate. Impaired financing receivables are charged off against the allowance for losses when a 
financing receivable is more than 120 days past due or when management believes that collectability of the principal is 
remote, if earlier. Sunlight credits subsequent recoveries, if any, to the allowance when received.

At December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, Sunlight evaluated financing receivables collectively, based upon those 
financing receivables with similar characteristics. Sunlight individually evaluates nonaccrual loans with contractual 
balances of $50,000 or more and receivables whose terms have been modified in a troubled debt restructuring with 
contractual balances of $50,000 or more to establish specific allowances for such receivables, if required. Those financing 
receivables where impairment is indicated were evaluated individually for impairment, though such amounts were not 
material.

Advances — For advances made by Sunlight, management performs an evaluation of impairment indicators using 
financial information obtained from its counterparties and third parties as well as historical experience. Such indicators 
may include the borrower’s financial wherewithal and recent operating performance as well as macroeconomic trends. 
Management rates the potential for advance receivables by reviewing the counterparty. The counterparty is rated by 
overall risk tier on a scale of “1” through “5,” from least to greatest risk, which management reviews and updates on at 
least an annual basis. Counterparties may be granted advance approval within any overall risk tier, however tier “5” 
advance approvals are approved on an exception basis. A subset category of the overall risk tier is the financial risk of the 
counterparty. As with the overall risk tier, counterparties may be granted advance approval within any financial risk tier; 
however financial risk tier “5” advance approvals are approved on an exception basis. As part of that approval, 
management will set an individual counterparty advance dollar limit, which cannot be exceeded prior to additional review 
and approval. The overall risk tiers are defined as follows:
 

1 Low 
Risk

The counterparty has demonstrated low risk characteristics. The counterparty is a well-established 
company within the applicable industry, with low commercial credit risk, excellent reputational risk 
(e.g. online ratings, low complaint levels), and an excellent financial risk assessment.

2 Low-to-
Medium 
Risk

The counterparty has demonstrated low to medium risk characteristics. The counterparty is a well-
established company within the applicable industry, with low to medium commercial credit risk, 
excellent to above average reputational risk (e.g. online ratings, lower complaint levels), and/or an 
excellent to above average financial risk assessment.

3 Medium 
Risk

The counterparty has demonstrated medium risk characteristics. The counterparty may be a less 
established company within the applicable industry than risk tier "1" or "2", with medium 
commercial credit risk, excellent to average reputational risk (e.g., online ratings, average 
complaint levels), and/or an excellent to average financial risk assessment.

4 Medium
-to-High 
Risk

The counterparty has demonstrated medium to high risk characteristics. The counterparty is likely 
to be a less established company within the applicable industry than risk tiers "1" through "3," with 
medium to high commercial credit risk, excellent to below average reputational risk (e.g. online 
ratings, higher complaint levels), and/or an excellent to below average financial risk assessment.

5 Higher 
Risk

The counterparty has demonstrated higher risk characteristics. The counterparty is a less 
established company within the applicable industry, with higher commercial credit risk, and/or 
below average reputational risk (e.g. online ratings, higher complaint levels), and/or below average 
financial risk assessment. Tier "5" advance approvals will be approved on an exception basis.

Loans and Loan Participations, Held-For-Investment — Sunlight aggregates performing loans and loan participations into 
pools for the evaluation of impairment based on like characteristics, such as loan type and acquisition date. Pools of loans 
are evaluated based on criteria such as an analysis of borrower performance, credit ratings of borrowers, and historical 
trends in defaults and loss severities for the type and seasoning of loans and loan participations under evaluation.
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Goodwill — Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the net tangible and 
intangible assets of acquired entities. Sunlight performs a goodwill impairment test annually during the fourth quarter of 
the fiscal year and more frequently if an event or circumstance indicates that impairment may have occurred. Triggering 
events that may indicate a potential impairment include, but are not limited to, significant adverse changes in customer 
demand or business climate and related competitive considerations. Sunlight first performs a qualitative assessment to 
determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If so, 
Sunlight performs a two-step goodwill impairment test to identify potential goodwill impairment and measure the amount of 
goodwill impairment loss to be recognized by the applicable reporting unit(s). If Sunlight determines that the implied fair 
value of a reporting unit is greater than its carrying amount, the two-step goodwill impairment test is not required. Sunlight 
has one reporting unit and, as part of its annual impairment test, determined that it was more likely than not that the 
implied fair value of the reporting unit in which Sunlight recorded goodwill was less than its carrying value primarily based 
upon market activities impacting public companies similar to Sunlight. As a result, Sunlight recorded a $224.7 million 
goodwill impairment charge for the period from July 9, 2021, the closing date of the Business Combination, through 
December 31, 2021. The carrying value of Sunlight’s goodwill changed by the following amounts:

July 9, 2021 (Successor)
Goodwill $ 670,014 
Accumulated impairment losses  — 

 670,014 
Impairment losses  (224,701) 
Other(a)  443 
December 31, 2021 (Successor)

Goodwill  670,457 
Accumulated impairment losses  (224,701) 

$ 445,756 
a. Reflects purchase price adjustments related to deferred tax liabilities created at the Closing Date of the Business Combination.

Intangible Assets, Net — Sunlight identified the following intangible assets, recorded at fair value at the Closing Date of 
the Business Combination, and carried at a value net of amortization over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line 
basis. Sunlight’s intangible assets are evaluated for impairment on at least a quarterly basis:

Estimated Useful Life
(in Years)

Carrying Value
Successor Predecessor

Asset Successor Predecessor
December 31, 

2021
December 31, 

2020
Contractor relationships(a) 11.5 n.a. $ 350,000 $ — 
Capital provider relationships(b) 0.8 n.a.  43,000  — 
Trademarks/ trade names(c) 10.0 n.a.  7,900  — 
Developed technology(d) 3.0 — 5.0 1.0 — 3.0  8,193  11,775 

 409,093  11,775 
Accumulated amortization(e)(f)(g)  (43,254)  (7,242) 

$ 365,839 $ 4,533 
a. Represents the value of existing contractor relationships of Sunlight estimated using a multi-period excess earnings methodology.
b. Represents the value of existing relationships with the banks that may be estimated by applying a with-and-without methodology.
c. Represents the trade names that Sunlight originated or acquired and valued using a relief-from-royalty method.
d. Represents technology developed by Sunlight for the purpose of generating income for Sunlight, and valued using a replacement cost method.
e. Amounts include $8.2 million and $11.8 million of capitalized internally developed software costs at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 

2020, respectively.
f. Includes amortization expense of $43.3 million for the period July 10, 2021 through December 31, 2021, $1.4 million, for the period January 1, 

2021 through July 9, 2021, and $2.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, respectively.
g. At December 31, 2021, the approximate aggregate annual amortization expense for definite-lived intangible assets, including capitalized 

internally developed software costs as a component of capitalized developed technology are as follows:
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Developed 
Technology

Other Identified 
Intangible Assets Total

2022 $ 1,838 $ 46,648 $ 48,486 
2023  1,838  31,199  33,037 
2024  1,739  31,285  33,024 
2025  1,340  31,199  32,539 
2026  694  31,199  31,893 
Thereafter  —  186,860  186,860 

$ 7,449 $ 358,390 $ 365,839 

Property and Equipment, Net — Property and equipment are recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation and 
amortization. Depreciation and amortization are calculated using the straight-line method over the following estimated 
useful lives: 

Estimated Useful Life
(in Years)

Carrying Value
Successor Predecessor

Asset Category Successor Predecessor
December 31, 

2021
December 31, 

2020
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 5 7 $ 1,020 $ 555 
Computer hardware 5 5  1,108  868 
Computer software 1 — 3 1 — 3  250  197 

Leasehold improvements
 Shorter of life of improvement 

or lease term  2,829  421 
 5,207  2,041 

Accumulated amortization and depreciation(a)  (1,138)  (849) 
$ 4,069 $ 1,192 

a. Includes depreciation expense of $0.2 million for the period July 10, 2021 through December 31, 2021, $0.2 million, for the period January 1, 
2021 through July 9, 2021, and $0.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, respectively.

Funding Commitments — Pursuant to Sunlight’s contractual arrangements with its Bank Partner, Direct Channel Partners, 
and contractors, each of Sunlight’s Direct Channel Partners and its Bank Partner periodically remits to Sunlight the cash 
related to loans the funding source has originated. Sunlight has committed to funding such amounts, less any amounts 
Sunlight is entitled to retain, to the relevant contractor when certain milestones relating to the installation of residential 
solar systems or the construction of installation of other home improvement projects underlying the consumer receivable 
have been reached. Sunlight presents any amounts that Sunlight retains in anticipation of a contractor completing an 
installation milestone as “Funding Commitments” on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets, which totaled $22.7 
million and $18.4 million at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively.

Guarantees — Sunlight records a liability for the guarantees it makes for certain Loans if it determines that it is probable 
that it will have to repurchase those loans, in an amount based on the likelihood of such repurchase and the loss, if any, 
Sunlight expects to incur in connection with its repurchase of Loans that may have experienced credit deterioration since 
the time of the loan’s origination.

Warrants — The Company has public and private placement warrants classified as liabilities as well as warrants issued to 
a capital provider classified as equity. The Company classifies as equity any equity-linked contracts that (1) require 
physical settlement or net-share settlement or (ii) give the Company a choice of net-cash settlement or settlement in the 
Company’s own shares (physical settlement or net-share settlement). Warrants classified as equity are initially measured 
at fair value. Subsequent changes in fair value are not recognized as long as the warrants continue to be classified as 
equity. 

The Company classifies as assets or liabilities any equity-linked contracts that (1) require net-cash settlement (including a 
requirement to net-cash settle the contract if an event occurs and if that event is outside the Company’s control) or (2) 
give the counterparty a choice of net-cash settlement or settlement in shares (physical settlement or net-share 
settlement). For equity-linked contracts that are classified as liabilities, the Company records the fair value of the equity-
linked contracts at each balance sheet date and records the change in the statements of operations as a gain (loss) from 
change in fair value of warrant liability. The Company’s public warrant liability is valued using observable market prices for 
those public warrants. The Company’s private placement warrants are valued using a binomial lattice pricing model when 
the warrants are subject to the make-whole table, or otherwise are valued using a Black-Scholes pricing model. The 
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Company’s warrants issued to a capital provider are valued using a Black-Scholes pricing model based on observable 
market prices for public shares and warrants. The assumptions used in preparing these models include estimates such as 
volatility, contractual terms, discount rates, dividend yield, expiration dates and risk-free rates.

Distributions Payable — Prior to the Closing Date, Sunlight accrued estimated tax payments to holders of its temporary 
and members’ equity when earned in accordance with Sunlight Financial LLC’s organizational agreements. In December 
2020, Sunlight accrued $1.3 million, $1.2 million, and $5.0 million, or $4.38, $5.33, and $13.34 per unit, payable to Class 
A-1, A-2, and A-3 Units, respectively. Sunlight recorded such estimated tax payments in “Distributions Payable” on the 
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2020, which Sunlight paid during the period January 1, 2021 
through July 9, 2021.

Other Assets and Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses, and Other Liabilities — At each of December 31, 2021 and 
December 31, 2020, (a) other assets included Sunlight’s contract derivatives, prepaid expenses, accounts receivable, and 
interest receivable, and (b) accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other liabilities included Sunlight’s guarantee 
liability, accrued compensation, deferred rent, and other payables. At December 31, 2020, other assets also included 
deferred financing costs. 

Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Subsidiaries — Noncontrolling interests represents the portion of Sunlight 
Financial LLC that the Company controls and consolidates but does not own. The Company recognizes each 
noncontrolling holder’s respective share of the estimated fair value of the net assets at the date of formation or acquisition. 
Noncontrolling interests are subsequently adjusted for the noncontrolling holder’s share of additional contributions, 
distributions and their share of the net earnings or losses of each respective consolidated entity. The Company allocates 
net income or loss to noncontrolling interests based on the weighted average ownership interest during the period. The 
net income or loss that is not attributable to the Company is reflected in net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling 
interests in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The Company does not recognize a gain or loss on transactions 
with a consolidated entity in which it does not own 100% of the equity, but the Company reflects the difference in cash 
received or paid from the noncontrolling interests carrying amount as additional paid-in-capital.

Class EX Units issued by Sunlight Financial LLC are exchangeable into the Company’s Class A common stock. Class A 
common stock issued upon exchange of a holder’s noncontrolling interest is accounted for at the carrying value of the 
surrendered limited partnership interest and the difference between the carrying value and the fair value of the Class A 
common stock issued is recorded to additional paid-in-capital.

Treasury Stock — Sunlight accounts for treasury stock under the cost method. When treasury stock is re-issued at a price 
higher than its cost, the difference is recorded as a component of additional paid-in-capital. When treasury stock is re-
issued at a price lower than its cost, the difference is recorded as a component of additional paid-in-capital to the extent 
that there are previously recorded gains to offset the losses. If there are no treasury stock gains in additional paid-in-
capital, the losses upon re-issuance of treasury stock are recorded as a reduction of retained earnings.

Income Recognition

Revenue Recognition — Sunlight recognizes revenue from (a) platform fees on the Direct Channel Loans when the Direct 
Channel Partner funds the Loans and on the Indirect Channel Loans when the Indirect Channel Loan Purchaser buys the 
Loans from the balance sheet of Sunlight’s Bank Partner and (b) loan portfolio management, servicing, and administration 
services on a monthly basis as Sunlight provides such services for that month. Sunlight’s contracts include the following 
groups of similar services, which do not include any significant financing components:
 

Successor Predecessor
For the Period 
July 10, 2021 
to December 

31, 2021

For the Period 
January 1, 

2021 to July 9, 
2021

For the Year 
Ended 

December 31, 
2020

Platform fees, net(a) $ 56,783 $ 50,757 $ 66,853 
Other revenues(b)  4,891  2,307  2,711 

$ 61,674 $ 53,064 $ 69,564 
a. Amounts presented net of variable consideration in the form of rebates to certain contractors. Includes platform fees from affiliates of $0.2 

million and $0.3 million for the period January 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021, and the year ended December 31, 2020, respectively. (Note 9).
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b. Includes loan portfolio management, administration, and other ancillary fees Sunlight earns that are incidental to its primary operations. 
Sunlight earned $0.1 million for the period July 10, 2021 through December 31, 2021, $0.1 million for the period January 1, 2021 through 
July 9, 2021, and $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, respectively, in administrative fees from an affiliate. (Note 9).

Platform Fees, Net — Sunlight arranges Loans for the purchase and installation of residential solar energy systems on 
behalf of its Direct Channel Partners, Bank Partner, and Indirect Channel Loan Purchasers. As agent, Sunlight presents 
platform fees on a net basis at the time that Direct Channel Partners or Indirect Channel Loan Purchasers obtain control 
of the service provided to facilitate their origination or purchase of a Loan, which is no earlier than when Sunlight delivers 
loan documentation to the customer. Sunlight wholly satisfies its performance obligation to Direct Channel Partners, Bank 
Partner, and Indirect Channel Loan Purchasers, as it relates to such platform fees, upon origination or purchase of a Loan. 
Sunlight considers rebates offered by Sunlight to certain contractors in exchange for volume commitments as variable 
components to transaction prices; such variability resolves upon the contractor’s satisfaction of their volume commitment. 

The contracts under which Sunlight (a) arranges Indirect Channel Loans for the purchase and installation of home 
improvements other than residential solar energy systems and (b) earns income from the prepayment of certain of those 
Indirect Channel Loans sold to an Indirect Channel Loan Purchaser are considered derivatives under GAAP. As such, 
Sunlight’s revenues exclude the platform fees that Sunlight earns in connection with these contracts. Instead, Sunlight 
records realized gains on the derivatives within “Realized Gains on Contract Derivative, Net” in the accompanying 
Consolidated Statements of Operations. Sunlight realized gains of $2.9 million and $3.0 million for the periods July 10, 
2021 through December 31, 2021 and January 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021 and $0.1 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2020, respectively, in connection with these contracts (Note 4). However, Sunlight recognized platform fee 
revenue of $0.2 million for its facilitation of direct channel home improvement loans.

Other Revenues — Sunlight provides monthly services in connection with the portfolio management, servicing, and 
administration of Loans originated by certain Direct Channel Partners, Sunlight’s Bank Partner, and an Indirect Channel 
Loan Purchaser. Such services may include the reporting of loan performance information, administration of servicing 
performed by third parties, and portfolio management services.

Interest Income — Loans where management expects to collect all contractually required principal and interest payments 
are considered performing loans. Sunlight accrues interest income on performing loans based on the unpaid principal 
balance (“UPB”) and contractual terms of the loan. Interest income also includes discounts associated with the loans 
purchased as a yield adjustment using the effective interest method over the loan term. Sunlight expenses direct loan 
acquisition costs for loans acquired by Sunlight as incurred. Sunlight does not accrue interest on loans placed on non-
accrual status or on loans where the collectability of the principal or interest of the loan are deemed uncertain.

Loans are considered past due or delinquent if the required principal and interest payments have not been received as of 
the date such payments are due. Generally, loans, including impaired loans, are placed on non-accrual status when (i) 
either principal or interest payments are 90 days or more past due based on contractual terms or (ii) an individual analysis 
of a borrower’s creditworthiness indicates a loan should be placed on non-accrual status. When a loan owned by Sunlight 
(each, a “Balance Sheet Loan”) is placed on non-accrual status, Sunlight ceases to recognize interest income on the 
loans and reverses previously accrued and unpaid interest, if any. Subsequent receipts on non-accrual loans are recorded 
as a reduction of principal, and interest income may only be recorded on a cash basis after recovery of principal is 
reasonably assured. Sunlight may return a loan to accrual status when repayment of principal and interest is reasonably 
assured under the terms of the restructured loan. Advances are created at par and do not bear, and therefore do not 
accrue, interest income.

Expense Recognition

Cost of Revenues — Sunlight’s cost of revenues includes the aggregate costs of the services that Sunlight performs to 
satisfy its contractual performance obligations to customers as well as variable consideration that Sunlight pays for its fee 
revenue, which do not meet the criteria necessary for netting against gross revenues.

Sunlight Rewards™ Program — The Sunlight Rewards™ Program is a proprietary loyalty program that Sunlight offers to 
salespeople selling residential solar systems for Sunlight’s network of contractors. Sunlight records a contingent liability 
using the estimated incremental cost of each point based upon the points earned, the redemption value, and an estimate 
of probability of redemption consistent with Sunlight’s historical redemption experience under the program. When a 
salesperson redeems points from Sunlight’s third-party loyalty program vendor, Sunlight pays the stated redemption value 
of the points redeemed to the vendor.

Compensation and Benefits — Management expenses salaries, benefits, and equity-based compensation as services are 
provided. “Compensation and Benefits” in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations includes expenses 
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not otherwise included in Sunlight’s cost of revenues, such as compensation costs associated with information technology, 
sales and marketing, product management, and overhead. 

Equity-Based Compensation — Sunlight granted awards of restricted stock units (“RSUs”) to employees and directors 
under Sunlight’s 2021 Equity Incentive Plan. RSUs are Class A restricted share units which entitle the holder to receive 
Class A shares on various future dates if the applicable service conditions, if any, are met. Sunlight expenses the grant-
date fair value of awards on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. Sunlight does not estimate forfeitures, 
and records actual forfeitures as they occur.

Predecessor — Prior to the Business Combination, Sunlight Financial LLC granted equity-based compensation awards 
that vested contingent upon one or more of the following conditions: (a) time-based service, (b) performance conditions 
based upon Sunlight Financial LLC’s equity value, as determined by Sunlight Financial LLC’s board or directors or a 
qualifying sale of Sunlight Financial LLC’s equity, achieving certain contractual thresholds (“Threshold Equity Value”), and 
(c) whether Sunlight Financial LLC issued Class A Units in-kind to satisfy the preferred return on Class A Units during the 
award’s vesting period until May 25, 2023 (“PIK Vesting Requirement”). Sunlight generally expensed the grant-date fair 
value of these equity-based compensation awards using the following methods, recognizing forfeitures as they occur, 
based upon the following vesting contingencies

• Time-Based Service — Sunlight Financial LLC expensed awards that only requires time-based service conditions 
ratably over the required service period, or immediately if there was no required service period. 

• PIK Vesting Requirement — Sunlight Financial LLC awarded equity-based compensation in the form of anti-
dilution units. Such awards vested in an amount generally proportionate to the dilution of related Class C Units or 
LTIP Units that resulted from the issuance of additional Class A Units. Sunlight Financial LLC expensed awards in 
the period in which (a) dilution of related Class C Units or LTIP Units would otherwise occur and (b) the award had 
satisfied other vesting conditions.

• Performance-Based Conditions — Sunlight Financial LLC expensed awards in the period in which (a) it was 
probable that the performance-based condition was satisfied and (b) the award had satisfied other vesting 
conditions. For equity-based compensation awards in the form of Class C Units or long-term incentive plan units 
(“LTIP Units”) (Note 6), vesting would generally occur upon a qualifying sale of Sunlight’s equity. 

Generally, Sunlight Financial LLC only expensed those awards that only required time-based service conditions since 
other awards only satisfied vesting requirements upon closing of the Business Combination. Awards that represented 
services performed prior to the Business Combination reduced the purchase consideration in Sunlight’s calculation of 
goodwill. Awards that were still subject to time-based service conditions upon closing of the Business Combination and 
represented future service were replaced with awards of restricted Class A shares and restricted Class EX Units. Sunlight 
expensed the difference between the value of the existing awards and the replacement awards upon closing of the 
Business Combination. Sunlight expenses the value of the replacement awards over the remaining service period on a 
straight-line basis.

Selling, General, and Administrative — Management expenses selling, general, and administrative costs, including legal, 
audit, other professional service fees, travel and entertainment, and insurance premiums as incurred. Sunlight recognizes 
expenses associated with co-marketing agreements when earned by the counterparty.

Property and Technology — Management expenses rent, information technology and telecommunication services, and 
noncapitalizable costs to internally develop software as incurred.

Income Taxes — The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Under this method, 
deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the consolidated financial statement 
carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards and are measured 
using the enacted tax rates that are expected to be in effect when the differences reverse. The effect on deferred tax 
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations in the period that 
includes the enactment date. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to an 
amount that, in the opinion of management, is more likely than not to be realized.

The Company accounts for uncertain tax positions by reporting a liability for unrecognizable tax benefits resulting from 
uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The Company recognizes interest and penalties, if 
any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense.

In accordance with the operating agreement of Sunlight Financial LLC, to the extent possible without impairing its ability to 
continue to conduct its business and activities, and in order to permit its member to pay taxes on the taxable income 
allocated to those members, Sunlight Financial LLC is required to make distributions to the member in the amount equal 

79



to the estimated tax liability of the member computed as if the member paid income tax at the highest marginal federal 
and state rate applicable to a corporate entity or individual resident in New York, New York to the extent Sunlight’s 
operations generate taxable income for the applicable member. Sunlight did not declare any distributions for the year 
ended December 31, 2021. During the year ended December 31, 2020, Sunlight Financial LLC declared $7.5 million in 
distributions to its unitholders.

Business Combination

The Business Combination among the parties to the Business Combination Agreement was completed on July 9, 2021. 
Sunlight accounted for the Business Combination as a business combination under ASC 805, Business Combinations. 
The acquisition of Sunlight Financial LLC constitutes the acquisition of a business for purposes of ASC 805, and due to 
the change in control, has been accounted for using the acquisition method with Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. as the 
accounting acquirer and Sunlight Financial LLC as the accounting acquiree based on evaluation of the following factors:

• Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. is the sole managing member of Sunlight Financial LLC having full and complete 
authority over of all the affairs of Sunlight Financial LLC while the non-managing member equity holders do not 
have substantive participating or kick out rights;

• The predecessor controlling unitholders of Sunlight Financial LLC does not have a controlling interest in the 
Company as it held less than 50% of the voting interests after the Business Combination.

These factors support the conclusion that Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. acquired a controlling interest in Sunlight 
Financial LLC and is the accounting acquirer. Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. is the primary beneficiary of Sunlight 
Financial LLC, which is a variable interest entity, since it has the power to direct the activities of Sunlight Financial LLC 
that most significantly impact Sunlight Financial LLC's economic performance through its role as the managing member. 
Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc.’s variable interest in Sunlight Financial LLC includes ownership of Sunlight Financial LLC, 
which results in the right and obligation to receive benefits and absorb losses of Sunlight Financial LLC that could 
potentially be significant to Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. Therefore, the Business Combination represented a change in 
control and is accounted for using the acquisition method. Under the acquisition method of accounting, the purchase price 
is allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and the liabilities assumed from Sunlight Financial LLC based 
on their estimated acquisition-date fair values.

The cash consideration in the Business Combination included cash from (a) a trust account held by Spartan in the amount 
of $345.0 million which Spartan received in its initial public offering of 34,500,000 shares of Class A common stock, less 
$192.3 million withdrawal of funds from that account to fund the redemption of 19,227,063 shares of Class A common 
stock at approximately $10.00 per share, and (b) $250.0 million in proceeds from the investors purchasing an aggregate 
of 25,000,000 Class A common stock in connection with the Business Combination ("PIPE Investment"). The Company 
received $55.1 million, which includes $5.6 million used to pay tax withholding related to cash compensation paid to the 
Company's employees at the closing of the Business Combination.

The following is an estimate of the fair value of consideration transferred and a preliminary purchase price allocation in 
connection with the Business Combination:
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Amount
Purchase Consideration

Equity consideration paid to existing Sunlight Financial LLC ownership in Class A Common 
Stock, net(a) $ 357,800 
Rollover of Sunlight Financial LLC historical warrants  2,499 
Cash consideration to existing Sunlight Financial LLC interests, net(b)  296,281 
Cash paid for seller transaction costs  8,289 

$ 664,869 
Fair Value of Net Assets Acquired

Cash and cash equivalents $ 59,786 
Restricted cash  3,844 
Advances  42,622 
Financing receivables  5,117 
Goodwill(c)  670,457 
Intangible assets(d)  407,600 
Property and equipment  1,047 
Due from affiliates  1,839 
Other assets  4,561 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  (19,210) 
Funding commitments  (21,485) 
Debt  (20,613) 
Due to affiliates  (761) 
Warrants, at fair value  — 
Deferred tax liability  (42,212) 
Other liabilities  (512) 
Fair value of noncontrolling interests(e)  (427,211) 

$ 664,869 
a. Equity consideration paid to Blocker Holders consisted of the following:

Common Class A shares  38,151,192 
Fair value per share $ 9.46 
Equity consideration paid to existing Blocker Holders $ 360,910 

Acceleration of post business combination expense  (3,110) 
Equity consideration paid to Sellers, net $ 357,800 

b. Net of $0.0 million acceleration of post business combination expense.
c. Goodwill, as a component of the step-up in tax basis from the Business Combination, is tax deductible for the Company in the estimated 

amount $149.7 million. 
d. The fair value of the definite-lived intangible assets is as follows:

Weighted Average 
Useful Lives 

(in Years) Fair Value
Contractor relationships 11.5 $ 350,000 
Capital provider relationships 0.8  43,000 
Trademarks/ trade names 10.0  7,900 
Developed technology 5.0  6,700 

$ 407,600 

e. Noncontrolling interests represent the 34.9% ownership in Sunlight Financial LLC not owned by the Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. as of the 
Closing Date. The fair value of the noncontrolling interests follows:
Common Class EX units  46,216,054 
Fair value per unit $ 9.46 
Fair value of Class EX units $ 437,204 

Less: Postcombination compensation expenses  (9,993) 
Noncontrolling interests $ 427,211 
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The preliminary allocation of the purchase price is based on preliminary valuations performed to determine the fair value 
of the net assets as of the Closing Date. This allocation is subject to revision as the assessment is based on preliminary 
information subject to refinement.

The Company incurred $7.0 million of expenses directly related to the Business Combination from January 1, 2021 
through July 9, 2021 which were included in acquisition-related expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. 
On the Closing Date, the Company paid $12.1 million of deferred underwriting costs related to Spartan's initial public 
offering. At the closing of the Business Combination, $7.5 million of fees related to the PIPE Investment were paid by the 
Company. Additionally, Sunlight paid $7.9 million of acquisition-related advisory fees related to the Business Combination 
at the closing of the Business Combination, which success fees were contingent upon the consummation of the Business 
Combination and not recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations of the Predecessor or Successor. The 
nature of these fees relate to advisory and investment banker fees that were incurred dependent on the success of the 
Business Combination. The deferred underwriting commissions and costs pertaining to the cost of raising equity were 
treated as a reduction of equity while Business Combination costs were expensed in the period incurred.

Unaudited Pro Forma Operating Results — The following unaudited pro forma combined financial information presents 
the results of operations for each Predecessor period as if the Business Combination on July 9, 2021 had occurred as of 
January 1, 2020. The unaudited pro forma results may not necessarily reflect actual results of operations that would have 
been achieved, nor are they necessarily indicative of future results of operations. The unaudited pro forma results reflect 
the step-up amortization adjustments for the fair value of intangible assets acquired, transaction expenses, nonrecurring 
post-combination compensation expense and the related adjustment to the income tax provision.

For the Year Ended December 
31,

2021 2020
Total revenues $ 114,738 $ 69,564 
Net income (loss) before income taxes  (217,023)  (99,905) 
Income tax benefit  3,038  15,138 
Noncontrolling interests  75,646  34,824 
Net income (loss) attributable to Common Class A shareholders  (138,338)  (49,944) 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Issued, But Not Yet Adopted

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) has issued the following Accounting Standard Updates (“ASUs”) that 
may materially impact Sunlight’s financial position and results of operations, or may impact the preparation of, but not 
materially affect, Sunlight’s consolidated financial statements.

As an “emerging growth company,” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended ( “Securities 
Act”), as modified by the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (“JOBS Act”), Sunlight is eligible to take advantage 
of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not 
“emerging growth companies.” Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that an “emerging growth company” can take 
advantage of the extended transition period provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act for complying with new or 
revised accounting standards. In other words, an “emerging growth company” can delay the adoption of certain 
accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. Unless otherwise stated, Sunlight 
elected to adopt recent accounting pronouncements using the extended transition period applicable to private companies.

ASU No. 2020-06 Debt — Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging—
Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s 
Own Equity — In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-06, which simplifies accounting for convertible instruments 
by removing major separation models required under current GAAP, removes certain settlement conditions that are 
required for equity contracts to qualify for the derivative scope exception, and simplifies the diluted earnings per share 
calculations. This guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after 
December 15, 2021, with early adoption permitted. Sunlight is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of ASU 
2020-06 on its consolidated financial statements.
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ASU No. 2020-04 Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial 
Reporting — In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04, which provides optional expedients for a limited period of 
time to ease the potential burden in accounting for, or recognizing the effects of, reference rate reform on financial 
reporting. ASU 2020-04 provides optional expedients and exceptions for applying GAAP to contracts, hedging 
relationships, and other transactions affected by reference rate reform if certain criteria are met. The standard is effective 
for all entities as of March 12, 2020 through December 31, 2022. An entity can elect to apply the amendments as of any 
date from the beginning of an interim period that includes or is subsequent to March 12, 2020, or prospectively from a 
date within an interim period that includes or is subsequent to March 12, 2020, up to that date that the financial statements 
are available to be issued. Sunlight is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of ASU 2020-04, as updated by ASU 
2021-01 Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Scope, on its consolidated financial statements.

ASU No. 2018-15 Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a 
Service Contract — In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-15 to align the requirements for capitalizing 
implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for capitalizing 
implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software. ASU No. 2018-15 can be applied either 
retrospectively or prospectively, and it is effective for Sunlight for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 
2020, and interim periods within annual periods beginning after December 15, 2021. Sunlight adopted this guidance 
effective January 1, 2021 for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, which did not have a significant effect on the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements given changes under ASU 2018-15 generally align with our existing 
accounting treatment of implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract.

ASU No. 2016-13 Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial 
Instruments — The FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13 in June 2016. The standard amends the existing credit loss model to 
reflect a reporting entity’s current estimate of all expected credit losses and requires a financial asset (or a group of 
financial assets) measured at amortized cost basis to be presented at a net amount expected to be collected through 
deduction of an allowance for credit losses from the amortized cost basis of the financial asset(s). ASU No. 2016-13, as 
amended, is effective for Sunlight in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023. Early adoption was permitted beginning in 
the first quarter of 2018. With limited exceptions, an entity should apply ASU No. 2016-13 by means of a cumulative-effect 
adjustment to the balance sheet as of the beginning of the fiscal year of adoption. Sunlight is currently evaluating the new 
guidance to determine the impact it may have on its consolidated financial statements.

ASU No. 2016-02 Leases — In February 2016, FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02. The standard requires that lessees 
recognize a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability on the balance sheet for most leases. The guidance 
applied by a lessor under ASU No. 2016-02 is substantially similar to existing GAAP. ASU No. 2016-02, as amended, is 
effective for Sunlight for the quarter ended March 31, 2022. Early adoption is permitted. An entity should apply ASU No. 
2016-02 by means of a modified retrospective transition method for all leases existing at, or entered into after, the date of 
initial application. Sunlight has identified the leases that it believes fall within the scope of ASU No. 2016-02 and is 
evaluating their impact on its consolidated financial statements. Sunlight has evaluated the leases it holds and does not 
expect ASU 2016-02 to have a material impact to its consolidated financial statements.
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Note 3. Financing Receivables

Sunlight recognizes receivables primarily related to (a) advances that Sunlight remits to contractors to facilitate the 
installation of residential solar and home improvement equipment and (b) loans and loan participations. Loans and loan 
participations primarily include Sunlight’s undivided 5.0% participation in certain Indirect Channel Loans and Indirect 
Channel Loans purchased from its Bank Partner. The following tables summarize Sunlight’s financing receivables and 
changes thereto:

Advances(a)
Loans and Loan 
Participations(b) Total

December 31, 2021 (Successor)
Amounts outstanding $ 67,077 $ 4,875 $ 71,952 
Unamortized discount  —  (414)  (414) 
Allowance for credit losses  (238)  (148)  (386) 
Carrying value $ 66,839 $ 4,313 $ 71,152 

December 31, 2020 (Predecessor)
Amounts outstanding $ 35,401 $ 6,351 $ 41,752 
Unamortized discount  —  (893)  (893) 
Allowance for credit losses  (121)  (125)  (246) 
Carrying value $ 35,280 $ 5,333 $ 40,613 

a. Represents advance payments made by Sunlight to certain contractors, generally on a short-term basis, in anticipation of a project’s 
substantial completion, including a $9.0 million advance to a Sunlight contractor not associated with specific installation projects at 
December 31, 2021.

b. Represents (i) Sunlight’s 5.0% participation interest in a pool of residential solar loans with an aggregate UPB of $4.6 million and $6.0 million 
at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively, and (ii) Indirect Channel Loans purchased by Sunlight with an aggregate UPB of 
$0.3 million and $0.4 million at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively. No loans or loan participations were individually 
evaluated for impairment at December 31, 2021 or December 31, 2020.

Successor Predecessor
For the Period 
July 10, 2021 
to December 

31, 2021

For the Period 
January 1, 2021 
to July 9, 2021

For the Year 
Ended 

December 31, 
2020

Allowance for Credit Losses — Advances
Beginning Balance $ — $ 121 $ 215 

Provision for credit losses  358  90  (94) 
Realized losses  (120)  —  — 

Ending Balance $ 238 $ 211 $ 121 

Allowance for Credit Losses — Loans and Loan Participations
Beginning Balance $ — $ 125 $ 96 

Provision for credit losses  859  1,082  1,444 
Realized losses  (711)  (1,096)  (1,415) 

Ending Balance $ 148 $ 111 $ 125 

Changes in Carrying Value — Loans and Loan Participations
Beginning Balance $ 5,105 $ 5,333 $ 5,130 

Purchases, net(a)  716  1,170  2,839 

Proceeds from principal repayments, net  (710)  (832)  (1,316) 
Accretion of loan discount  61  123  124 
Provision for credit losses  (859)  (1,082)  (1,444) 

Ending Balance $ 4,313 $ 4,712 $ 5,333 
a. During the year ended December 31, 2020, Sunlight purchased (i) 5.0% participation interests in 1,007 loans with an aggregate UPB of $1.6 

million as well as (ii) 49 Indirect Channel Loans with an aggregate UPB $1.2 million. During the periods July 10, 2021 through December 31, 
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2021 and January 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021, Sunlight purchased (i) 5.0% participation interests in 0 and 54 loans with an aggregate UPB of 
$0.0 million and $0.1 million as well as (ii) 20 and 51 Indirect Channel Loans with an aggregate UPB of $0.4 million and $1.1 million, 
respectively.

Advances — The following section presents certain characteristics of Sunlight’s advances.

Risk Ratings — As further described in Note 2, management evaluates Sunlight’s advances for impairment using risk 
ratings assigned on a scale of “1” (low risk) through “5” (higher risk). The following table allocates the advance amount 
outstanding based on Sunlight’s internal risk ratings:

Total

Risk Tier(a) Contractors
Amount 

Outstanding
% of Amount 
Outstanding

December 31, 2021 (Successor)
1 Low risk  76 $ 14,575  21.7 %
2 Low-to-medium risk  77  38,955  58.1 
3 Medium risk  17  13,547  20.2 
4 Medium-to-high risk  —  —  — 
5 Higher risk  —  —  — 

 170 $ 67,077  100.0 %
December 31, 2020 (Predecessor)

1 Low risk  78 $ 18,072  51.0 %
2 Low-to-medium risk  56  16,700  47.2 
3 Medium risk  4  604  1.7 
4 Medium-to-high risk  —  —  — 
5 Higher risk  3  25  0.1 

 141 $ 35,401  100.0 %
a. At December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the average risk rating of Sunlight’s advances was 2.0 (“low-to-medium risk”) and 1.5 (“low-to-

medium risk”), weighted by total advance amounts outstanding.

Delinquencies — The following table presents the payment status of advances held by Sunlight: 

Payment Delinquency
Amount 

Outstanding(a)
% of Amount 
Outstanding

December 31, 2021 (Successor)
Current $ 54,586  94.0 %
Less than 30 days  1,956  3.4 
30 days  534  0.9 
60 days  361  0.6 
90+ days(b)  640  1.1 

$ 58,077  100.0 %
December 31, 2020 (Predecessor)

Current $ 29,132  82.3 %
Less than 30 days  3,137  8.9 
30 days  1,424  4.0 
60 days  672  1.9 
90+ days(b)  1,036  2.9 

$ 35,401  100.0 %
a. Excludes a $9.0 million advance to a Sunlight contractor not associated with specific installation projects and was not delinquent at 

December 31, 2021.
b. As further discussed in Note 2, Sunlight generally evaluates amounts delinquent for 90 days or more for impairment. Advances to contractors 

may remain outstanding as a result of operational and various other factors that are unrelated to the contractor’s creditworthiness. Sunlight 
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assessed advances 90 days or more, along with other factors that included the contractor’s risk tier and historical loss experience, and 
established loss allowances of $0.2 million and $0.1 million at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively.

Concentrations — The following table presents the concentration of advances, by counterparty: 

Successor Predecessor
December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Contractor
Amount 

Outstanding % of Total
Amount 

Outstanding % of Total
1 $ 20,894  31.1 % $ 6,425  18.1 %
2  12,470  18.6  295  0.8 
3  9,496  14.2  10,429  29.5 
4  2,610  3.9  437  1.2 
5  2,571  3.8  36  0.1 
6  2,093  3.1  1,812  5.1 
7  1,745  2.6  141  0.4 
8  855  1.3  712  2.0 
9  633  0.9  —  — 

10  570  0.8  —  — 
Other(a)  13,140  19.7  15,114  42.8 

$ 67,077  100.0 % $ 35,401  100.0 %
a. At December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, Sunlight recorded advances receivable from 160 and 131 counterparties not individually listed 

in the table above with average balances of $0.1 million and $0.1 million, respectively. At December 31, 2020, Sunlight recorded advances 
receivable from individual counterparties of $2.6 million, $0.6 million, $0.6 million, $0.5 million, and $0.5 million that represent the largest 
advance concentrations included in “Other,” based on the amount outstanding.

Loans and Loan Participations — The following section presents certain characteristics of Sunlight’s investments in 
loans and loan participations. Unless otherwise indicated, loan participation amounts are shown at Sunlight’s 5% interest 
in the underlying loan pool. 

Delinquencies — The following table presents the payment status of loans and loan participations held by Sunlight: 

Payment 
Delinquency(a)

Loan Participations Bank Partner Loans Total
Loans UPB Loans UPB Loans UPB % of UPB

December 31, 2021 (Successor)
Current  3,780 $ 4,442  14 $ 268  3,794 $ 4,710  96.6 %
Less than 30 days  73  96  1  11  74  107  2.2 
30 days  15  23  —  —  15  23  0.5 
60 days  10  14  —  —  10  14  0.3 
90+ days  7  9  1  12  8  21  0.4 

 3,885 $ 4,584  16 $ 291  3,901 $ 4,875  100.0 %
December 31, 2020 (Predecessor)

Current  4,409 $ 5,760  16 $ 319  4,425 $ 6,079  95.7 %
Less than 30 days  116  174  —  —  116  174  2.7 
30 days  22  38  1  23  23  61  1.0 
60 days  7  11  —  —  7  11  0.2 
90+ days  10  14  1  12  11  26  0.4 

 4,564 $ 5,997  18 $ 354  4,582 $ 6,351  100.0 %
a. As further described in Note 2, Sunlight places loans delinquent greater than 90 days on nonaccrual status. Such Loans had carrying values of 

$0.0 million and $0.0 million at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively. Sunlight does not consider the average carrying 
values and interest income recognized (including interest income recognized using a cash-basis method) material.
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Loan Collateral Concentrations — The following table presents the UPB of Balance Sheet Loans, including Sunlight’s 
relevant participation percentage of the Indirect Channel Loans underlying the participation interests held by Sunlight, 
based upon the state in which the borrower lived at the time of loan origination:

Successor Predecessor
December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

State UPB % of Total UPB % of Total
Texas $ 930  19.1 % $ 1,203  18.9 %
California  867  17.8  1,111  17.5 
Florida  423  8.7  555  8.7 
New York  325  6.7  403  6.3 
New Jersey  302  6.2  376  5.9 
Arizona  220  4.5  312  4.9 
Pennsylvania  202  4.1  274  4.3 
Massachusetts  201  4.1  223  3.5 
South Carolina  178  3.7  234  3.7 
Missouri  135  2.8  228  3.6 
Other(a)  1,092  22.3  1,432  22.7 

$ 4,875  100.0 % $ 6,351  100.0 %
a. Sunlight only participates in residential solar loans originated within the United States, including 31 and 31 states not individually listed in the 

table above, none of which individually amount to more than 2.6% and 2.7% of the UPB at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, 
respectively.

Note 4. Derivatives

Sunlight has entered into two agreements considered derivatives under GAAP that are subject to interest rate, credit, and/ 
or prepayment risks. Interest rate risk is sensitive to many factors, including governmental monetary and tax policies, 
domestic and international economic and political considerations, as well as other factors. Credit risk include a borrower’s 
inability or unwillingness to make contractually required payments. Prepayment risk includes a borrower’s payment, or 
lack of payment, of contractual Loan amounts prior to the date such amounts are contractually due.

In January 2019, Sunlight entered into an agreement with its Bank Partner to arrange Indirect Channel Loans for the 
purchase and installation of home improvements other than residential solar energy systems. The agreement (a) entitles 
Sunlight to cash flows collected from the portfolio of Indirect Channel Loans held by its Bank Partner in excess of a 
contractual rate, based upon one-month LIBOR plus a fixed spread, and (b) requires Sunlight to pay its Bank Partner for 
portfolio cash flows below such contractual rate. This contractual arrangement incorporates interest rate and credit risks 
related to the risk of default on Indirect Channel Loans held by its Bank Partner that results from a borrower’s inability or 
unwillingness to make contractually required payments.

In February 2021, Sunlight entered into an agreement with an Indirect Channel Loan Purchaser to purchase Indirect 
Channel Loans for the installation of home improvements other than residential solar energy systems. As part of that 
agreement, Sunlight is entitled to additional sale proceeds upon the prepayment of certain Indirect Channel Loans sold. 
This contractual arrangement incorporates prepayment risk related to loan prepayment rates below Sunlight’s 
expectations.

Sunlight’s derivative asset is recorded at fair value in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets as follows:

Successor Predecessor

Balance Sheet Location
December 31, 

2021
December 31, 

2020
Contract derivative 1 Other assets $ 1,076 $ 1,435 
Contract derivative 2 Other assets  335  — 

$ 1,411 $ 1,435 
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The following table summarizes notional amounts related to derivatives:

Successor Predecessor
December 31, 

2021
December 31, 

2020
Contract derivative 1(a) $ 38,879 $ 59,770 
Contract derivative 2(b)  37,891 n.a.

a. Represents the carrying value of Indirect Channel Loans for the purchase and installation of home improvements other than residential solar 
energy systems held by Sunlight’s Bank Partner.

b. Represents the unpaid principal balance of the Loans at time of sale to the Indirect Channel Loan Purchaser for which Sunlight is entitled to 
income in the event of prepayment of the Indirect Channel Loan.

The following table summarizes all income (loss) recorded in relation to derivatives:

Successor Predecessor
For the Period 

July 10, 2021 to 
December 31, 

2021

For the Period 
January 1, 2021 to 

July 9, 2021

For the Year 
Ended December 

31, 2020
Change in fair value of contract derivatives, net

Contract derivative 1 $ 573 $ (932) $ 1,435 
Contract derivative 2  65  270  n.a.

$ 638 $ (662) $ 1,435 
Realized gains on contract derivatives, net

Contract derivative 1 $ 2,789 $ 2,950 $ 103 
Contract derivative 2  77  42  n.a.

$ 2,866 $ 2,992 $ 103 

Note 5. Debt Obligations

Debt consists of the following:

Successor Predecessor

December 31, 2021
December 31, 

2020

Month 
Issued

Outstanding 
Face 

Amount
Carrying 

Value

Maximum 
Facility 

Size

Final 
Stated 

Maturity

Weighted 
Average

Carrying 
Value(a)

Funding 
Cost

Life 
(Years)

Revolving credit facility(a) Apr 2021 $ 20,613 $ 20,613 $ 30,000 Apr 2023  5.1 % 1.3 $ 14,625 

a. In March 2016, Sunlight entered into a Loan and Security Agreement with a lender (“Prior Lender”). In May 2019, Sunlight and Prior Lender 
amended and restated the agreement to provide Sunlight a $15.0 million revolving credit facility (“Prior Facility”). In April 2021, Sunlight paid 
the Prior Facility in full using proceeds from a Loan and Security Agreement into which Sunlight entered with a Lender and replaced the 
associated standby letter of credit. Borrowings under the current $30.0 million revolving credit facility, secured by the net assets of Sunlight, 
bear interest at a per annum rate equal to the sum of (i) a floating rate index and (ii) a fixed margin. The facility includes unused facility costs, 
and amounts borrowed under this facility are nonrecourse to Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc.. The carrying value at December 31, 2020 
reflects Sunlight’s borrowings under the Prior Facility.

Sunlight’s debt obligations are subject to customary loan covenants and event of default provisions, including event of 
default provisions triggered by a failure to maintain minimum liquidity and earnings as well as maintaining capacity to fund 
Loans.
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Activities — Activities related to the carrying value of Sunlight’s debt obligations were as follows:

Successor Predecessor
For the Period 
July 10, 2021 
to December 

31, 2021

For the Period 
January 1, 

2021 to July 9, 
2021

For the Year 
Ended 

December 31, 
2020

Beginning Balance $ 20,613 $ 14,625 $ 11,811 
Borrowings  —  20,746  8,713 
Repayments  —  (14,758)  (5,899) 
Amortization of deferred financing costs(a)  —  —  — 

Ending Balance $ 20,613 $ 20,613 $ 14,625 
a. Excludes $0.0 million amortization of deferred financing costs included in “Other Assets” in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets 

for the periods July 10, 2021 through December 31, 2021 as well as $0.0 million and $0.0 million amortization for the period January 1, 2021 
through July 9, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020, respectively. Sunlight includes amortization of these costs within “Depreciation 
and Amortization” in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations. Unamortized deferred financing costs upon closing of the 
Business Combination did not qualify as acquired assets; therefore, Sunlight did not have any such unamortized costs at December 31, 2021 
and did not amortize any such costs for the period July 10, 2021 through December 31, 2021.

Maturities — At December 31, 2021, all of Sunlight’s debt obligations contractually mature in 2023.

Note 6. Equity and Earnings per Share

The registration statement for the Company’s initial public offering (“IPO”) was declared effective on November 24, 2020. 
On November 30, 2020, the Company consummated its IPO of 34,500,000 units (“IPO Units”), including the issuance of 
4,500,000 units as a result of the underwriters’ exercise in full of its over-allotment option, at $10.00 per unit, generating 
gross proceeds of approximately $345.0 million, and incurring offering costs of approximately $19.7 million, inclusive of 
approximately $12.1 million in deferred underwriting commissions. Each IPO Unit consisted of one share of the 
Company’s Class A common stock and one-half of one warrant (“Public Warrant”). Simultaneously with the closing of the 
IPO, the Company consummated the private placement (the “Private Placement”) of 9,900,000 warrants (“Private 
Placement Warrant”), at a price of $1.00 per Private Placement Warrant to Sponsor, generating proceeds of $9.9 million.

On July 9, 2021, in connection with the closing of the Business Combination, a number of investors (collectively, the 
“Subscribers”) purchased an aggregate of 25,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share 
(“Class A common stock” and such shares purchased by the Subscribers, the “PIPE Shares”), at a purchase price of 
$10.00 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $250.0 million in a private placement, pursuant to separate 
subscription agreements, dated as of January 23, 2021 (collectively, the “Subscription Agreements”). Pursuant to the 
Subscription Agreements, Sunlight gave certain registration rights to the Subscribers with respect to the PIPE Shares.

Successor Equity

Sunlight has three classes of common stock and no classes of preferred stock. Holders of each of the Class A, Class B, 
and Class C common stock vote together as a single class on all matters submitted to a vote of the stockholders, except 
as required by law. Each share of common stock has one vote on all such matters.

Class A Common Stock — The Company is authorized to issue 420,000,000 shares of Class A common stock with a par 
value of $0.0001 per share (“Class A Share”). At December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, there were 84,803,687 and 
34,500,000 shares of Class A common stock issued and outstanding. 

Class B Common Stock — The Company is authorized to issue 20,000,000 shares of Class B common stock with a par 
value of $0.0001 per share (“Class B Share” or “Founder Share”).

In August 2020, 11,500,000 Founder Shares were issued to Sponsor in exchange for the payment of $25,000 of certain 
offering costs on behalf of the Company, or approximately $0.002 per share. In October 2020, the Sponsor transferred 
50,000 Founder Shares to each of the two independent director nominees at their original purchase price. In November 
2020, the Sponsor returned to the Company at no cost an aggregate of 4,312,500 Founder Shares, which the Company 
cancelled. Also in November 2020, the Company effected a stock dividend on the Class B common stock (which receipt of 
such dividends was waived by the independent director nominees), resulting in an aggregate of 8,625,000 shares of Class 
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B common stock outstanding. At December 31, 2020, there were 8,625,000 shares of Class B common stock issued and 
outstanding.

There were no shares of Class B common stock issued and outstanding at December 31, 2021. The Company cancelled 
1,187,759 shares of Class B common stock upon Closing of the Business Combination in connection with the redemption 
of 19,227,063 shares of Class A common stock issued in the Initial Public Offering, and the remaining 7,437,241 shares of 
Class B common stock were automatically converted into Class A common stock at the Business Combination on a one-
for-one basis. 

The holders of the Founders Shares agreed, subject to limited exceptions, not to transfer, assign or sell any of their 
Founder Shares until the earlier to occur of (a) one year after the completion of the Business Combination, (b) the 
reported last sale price of the Company’s Class A common stock equals or exceeds $12.00 per share (as adjusted for 
stock splits, stock dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations and similar activity) for any 20 trading days within any 30-
trading day period commencing at least 150 days after the Business Combination, or (c) the date on which the Company 
completes a liquidation, merger, capital stock exchange, reorganization or other similar transaction that results in all of the 
Company’s stockholders having the right to exchange their shares of common stock for cash, securities or other property.

Class C Common Stock — The Company is authorized to issue 65,000,000 shares of Class C common stock with a par 
value of $0.0001 per share (“Class C Common Stock”). At December 31, 2021, there were 47,595,455 shares of Class C 
common stock issued and outstanding. There were no shares of Class C common stock issued and outstanding at 
December 31, 2020. Each Class C Share, along with one Class EX Unit, can be exchanged for one Class A Share, 
subject to certain limitations. Upon exchange, Sunlight redeems and cancels the Class C common stock and Sunlight 
Financial LLC redeems and cancels the Class EX Unit. Class C Shares have no dividend or liquidation rights, but do have 
voting rights on a pari passu basis with the Class A Shares.

Preferred Stock — The Company is authorized to issue 35,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per 
share, with such designations, voting and other rights and preferences as may be determined from time to time by the 
Sunlight’s board of directors. Sunlight’s Board is able, without stockholder approval, to issue Preferred Stock with voting 
and other rights that could adversely affect the voting power and other rights of the holders of the common stock and 
could have anti-takeover effects. The Company has not issued any shares of preferred stock.

Warrants — At December 31, 2021, Sunlight has authorized Class A Shares to cover the exercise of the following 
outstanding warrants on its equity:

Type
Date of 

Issuance
Exercise Price 

per Share Shares
Public Warrants Nov-20 $ 11.50  17,250,000 
Private Placement Warrants Nov-20  11.50  9,900,000 
Other Feb-21  7.72  627,780 

Refer to Notes 2 and 7 regarding the accounting treatment for warrants and the valuation thereof, respectively.

Public Warrants — Public Warrants may only be exercised for a whole number of shares of common stock. No fractional 
Public Warrants are issued upon separation of the Units and only whole Public Warrants trade. The Public Warrants have 
an exercise price of $11.50 per share, subject to adjustments, and will expire upon the earlier of redemption or five years 
after the completion of the Business Combination. The warrants will become exercisable on November 30, 2021, provided 
the Company has an effective registration statement under the Securities Act covering the shares of Class A common 
stock issuable upon exercise of the Public Warrants and a current prospectus relating to them is available (or the 
Company permits holders to exercise their Public Warrants on a cashless basis and such cashless exercise is exempt 
from registration under the Securities Act). Notwithstanding the above, if the Company’s shares of Class A common stock 
are at the time of any exercise of a warrant not listed on a national securities exchange such that they satisfy the definition 
of a “covered security” under Section 18(b)(1) of the Securities Act, the Company may, at its option, require holders of 
Public Warrants who exercise their warrants to do so on a “cashless basis” in accordance with Section 3(a)(9) of the 
Securities Act and, in the event the Company so elect, it will not be required to file or maintain in effect a registration 
statement, and in the event the Company does not so elect, it will use its best efforts to register or qualify the shares 
under applicable blue sky laws to the extent an exemption is not available.
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Private Placement Warrants — The Private Placement Warrants are not redeemable by the Company, subject to certain 
limited exceptions, so long as they are held by the Sponsor or its permitted transferees. The Sponsor, or its permitted 
transferees, has the option to exercise the Private Placement Warrants for cash or on a cashless basis. Except as 
described in “— Company Redemption of Public Warrants and Private Placement Warrants,” the Private Placement 
Warrants have terms and provisions that are identical to those of the Public Warrants, including as to exercise price, 
exercisability, and exercise period. If the Private Placement Warrants are held by holders other than the Sponsor or its 
permitted transferees, the Private Placement Warrants will be redeemable by the Company in all redemption scenarios 
and exercisable by the holders on the same basis as the Public Warrants. The Private Placement Warrants will be non-
redeemable and exercisable on a cashless basis so long as they are held by the Sponsor or its permitted transferees.

Other Warrants — In February 2021, Sunlight Financial LLC issued a warrant exercisable for 7,000 of its Class A-3 Units 
at an exercise price of $691.90 per unit. In connection with the Business Combination, Sunlight and the holder of that 
warrant amended the warrant to permit the holder to exercise its warrant for 627,700 Class A common stock at an 
exercise price of $7.715 per share. Sunlight reclassified the warrant, historically classified as a liability but no longer 
exercisable for redeemable equity, as equity at a fair value of $2.5 million just prior to reclassification. Upon Closing of the 
Business Combination, holders of warrants exercisable in Sunlight Financial LLC’s Class A-1 and A-2 Units exercised their 
warrants for an aggregate of $2.3 million in cash and 635,641 Class A common shares..

Company Redemption of Public Warrants and Private Placement Warrants — Sunlight may redeem Public Warrants and 
Private Placement Warrants on terms that vary according to the trading price of its Class A shares.

Redemption of Warrants When the Price per Share of Class A Common Stock Equals or Exceeds $18.00 — Once the 
warrants become exercisable, the Company may redeem the outstanding warrants:

• in whole and not in part;
• at a price of $0.01 per warrant;
• upon a minimum of 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption, or the 30-day redemption period, to each warrant 

holder; and
• if, and only if, the reported last sale price of the Class A common stock equals or exceeds $18.00 per share (as 

adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) for any 20 trading days 
within a 30-trading day period ending on the third trading day prior to the date on which the Company sends the 
notice of redemption to the warrant holders.

The Company will not redeem the warrants as described above unless a registration statement under the Securities Act 
covering the shares of Class A common stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants is effective and a current prospectus 
relating to those shares of Class A common stock is available throughout the 30-day redemption period. If and when the 
warrants become redeemable by the Company, it may exercise its redemption right even if it is unable to register or 
qualify the underlying securities for sale under all applicable state securities laws.

The Company has established the last of the redemption criterion discussed above to prevent a redemption call unless 
there is at the time of the call a significant premium to the warrant exercise price. If the foregoing conditions are satisfied 
and the Company issues a notice of redemption of the warrants, each warrant holder will be entitled to exercise its warrant 
prior to the scheduled redemption date. However, the price of the Class A common stock may fall below the $18.00 
redemption trigger price (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) as 
well as the $11.50 (for whole shares) warrant exercise price after the redemption notice is issued.

Redemption of Warrants When the Price per Share of Class A Common Stock Equals or Exceeds $10.00 — Once the 
warrants become exercisable, the Company may redeem the outstanding warrants:

• in whole and not in part;
• at a price of $0.10 per warrant, provided that holders will be able to exercise their warrants on a cashless basis 

prior to redemption and receive that number of shares of Class A common stock determined in part by the 
redemption date and the “fair market value” of the Class A common stock except as otherwise described below;

• upon a minimum of 30 days’ prior written notice to each warrant holder; and
• if, and only if, the reported last sale price of the Class A common stock equals or exceeds $10.00 per share (as 

adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) on the trading day prior to 
the date on which the Company sends notice of redemption to the warrant holders.

The “fair market value” of the Class A common stock for the purpose of the redemption terms above is the average 
reported last sale price of the Class A common stock for the 10 trading days immediately following the date on which the 
notice of redemption is sent to the holders of warrants. In no event will the warrants be exercisable on a cashless basis in 
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connection with this redemption feature for more than 0.361 shares of Class A common stock per whole warrant (subject 
to adjustment). This redemption feature differs from the typical warrant redemption features.

Predecessor Equity

Prior to the Business Combination, interests in Sunlight Financial LLC’s partnership equity consists of members’ preferred 
and subordinated units. Sunlight Financial LLC did not have a specific number of preferred or subordinated units 
authorized at December 31, 2020, but retained the corporate authority to issue sufficient units to meet its obligations. In 
addition to its partnership equity, Sunlight Financial LLC issued warrants, profits interests, and other economic interests as 
part of its long-term incentive plan. Upon the closing of the Business Combination, Sunlight became the managing 
member of Sunlight Financial LLC, which replaced its equity with common equity in the form of Class X units issued to 
Sunlight and Class EX Units issued to certain selling unitholders according to the Business Combination Agreement.

Temporary Equity Activities — Activities related to interests in Sunlight Financial LLC’s partnership equity units considered 
temporary equity were as follows:

Month of Issuance
Class A-3 

Units
Class A-2 

Units
Class A-1 

Units
Units at December 31, 2019 (Predecessor)  326,428  195,973  256,966 

March 2020  11,768  7,065  9,264 
June 2020  12,193  7,320  9,598 
September 2020  12,771  7,667  10,053 
December 2020  13,235  7,947  10,421 

 49,967  29,999  39,336 
Units at December 31, 2020 (Predecessor)  376,395  225,972  296,302 

March 2021  13,457  8,079  10,593 
June 2021  14,094  8,461  11,094 
July 2021  1,444  867  1,137 

 28,995  17,407  22,824 
Units at July 9, 2021 (Predecessor)  405,390  243,379  319,126 

Preferred Units — Prior to the Business Combination, the Class A-1, A-2 and A-3 Units (collectively, the “Class A Units”) 
were the most senior classes of equity units of Sunlight Financial LLC and represented convertible preferred securities 
that earn a preferred return. Sunlight Financial LLC’s board of directors elected to pay the preferred return by issuing 
additional Class A Units equal to 14.5%, on an annualized basis, of the members’ outstanding Class A Units (“Class A PIK 
Units”). At the Closing of the Business Combination, holders of Preferred Units sold certain Class A-2 Units and Class A-3 
Units to wholly-owned subsidiaries of Sunlight in exchange for cash and Class A Shares while remaining Class A 
Unitholders received cash and Class EX Units.
 
Subordinated Units — Prior to the Business Combination, the Class B Units were a class of equity units subordinate to 
Class A Units with regard to liquidation, and Sunlight’s payment of the preferred return to the Class A Units, in Class A PIK 
Units, diluted Class B Units’ interests in Sunlight’s equity. No Class B Units were issued, redeemed, or cancelled during 
the period January 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021 or the year ended December 31, 2020. At the Closing of the Business 
Combination, holders of Class B Units exchanged their Class B Units for cash and Class EX Units.

Other Interests — Prior to the Business Combination, Sunlight had issued the following subordinated interests upon 
conversion of equity-based compensation awards upon vesting.

Class C Units — Sunlight Financial LLC had issued Class C Units that did not have voting rights or certain other equity-
like features, were subordinate to the Class A Units and Class B Units, and only received distributions from Sunlight 
Financial LLC’s profits, based on the total number of outstanding units at such time, after Sunlight Financial LLC 
distributed the liquidation preference of Class A Units. At the Closing of the Business Combination, which occurred at a 
price above the Threshold Equity Value of each equity award, holders of vested Class C Units received cash and Class 
EX Units. Holders of unvested Class C Units received awards of Class C Shares, Class EX Units, and cash subject to 
time vesting.
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LTIP Units — In February 2016, Sunlight Financial LLC established a program pursuant to which it granted units to certain 
employees in a long-term incentive plan. In December 2017, Sunlight Financial LLC, at the direction of its board of 
directors, amended and restated its long-term incentive plan to provide clarity around certain items and to allow for the 
issuance of various classes of LTIP Units. All LTIP units issued between February 2018 and the Closing Date of the 
Business Combination were economically equivalent to corresponding classes of Class C units. At the Closing of the 
Business Combination, holders of vested LTIP Units received cash and Class A Shares. Holders of unvested LTIP Units 
received awards of Class A Shares and cash subject to time vesting.

Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated Subsidiaries — These amounts relate to equity interests in Sunlight's 
consolidated, but not wholly-owned subsidiaries, which are held by the Class EX unitholders.

The Sunlight Financial LLC portion of non-controlling interests is computed as follows:
Successor

For the Period 
July 10, 2021 
to December 

31, 2021
Sunlight Financial LLC net income (loss) before income taxes $ (249,993) 
Sunlight Financial LLC as a percent of total(a)  35.0 %
Sunlight Financial LLC net income (loss) attributable to the Class EX unitholders $ (87,528) 

a. Represents the weighted average percentage of total Sunlight shareholders' net income (loss) in Sunlight Financial LLC attributable to the 
Class EX unitholders. 

The following discloses the effects of changes in Sunlight's ownership interest in Sunlight Financial LLC on Sunlight's 
equity:

Successor
For the Period 
July 10, 2021 
to December 

31, 2021
Transfers (to) from non-controlling interests: 

Increase in Sunlight's shareholders' equity for the delivery of Class EX Units primarily in 
connection with vested provisionally-vested Class EX Units $ 30,379 

Dilution impact of equity transactions  30,379 
Net income (loss) attributable to Class A shareholders  (159,556) 

Change from transfers (to) from non-controlling interests and from net income (loss) attributable to 
Class A shareholders $ (129,177) 

Equity-Based Compensation — On June 17, 2021, the board of directors of the Company adopted the Sunlight 
Financial Holdings Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the "Equity Plan") and the Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. Employee 
Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP” and together with the Equity Plan, the “Plans”), which the Company's stockholders 
approved on July 8, 2021. Refer to Note 11 for recent activities concerning the Plans.

Sunlight has granted the following outstanding awards (“Compensation Awards”) to certain employees and members of 
Sunlight’s Board at December 31, 2021:

Service (in Years)(b)

Award Class(a) Minimum Maximum Awards(c)

Provisionally-Vested Class A Shares 1.9 3.6  337,193 
Provisionally-Vested Class EX Units 1.9 1.9  974,447 
Director RSUs 1.0 1.0  75,000 
Employee RSUs 3.0 4.0  2,136,129 

 3,522,769 
a. All awards subject solely to time-based vesting. 
b. At time of grant.
c. Net of fully vested awards.
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Compensation Unit Activities — Activities related to Sunlight’s equity-based compensation were as follows:

Successor
Provisionally-Vested RSUs

Class A Shares Class EX Units Directors Employees
Per 

Share Shares
Per 
Unit Units

Per 
Unit Units

Per 
Unit Units

July 9, 2021 (Successor) $ —  — $ —  — $ —  — $ —  — 
Issued  9.46  512,227  9.46  1,379,401  9.46  75,000  9.00  2,285,417 
Vested  9.46  (78,296)  9.46  (355,596)  —  —  —  — 
Forfeited or Cancelled  9.46  (96,738)  9.46  (49,358)  —  —  9.46  (149,288) 

December 31, 2021 (Successor)  9.46  337,193  9.46  974,447  9.46  75,000  8.97  2,136,129 

Predecessor
Class C LTIP

Per 
Unit Units

Per 
Unit Units

December 31, 2019 (Predecessor) $ 14.45  237,318 $ 19.54  64,046 
Issued  23.62  1,205  23.62  14,678 
Converted to Class C-1 Units  20.11  (1,095)  40.19  (1,607) 
Converted to Class C-2 Units  11.12  (3,025)  17.36  (3,613) 
Forfeited  —  —  18.61  (2,444) 

December 31, 2020 (Predecessor)  14.51  234,403  20.06  71,060 

December 31, 2020 (Predecessor) $ 14.51  234,403 $ 20.06  71,060 
Converted to Class C-1 Units  16.19  (181)  18.96  (377) 
Converted to Class C-2 Units  11.12  (1,513)  15.64  (1,285) 

July 9, 2021 (Predecessor)  14.53  232,709  20.14  69,398 

Unrecognized Compensation Expense — At December 31, 2021, Sunlight has not yet recognized compensation expense 
for the following awards, all of which are subject solely to time-based service vesting conditions:

Weighted Average 
Recognition Period

Type Awards Amount
Provisionally-Vested Class A Shares 1.2 years  337,193 $ 3,101 
Provisionally-Vested Class EX Units 0.7 years  974,447  9,218 
Director RSUs 0.3 years  75,000  367 
Employee RSUs 1.6 years  2,136,129  16,641 

 3,522,769 $ 29,327 

Refer to Notes 2 and 7 regarding the accounting treatment for compensation units and the valuation thereof.

Earnings (Loss) Per Share — Sunlight is required to present both basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”). Basic 
EPS is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding. 
Diluted EPS is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding 
plus the additional dilutive effect, if any, of common stock equivalents during each period. Sunlight does not present 
earnings per unit of Sunlight Financial LLC, Sunlight’s accounting predecessor, for periods prior to the Business 
Combination. 

Sunlight’s potentially dilutive equity instruments fall primarily into two general categories: (i) instruments that Sunlight has 
issued as part of its compensation plan, and (ii) ownership interests in Sunlight’s subsidiary, Sunlight Financial LLC, that 
are owned by the Class EX unitholders (except the RSUs) and are convertible into Class A shares. Based on the rules for 
calculating earnings per share, there are two general ways to measure dilution for a given instrument: (a) calculate the net 
number of shares that would be issued assuming any related proceeds are used to buy back outstanding shares (the 
treasury stock method), or (b) assume the gross number of shares are issued and calculate any related effects on net 
income available for shareholders (the if-converted and two-class methods). Sunlight has applied these methods as 
prescribed by the rules to each of its outstanding equity instruments as shown below.
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The following table summarizes the basic and diluted earnings per share calculations:
Successor

For the Period 
July 10, 2021 
to December 

31, 2021
Net Income (Loss) Per Class A Shareholders, Basic

Net income (loss) available to Class A shareholders $ (158,573) 
Total weighted average shares outstanding 84,824,109
Net Income (Loss) Per Class A Shareholders, Basic $ (1.87) 

Net Income (Loss) Per Class A Shareholders, Diluted
Net income (loss) available to Class A shareholders $ (158,573) 
Total weighted average shares outstanding 84,824,109
Net Income (Loss) Per Class A Shareholders, Diluted $ (1.87) 

Net income (loss) available to Class A shareholders
Net Income (Loss) $ (247,084) 
Noncontrolling interests in loss of consolidated subsidiaries  87,528 
Other weighting adjustments  983 
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Class A Shareholders  (158,573) 

Noncontrolling interests in income (loss) of Sunlight Financial LLC, net of assumed corporate 
income taxes at enacted rates, attributable to Class EX units exchangeable into Sunlight 
Financial Holdings Inc. Class A shares(a)  — 
Net income (loss) available to Class A shareholders, diluted $ (158,573) 

Weighted Average Units Outstanding
Class A shares outstanding 84,824,109
Class EX units exchangeable into Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. Class A shares(a) —
Incremental Class A Shares attributable to dilutive effect of warrants(b) —

Total weighted average shares outstanding, diluted 84,824,109
a. The Class EX Units not held by Sunlight (that is, those held by noncontrolling interests) are exchangeable into Class A Shares on a one-to-one 

basis. These units are not included in the computation of basic earnings per share. These units enter into the computation of diluted net 
income (loss) per Class A share when the effect is dilutive using the if-converted method. To the extent charges, particularly tax related 
charges, are incurred by Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc., the effect may be anti-dilutive.

b. Sunlight uses the treasury stock method to determine the dilutive effect, if any, of warrants exercisable in Sunlight’s Class A Shares. Such 
warrants were out-of-the-money during the Successor period.

The Class C Shares have no net income (loss) per share as they do not participate in Sunlight’s earnings (losses) or 
distributions. Sunlight determined the presentation of earnings per unit during the predecessor periods is not meaningful. 
Therefore, the earnings per unit information has not been presented for the predecessor periods.

The following table summarizes the weighted-average potential common shares excluded from diluted loss per common 
share as their effect would be anti-dilutive:

Successor

Common Shares From

For the Period 
July 10, 2021 
to December 

31, 2021
Class EX Units  46,354,679 
Warrants(a)  27,150,000 
Other warrants  627,780 
Unvested Class EX Units  1,240,776 
RSUs(b)  2,085,501 

 77,458,736 
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a. Includes Public Warrants and Private Placement Warrants.
b. Includes RSUs awards to directors and employees.

There were no dividends declared for Sunlight’s Class A common stock during the period July 10, 2021 through 
December 31, 2021.

Note 7. Fair Value Measurement

The carrying values and fair values of Sunlight’s assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on a recurring or non-recurring 
basis, as well as other financial instruments for which fair value is disclosed, at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 
2020 were as follows:

Principal 
Balance or 

Notional 
Amount

Carrying 
Value

Fair Value
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

December 31, 2021 (Successor)
Assets:

Financing Receivables:
Loan participations, held-for-investment $ 4,584 $ 4,051 $ — $ — $ 4,260 $ 4,260 
Loans, held-for-investment  291  262  —  —  250  250 

Cash and cash equivalents  91,882  91,882  91,882  —  —  91,882 
Restricted cash  2,018  2,018  2,018  —  —  2,018 
Contract derivatives  76,770  1,411  —  —  1,411  1,411 

Liabilities:
Debt  20,613  20,613  —  —  20,613  20,613 
Warrants  312,225  19,007  —  —  19,007  19,007 
Guarantee obligation n.a.  418  —  —  418  418 

December 31, 2020 (Predecessor)
Assets:

Financing Receivables:
Loan participations, held-for-investment  5,997  5,029  —  —  5,140  5,140 
Loans, held-for-investment  354  304  —  —  310  310 

Cash and cash equivalents  49,583  49,583  49,583  —  —  49,583 
Restricted cash  3,122  3,122  3,122  —  —  3,122 
Contract derivatives  59,770  1,435  —  —  1,435  1,435 

Liabilities:
Debt  14,625  14,625  —  —  14,625  14,625 
Warrants  4,700  5,643  —  —  5,643  5,643 
Guarantee obligation n.a.  839  —  —  839  839 

Fair value measurements categorized within Level 3 are sensitive to changes in the assumptions or methodology used to 
determine fair value and such changes could result in a significant increase or decrease in the fair value. 
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Sunlight’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis using Level 3 inputs changed as follows:

Assets Liabilities
Contract 

Derivatives Warrants
December 31, 2020 (Predecessor) $ 1,435 $ 5,643 
Transfers(a)

Transfers to Level 3  —  41,591 
Transfers from Level 3  —  (11,148) 

Gains (losses) included in net income(b)

Included in change in fair value of warrant liabilities  —  5,504 
Included in change in fair value of contract derivatives, net  (662)  — 
Included in realized gains on contract derivatives, net  2,992  — 

Payments, net  (2,992)  — 
July 9, 2021 (Predecessor)  773  41,590 
Transfers(a)

Transfers to Level 3  —  — 
Transfers from Level 3  —  — 

Gains (losses) included in net income(b)

Included in change in fair value of warrant liabilities  —  (22,583) 
Included in change in fair value of contract derivatives, net  638  — 
Included in realized gains on contract derivatives, net  2,866  — 

Payments, net  (2,866)  — 
December 31, 2021 (Successor) $ 1,411 $ 19,007 

December 31, 2019 (Predecessor) $ — $ 133 
Transfers(a)

Transfers to Level 3  —  — 
Transfers from Level 3  —  — 

Gains (losses) included in net income(b)

Included in change in fair value of warrant liabilities  —  5,510 
Included in change in fair value of contract derivatives, net  1,435  — 
Included in realized gains on contract derivatives, net  103  — 

Payments, net  (103)  — 
December 31, 2020 (Predecessor) $ 1,435 $ 5,643 
a. Transfers are assumed to occur at the beginning of the respective period, except transfers that occurred at the Closing Date of the Business 

Combination.
b. Changes in the fair value of liabilities shown as losses included in net income. 

Contract Derivative Valuation — Fair value estimates of Sunlight's contract derivatives are based on an internal pricing 
model that uses a discounted cash flow valuation technique, incorporates significant unobservable inputs, and includes 
assumptions that are inherently subjective and imprecise. Significant inputs used in the valuation of Sunlight’s contract 
derivatives include:
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Contract 
Derivative Significant Inputs

1 Inputs include expected cash flows from the financing and sale of applicable Indirect Channel Loans 
and discount rates that market participants would expect for the Indirect Channel Loans. Significant 
increases (decreases) in the discount rates in isolation would result in a significantly lower (higher) fair 
value measurement.

2 Inputs include expected prepayment rate of applicable Indirect Channel Loans sold to the Indirect 
Channel Loan Purchaser. Significant increases (decreases) in the expected prepayment rate in isolation 
would result in a significantly higher (lower) fair value measurement.

The following significant assumptions were used to value Sunlight’s contract derivative:

Successor Predecessor
December 31, 

2021
December 31, 

2020
Contract Derivative 1

Discount rate  10.0 %  8.1 %
Weighted average life (in years) 0.2 0.3

Contract Derivative 2
Expected prepayment rate  75.0 % n.a.

Compensation Unit and Warrant Valuation — Sunlight uses the observed market price of its publicly-traded Class A 
common shares and the warrants thereon to measure the value of RSU awards on the grant date and the value of Public 
Warrants, respectively. For Private Placement Warrants, Sunlight uses an independent third-party valuation firm to value 
those warrants using a Monte Carlo option pricing model, which includes the following estimates of underlying asset 
value, volatility, dividend rates, expiration dates, and risk-free rates:

Successor

Assumption
December 31, 

2021
Class A common share value per share(a) $ 4.78 
Implied volatility(a)  48.0 %
Dividend yield(b)  — %
Time to expiry (in years)(a)  4.5 
Risk free rate(a)  1.2 %

a. Significant increases in these assumptions in isolation would result in a higher fair value measurement.
b. Significant increases in these assumptions in isolation would result in a lower fair value measurement.

Predecessor

To determine the fair value of warrants at December 31, 2020 and the grant-date value of each Class C Unit and LTIP Unit 
granted prior to the Business Combination during the periods January 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021 and the year ended 
December 31, 2020, an independent third-party valuation firm (a) used an income valuation approach to determine the fair 
value of Sunlight’s equity on a quarterly basis and (b) allocated that fair value to each class of interest in Sunlight’s equity 
and warrants thereon on a per unit basis using an option pricing method. Sunlight determined the grant-date fair value of 
an award using the value at the quarter-end closest to the grant date of the award. Significant increases (decreases) in 
the cost of equity, volatility, tax rate, and equity term in isolation would result in a significantly lower (higher) fair value 
measurement. The following significant assumptions were used to value Sunlight’s equity and warrants thereon, on a 
weighted-average basis:
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Predecessor

Assumption
December 31, 

2020
Cost of equity  22.5 %
Volatility  46.0 %
Tax rate  26.0 %
Term (in years)  3.0 

At December 31, 2020, Sunlight applied a hybrid probability-weighted expected return valuation method, which 
incorporated two scenarios: (a) a scenario using a market valuation approach that assumed Sunlight completed the 
Business Combination and (b) a remain private scenario that used the aforementioned income valuation approach. 

Goodwill — As part of its annual goodwill impairment test, Sunlight valued its single reporting unit using an equal-
weighted valuation methodology, which incorporated (a) an income approach using a discounted cash flow analysis and 
(b) a market approach using publicly-traded companies similar to Sunlight.

Note 8. Taxes

During the period July 10, 2021 through December 31, 2021, the significant components of income tax expense consisted 
of the following:

For the Period 
July 10, 2021 
to December 

31, 2021
Net Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes $ (250,588) 

Income Tax Expense (Benefit)
Current

Federal $ 1,708 
State and local  312 

 2,020 
Deferred

Federal  (4,603) 
State and local  (921) 

 (5,524) 
Total

Federal  (2,895) 
State and local  (609) 

$ (3,504) 

Total loss before taxes is $250.6 million The total current federal and state income tax expense is $2.0 million with a total 
deferred federal and state income tax benefit of $5.5 million, for a total tax benefit of $3.5 million.
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During the period July 10, 2021 through December 31, 2021, Sunlight’s effective income tax rate varied from the U.S. 
statutory tax rate that was in effect during the period as follows:

For the Period July 10, 2021 to 
December 31, 2021

Net Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes $ (250,588) 
Statutory U.S Income Tax Rate  21.0 %

Income tax expense (benefit), at statutory U.S. federal rate $ (52,623)  21.0 %

State and local taxes  (674)  0.3 
Goodwill impairment  30,658  (12.2) 
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities  (3,081)  1.2 
Noncontrolling interests in loss of consolidated subsidiaries  18,390  (7.3) 
Business Combination compensation expense  3,662  (1.5) 
Other  164  (0.1) 
Income tax expense (benefit) $ (3,504)  1.4 

Sunlight’s effective income tax rate during the period July 10, 2021 through December 31, 2021 is 1.4%. The difference 
between Sunlight’s statutory and effective tax rate is primarily due to the permanent adjustments for goodwill impairment 
of $30.7 million, changes in the value of warrant liabilities of $3.1 million and noncontrolling interest in subsidiaries of 
$18.4 million.

Deferred income taxes are recognized for the future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial 
statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities. The tax effect of temporary differences that give rise to a significant 
portion of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are as follows:

For the Period 
July 10, 2021 
to December 

31, 2021
Deferred tax liabilities

Investment in Sunlight Financial LLC  (36,686) 
Deferred tax asset (liability), net $ (36,686) 

At December 31, 2021, Sunlight had deferred tax liabilities of $36.7 million, of which the most significant deferred tax 
liability is depreciation and amortization of $35.4 million.

Sunlight recognizes tax benefits for uncertain tax positions only if it is more likely than not that the position is sustainable 
based on its technical merits. Interest and penalties on uncertain tax positions are included as a component of the 
provision for income taxes in Sunlight's Consolidated Statements of Operations. As of December 31, 2021 and 
December 31, 2020, Sunlight did not have any material uncertain tax positions. Any uncertain tax position taken by any of 
the Class EX unitholders is not an uncertain tax position of Sunlight Financial LLC.

Tax Receivable Agreement — Sunlight entered into a Tax Receivable Agreement (“TRA”) with selling equity holders of 
Sunlight Financial LLC that requires Sunlight to pay 85.0% of the tax savings that are realized primarily as a result of 
increases in Sunlight Financial LLC managing member’s tax basis in the partnership’s assets as a result of the sale and 
exchange of Sunlight Financial LLC’s Class EX units and Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc.’s Class C shares for Sunlight 
Financial Holdings Inc.’s Class A shares, as well as certain other tax benefits related to tax benefits attributable to 
payments under the TRA. Sunlight retains the benefit of the remaining 15.0% of these tax savings.

The Business Combination did not create a TRA liability, and Sunlight has not recognized a TRA liability through 
December 31, 2021, as there were no exchanges of Sunlight Financial LLC’s partnership equity held by members prior to 
the Business Combination for interests in Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. subject to the TRA. 

Note 9. Transactions with Affiliates and Affiliated Entities

Sunlight has entered into agreements with the following affiliates, including equity members and those serve on Sunlight’s 
board of directors.
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Founder Shares — In August 2020, 11,500,000 shares of the Spartan’s Class B common stock, par value $0.0001 per 
share (“Class B common stock” or “Founder Shares”) were issued to the Sponsor in exchange for the payment of $25,000 
of certain offering costs on behalf of the Company, or approximately $0.002 per share. In October 2020, the Sponsor 
transferred 50,000 Founder Shares to each of the two independent director nominees at their original purchase price. In 
November 2020, the Sponsor returned to the Company at no cost an aggregate of 4,312,500 Founder Shares, which the 
Company cancelled. Also in November 2020, the Company effected a stock dividend on the Class B common stock 
(which receipt of such dividends was waived by the independent director nominees), resulting in an aggregate of 
8,625,000 shares of Class B common stock outstanding. All shares and associated amounts had been retroactively 
restated to reflect the share surrender and the stock dividend. Of the 8,625,000 Founder Shares outstanding, up to 
1,125,000 shares were subject to forfeiture to the extent that the over-allotment option was not exercised by the 
underwriters, so that the Founder Shares would represent 20.0% of the Company’s issued and outstanding shares after 
the Initial Public Offering. On November 30, 2020, the underwriters fully exercised the over-allotment option; thus, these 
1,125,000 shares were no longer subject to forfeiture.

The holders of the Founders Shares agreed, subject to limited exceptions, not to transfer, assign or sell any of their 
Founder Shares until the earlier to occur of: (A) one year after the completion of the Business Combination or (B) 
subsequent to the Business Combination, (x) if the reported last sale price of the Company’s Class A common stock 
equals or exceeds $12.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations and 
the like) for any 20 trading days within any 30-trading day period commencing at least 150 days after the Business 
Combination, or (y) the date on which the Company completes a liquidation, merger, capital stock exchange, 
reorganization or other similar transaction that results in all of the Company’s stockholders having the right to exchange 
their shares of common stock for cash, securities or other property.

Private Placement Warrants — Simultaneously with the closing of the Initial Public Offering, the Company consummated 
the Private Placement of 9,900,000 Private Placement Warrants, at a price of $1.00 per Private Placement Warrant to the 
Sponsor, generating proceeds of $9.9 million.

Each whole Private Placement Warrant is exercisable for one whole share of the Company’s Class A common stock at a 
price of $11.50 per share. A portion of the purchase price of the Private Placement Warrants was added to the proceeds 
from the Initial Public Offering held in the Trust Account. The Private Placement Warrants will be non-redeemable and 
exercisable on a cashless basis so long as they are held by the Sponsor or its permitted transferees.

Related Party Loans — On August 17, 2020, the Sponsor agreed to loan Spartan an aggregate of up to $300,000 to 
cover expenses related to the Initial Public Offering pursuant to an unsecured promissory note (the “Note”). This Note was 
non-interest bearing and payable upon the closing date of the Initial Public Offering. As of November 30, 2020, the 
Company borrowed approximately $235,000 under the Note. The Company fully repaid the Note on December 3, 2020. 
Subsequent to the repayment, the facility was no longer available to the Company.

In addition, in order to finance transaction costs in connection with the Business Combination, the Sponsor or an affiliate 
of the Sponsor, or certain of the Company’s officers and directors may, but are not obligated to, loan the Company funds 
as may be required. The Company had no such borrowings upon closing of the Business Combination, at which time such 
loans from the Sponsor are no longer available to the Company.

Administrative Support Agreement — Commencing on the date the Units were first listed on the NYSE, the Company 
has agreed to pay the Sponsor a total of $10,000 per month for office space, utilities and secretarial and administrative 
support. The Company paid the Sponsor $60,000 for such services during the period of January 1, 2021 through July 9, 
2021. Upon closing of the Business Combination, the Administrative Support Agreement was terminated.

FTV Management V, LLC (“FTV”) — In May 2018, Sunlight entered into a management agreement with FTV. Under the 
terms of the agreement, FTV provided strategic financial services to Sunlight in exchange for a management fee of 
$50,000 per calendar quarter. This management agreement terminated upon closing of the Business Combination.

Hudson SL Portfolio Holdings LLC (“HSPH”) — In February 2018, Sunlight entered into an administrative services 
agreement with HSPH, indirectly owned by members of Sunlight and SL Investor III LLC, where Sunlight agreed to 
provide certain services to Solar Loan Management LLC, an affiliate of Hudson Sustainable Investment Management, 
LLC and HSPH. These services generally include special servicing administration, ongoing accounting work, all 
calculations related to the purchase and financing of certain Loans under the forward flow agreement and the senior 
financing, and other services that would be expected of the sponsor of a securitized pool of loans. During the year ended 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, Sunlight was paid $0.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively, for such services. Upon 
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departure of the former member of Sunlight’s board of directors upon closing of the Business Combination, Sunlight no 
longer considers HSPH a related party.

Tiger Infrastructure Partners (“Tiger”) — In September 2015, Sunlight entered into a management agreement with 
Tiger. Under the terms of the agreement, Sunlight pays Tiger a management fee of $50,000 per calendar quarter for 
strategic financial services provided by Tiger to Sunlight. In addition to the management fee, Sunlight reimbursed $0.4 
million and $0.0 million during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.This management agreement 
terminated upon closing of the Business Combination.

Financing Program Agreement — In May 2018, Sunlight entered into a financing program agreement with Lumina Solar, 
Inc. (“Lumina”), pursuant to which Sunlight facilitates financing for consumers that purchase residential solar energy 
power systems from Lumina. A former member of Sunlight’s board of directors and a former officer of Sunlight are 
stockholders of, and actively involved in the management of, Lumina. Sunlight received approximately $0.2 million and 
$0.3 million in revenue for the period July 10, 2021 through December 31, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020, 
respectively. Upon departure of the former member of Sunlight’s board of directors upon closing of the Business 
Combination, Sunlight no longer considers Lumina a related party.

Estimated Tax Distributions — Sunlight Financial LLC distributes cash to its unitholders using allocations of estimated 
taxable income it expects to generate. As Sunlight revises its estimate of taxable income or loss, the allocation of taxable 
income to its unitholders may change, resulting in amounts due to, or from, certain unitholders. At December 31, 2021 and 
2020, Sunlight declared distributions of $0.0 million and $7.5 million, respectively, that it had not yet paid, shown as 
“Distributions Payable” in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. Sunlight paid estimated tax distributions of 
$7.5 million and $2.0 million during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Note 10. Commitments and Contingencies

Sunlight was subject to the following commitments and contingencies at December 31, 2021.

Litigation — From time to time, Sunlight may be involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary 
course of business. Sunlight establishes an accrued liability for legal proceedings only when those matters present loss 
contingencies that are both probable and reasonably estimable. 

At December 31, 2021, Sunlight was not involved in any material legal proceedings regarding claims or legal actions 
against Sunlight.

Indemnifications — In the normal course of business, Sunlight enters into contracts that contain a variety of 
representations and warranties and that provide general indemnifications. Sunlight’s maximum exposure under these 
arrangements is unknown as this would involve future claims that may be made against Sunlight that have not yet 
occurred. However, based on Sunlight’s experience, Sunlight expects the risk of material loss to be remote.

Advances — Sunlight provides a contractually agreed upon percentage of cash to a contractor related to a Loan that has 
not yet been funded by either a Direct Channel Partner or its Bank Partner as well as amounts funded to contractors in 
anticipation of loan funding. At December 31, 2021, Sunlight has committed to advance up to $230.6 million for unfunded, 
approved Loans submitted by eligible contractors and other contingently committed amounts, of which Sunlight advanced 
$67.1 million included in “Advances” in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Funding Commitments — Pursuant to Sunlight’s contractual arrangements with contractors, Direct Channel Partners, 
and Bank Partner, the funding source periodically remits to Sunlight the cash related to Loans it has originated. Sunlight 
has committed to funding such amounts to the relevant contractor when certain milestones have been reached relating to 
the installation of residential solar system, or other home improvement equipment, underlying the consumer receivable. 
Any amounts retained by Sunlight in anticipation of an installation milestone being reached are included in “Funding 
Commitments” in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets, totaling $22.7 million at December 31, 2021.

Loan Guarantees — Sunlight is required to guarantee the performance of certain Indirect Channel Loans, which it is 
required to repurchase in the event Sunlight is unable to facilitate the sale of such loans, and certain Direct Channel 
Loans. Upon repurchase, Sunlight may attempt to recover any contractual amounts owed by the borrower or from the 
contractor (in the event of a contractor’s nonperformance). Sunlight repurchased and wrote off 20 loans, totaling $0.4 
million, for the period July 10, 2021 through December 31, 2021 as well as 60 and 49 loans, totaling $1.3 million and $1.1 
million, for the period January 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020, respectively, 
associated with these guarantees. At December 31, 2021, the maximum potential amount of undiscounted future 
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payments Sunlight could be required to make under these guarantees totaled $52.8 million, and Sunlight recorded a $0.4 
million liability presented within “Other Liabilities” in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. At December 31, 
2021, the unpaid principal balance of loans, net of applicable discounts, for guaranteed loans held by Sunlight’s Bank 
Partner and certain Direct Channel Partners that were delinquent more than 90 days was $0.1 million.

Tax Receivable Agreement — If Sunlight were to exercise its right to terminate the TRA or certain other acceleration 
events occur, Sunlight would be required to make immediate cash payments. Such cash payments will be equal to the 
present value of the assumed future realized tax benefits based on a set of assumptions and using an agreed upon 
discount rate, as defined in the TRA. The early termination payment may be made significantly in advance of the actual 
realization, if any, of those future tax benefits. Such payments will be calculated based on certain assumptions, including 
that Sunlight expects to have sufficient taxable income to utilize the full amount of any tax benefits subject to the TRA over 
the period specified therein. The payments that Sunlight would be required to make will generally reduce the amount of 
the overall cash flow that might have otherwise been available, but Sunlight expects the cash tax savings it would realize 
from the utilization of the related tax benefits will exceed the amount of any required payments.

Sunlight Rewards™ Program — Sunlight Rewards™ allows solar salespeople to earn points for selling Sunlight-
facilitated loans. These individuals can gain “status” for their own overall loyalty, track their points, and choose to redeem 
points for quality awards. If all points earned under the Sunlight Rewards™ Program were redeemed at December 31, 
2021, Sunlight would pay $3.0 million, and Sunlight recorded a liability of $1.8 million.

Non-Cancelable Operating Leases — Sunlight's non-cancelable operating leases consist of office space leases. Certain 
lease agreements include rent concessions and leasehold improvement incentives. In addition to base rentals, certain 
lease agreements are subject to escalation provisions and rent expense is recognized on a straight‑line basis over the 
term of the lease agreement. 

At December 31, 2021, the approximate aggregate annual minimum future lease payments required on the operating 
leases are as follows: 
 

2022 $ 1,348 
2023  1,510 
2024  1,553 
2025  1,746 
2026  1,790 
Thereafter  4,856 

$ 12,803 

During the periods July 10, 2021 through December 31, 2021 and January 1, 2021 through July 9, 2021, total lease 
expense was $0.7 million and $0.9 million, respectively, of which Sunlight accrued $0.1 million not yet paid at 
December 31, 2021. During the year ended December 31, 2020, total lease expense was $1.1 million, which Sunlight paid 
in full. 

Note 11. Subsequent Events

The following events occurred subsequent to December 31, 2021 through the issuance date of these Consolidated 
Financial Statements. Events subsequent to that date have not been considered in these financial statements.

Other

During the first quarter of 2020, the outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus (COVID-19) has adversely impacted global 
commercial activity and contributed to significant declines and volatility in financial markets. Depending on the severity 
and duration of the outbreak, the novel coronavirus could present material uncertainty and risk with respect to the 
Company, its performance, and its financial results.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 
DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company’s management, with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, 
has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this report. The Company’s 
disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information is recorded, 
processed, summarized and reported accurately and on a timely basis. Based on such evaluation, the Company’s Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the end of such period, the Company’s disclosure 
controls and procedures were effective.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer are responsible for establishing and maintaining 
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over 
financial reporting (as defined by Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Company and has designed such 
internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under their 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Internal control over 
financial reporting, no matter how well designed, has inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be 
effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation. Further, 
because of changes in conditions, the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting may vary over time. 

As discussed elsewhere in this report, we completed the Business Combination on July 9, 2021. Prior to the Business 
Combination, Sunlight was a private company and therefore its controls were not required to be designed or maintained in 
accordance with Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Exchange Act. The design and implementation of internal control 
over financial reporting for the Company post-Business Combination has required and will continue to require significant 
time and resources from management and other personnel. Because of this, the design and ongoing development of our 
framework for implementation and evaluation of internal control over financial reporting is in its preliminary stages. As a 
result, management was unable, without incurring unreasonable effort or expense to conduct an assessment of our 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021. Accordingly, we are excluding management’s report on 
internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 215.02 of the SEC Division of Corporation Finance’s 
Regulation S-K Compliance & Disclosure Interpretations.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Spartan Acquisition Corp. II, a non-operating public shell company and legal acquirer of Sunlight identified a material 
weakness in its internal control over financial reporting prior to the Business Combination resulting from improper 
classification of its warrants. Since the issuance on November 30, 2020, its warrants were accounted for as equity within 
its balance sheet. On April 12, 2021, the staff of the SEC (the “SEC Staff”) issued a public statement entitled “Staff 
Statement on Accounting and Reporting Considerations for Warrants issued by Special Purpose Acquisition Companies 
(“SPACs”)” (the “SEC Staff Statement”). In the SEC Staff Statement, the SEC Staff expressed its view that certain terms 
and conditions common to SPAC warrants may require the warrants to be classified as liabilities on the SPAC’s balance 
sheet as opposed to equity. After discussion and evaluation, taking into consideration the SEC Staff Statement, 
management of Spartan Acquisition Corp. II concluded that its warrants should be presented as liabilities with subsequent 
fair value remeasurement. 

At the Company's internal control assessment date, the internal controls of Spartan Acquisition Corp. II no longer exist.

As discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, Sunlight completed the Business Combination on July 9, 
2021 and its management is engaged in the process of the design and implementation of our internal control over 
financial reporting in a manner commensurate with the scale of Sunlight's post-Business Combination operations.
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

None.

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Code of Ethics

The Sunlight Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Business Conduct & Ethics (the “Code of Conduct”), effective as 
of July 9, 2021. The Code of Conduct applies to all of Sunlight’s employees, officers and directors, as well as all of 
Sunlight’s contractors, consultants, suppliers and agents in connection with their work for Sunlight. The Code of Conduct 
clarifies (i) the types of permitted conduct under such code, including business activities and opportunities and (ii) 
procedures for the reporting, oversight and investigation of alleged violations of the Code of Conduct. The full text of 
Sunlight’s Code of Conduct is posted on Sunlight’s website at https://sunlightfinancial.com/investors under the Leadership 
& Governance section. Sunlight intends to disclose future amendments to, or waivers of, Sunlight’s Code of Conduct, as 
and to the extent required by SEC regulations, at the same location on Sunlight’s website identified above or in public 
filings with the SEC from time to time. 

The additional information required by this Item 10 will be set forth in the definitive proxy statement for our 2022 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders (the “Proxy Statement”), including under the headings “Proposal 1 — Election of Directors”, “— 
Class I Nominees for Election for a Three-Year Term Expiring at the 2025 Annual Meeting”, “Board of Directors and 
Corporate Governance — Class II Directors Continuing in Office until the 2023 Annual Meeting”, “— Class III Directors 
Continuing in Office until the 2024 Annual Meeting”, “— Audit Committee”, “— Corporate Governance]”, “Executive 
Officers”, and, “Executive Compensation — Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports”, and is incorporated herein by reference. 
We intend to file the Proxy Statement with the SEC within 120 days after the fiscal year end of December 31, 2021.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

We incorporate by reference the information responsive to this Item appearing in our Proxy Statement, including under the 
headings “Executive Compensation — Fiscal Year 2021 Summary Compensation Table”, “— Narrative Disclosure to 
Summary Compensation Table”, “— Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year 2021 Year-End”, and “Board of Directors 
and Corporate Governance — 2021 Director Compensation Table”.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

We incorporate by reference the information responsive to this Item appearing in our Proxy Statement, including under the 
heading “Beneficial Ownership of Securities” and “Executive Compensation — Securities Authorized for Issuance under 
Equity Compensation Plans”.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

We incorporate by reference the information responsive to this Item appearing in our Proxy Statement, including under the 
headings “Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions”, and “Board of Directors and Corporate Governance — 
Corporate Governance — Independence of Board of Directors”, “— Audit Committee”, “— Compensation Committee” and 
“— Nominating, Governance & ESG Committee”.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

We incorporate by reference the information responsive to this Item appearing in our Proxy Statement, including under the 
heading “Proposal 2 — Ratification of Selection of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm — Principal 
Accountant Fees and Services”, “— Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures”.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

1. Financial Statements

See Item 8 above.

2. Financial Statement Schedules

Financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are either not required, not applicable, the amounts 
involved are not material, or the information required to be presented is included in the Company’s financial statements 
and related notes.

3. Exhibits:
Exhibit 
Number Description

2.1** Business Combination Agreement, dated as of January 23, 2021, by and among Spartan, the Spartan Subsidiaries, FTV Blocker, Tiger 
Blocker and Sunlight (incorporated by reference to Annex A to the Company’s proxy statement/prospectus on Form 424(b)(3) (File No. 
333-254589) filed with the SEC on June 21, 2021).

3.1** Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to 
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39739) filed with the Commission on July 15, 2021).

3.2** Amended and Restated Bylaws of Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39739) filed with the Commission on July 15, 2021).

3.3** Fifth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Sunlight Financial LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to 
the Company’s current report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39739) filed with the SEC on July 15, 2021).

4.1** Warrant Agreement, dated November 24, 2020, between Spartan and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as warrant agent 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Spartan’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39739) filed with the SEC on December 
1, 2020).

4.2** Warrant to Purchase Units, dated February 27, 2021 between Sunlight Financial LLC and Tech Capital LLC (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39739) filed with the SEC on July 15, 2021).

4.3** Amendment No. 1 to Warrant to Purchase Units, dated July 8, 2021 between Sunlight Financial and Tech Capital LLC (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39739) filed with the SEC on July 15, 2021).

4.4* Description of Securities.

10.1** † Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc.’s 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-8 (Reg. No. 333-259935), filed with the SEC on October 10, 2021). 

10.2** † Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc.’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Company’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-8 (Reg. No. 333-259935), filed with the SEC on October 10, 2021). 

10.3** Form of Subscription Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Spartan’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39739) 
filed with the SEC on January 25. 2021).

10.4** Letter Agreement, dated November 24, 2020, among the Spartan, its officers and directors and the Sponsor (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1 to Spartan’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39739) filed with the SEC on December 1, 2020).

10.5** Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to Spartan’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 
333-249430) filed with the SEC on October 9, 2020).

10.6** Securities Subscription Agreement, dated August 17, 2020 between Spartan and Sponsor (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to 
Spartan’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-249430) filed with the SEC on October 9, 2020).

10.7** Private Placement Warrants Purchase Agreement, dated November 24, 2020, between Spartan and the Sponsor incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Spartan’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39739) filed with the SEC on December 1, 2020).

10.8** Form of Lock-Up Agreement for large shareholders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to Amendment No. 2 to Spartan’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Reg. No. 333-254589), filed with the SEC on June 1, 2021).

10.9** Form of Lock-Up Agreement for small shareholders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to Amendment No. 2 to Spartan’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Reg. No. 333-254589), filed with the SEC on June 1, 2021).

10.10** Form of Lock-Up Agreement for Sunlight Executives (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 Amendment No. 2 to Spartan’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Reg. No. 333-254589), filed with the SEC on June 1, 2021).

10.11** Founders Stock Agreement, dated January 23, 2021 by and between Spartan, the Sponsor and the initial stockholders (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Spartan’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39739) filed with the SEC on December 1, 2020).

10.12** Letter Agreement Amendment, dated January 23, 2021 among Spartan, its officers and directors and the Sponsor (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Spartan’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39739) filed with the SEC on December 1, 2020).

10.13** Tax Receivable Agreement by and among the Company, the TRA Holders and the Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to 
the Company’s Current Report Form 8-K (File No. 001-39739) filed with the SEC on July 15, 2021.

10.14** Indemnity Agreement, dated January 23, 2021, among Spartan, the Blockers, FTV Blocker Holder, the Spartan Subsidiaries and Sunlight 
(incorporated by reference to as Exhibit 10.16 to Spartan’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-254589) filed with the SEC 
on March 22, 2021).
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10.15** Company Support Agreement, dated January 23, 2021, among Spartan, the Spartan Subsidiaries, the Blockers and Sunlight 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to Spartan’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-254589), filed with the SEC on 
March 22, 2021).

10.16** Investor Rights Agreement, dated July 9, 2021, by and among the Company, and certain stockholders and equityholders of the Company 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39739) filed with the SEC on July 
15, 2021).

10.17** Amended and Restated Loan Sale Agreement, dated as of February 12, 2018, by and between Cross River Bank and Sunlight Financial 
LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to Amendment No. 1 to Spartan’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 
333-254589) filed with the SEC on May 12, 2021).

10.18** First Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan Sale Agreement, dated as of August 28, 2019, by and between Cross River Bank and 
Sunlight Financial LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to Amendment No. 1 to Spartan’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 
(File No. 333-254589) filed with the SEC on May 12, 2021).

10.19** Seventh Amendment to First Amended and Restated Loan Program Agreement and Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan 
Sale Agreement, dated as of June 3, 2020, by and between Cross River Bank and Sunlight Financial LLC (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.21 to Amendment No. 1 to Spartan’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-254589) filed with the SEC on May 12, 
2021).

10.20** Omnibus Waiver and Tenth Amendment to First Amended and Restated Loan Program Agreement and Waiver and Third Amendment to 
Amended and Restated Loan Sale Agreement, dated January 28, 2021, by and between Cross River Bank and Sunlight Financial LLC 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to Amendment No. 1 to Spartan’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-254589) 
filed with the SEC on May 12, 2021).

10.21** First Amended and Restated Loan Program Agreement, dated as of February 12, 2018, by and between Cross River Bank and Sunlight 
Financial LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to Amendment No. 1 to Spartan’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 
333-254589) filed with the SEC on May 12, 2021).

10.22** Third Amendment to Residential Solar Energy Loan Program Agreement, undated, by and between Cross River Bank and Sunlight 
Financial LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to Amendment No. 1 to Spartan’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 
333-254589) filed with the SEC on May 12, 2021).

10.23** Fee Letter to First Amended and Restated Loan Program Agreement, as amended, dated February 18, 2020 (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.25 to Amendment No. 1 to Spartan’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-254589) filed with the SEC on May 
12, 2021).

10.24** Fee Letter to First Amended and Restated Loan Program Agreement, as amended, dated June 18, 2018 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.26 to Amendment No. 1 to Spartan’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-254589) filed with the SEC on May 12, 
2021).

10.25** Fourth Amendment to Loan Program Agreement, dated March 8, 2019, by and between Cross River Bank and Sunlight (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.27 to Amendment No. 1 to Spartan’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-254589) filed with the SEC 
on May 12, 2021).

10.26** Fifth Amendment to First Amended and Restated Loan Program Agreement, dated December 1, 2019, by and between Cross River Bank 
and Sunlight Financial LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to Amendment No. 1 to Spartan’s Registration Statement on Form 
S-4 (File No. 333-254589) filed with the SEC on May 12, 2021).

10.27** Sixth Amendment to First Amended and Restated Loan Program Agreement, dated March 31, 2020, by and between Cross River Bank 
and Sunlight Financial LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to Amendment No. 1 to Spartan’s Registration Statement on Form 
S-4 (File No. 333-254589) filed with the SEC on May 12, 2021).

10.28** Eighth Amendment to First Amended and Restated Loan Program Agreement, dated January 5, 2021, by and between Cross River Bank 
and Sunlight Financial LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to Amendment No. 1 to Spartan’s Registration Statement on Form 
S-4 (File No. 333-254589) filed with the SEC on May 12, 2021).

10.29** Ninth Amendment to First Amended and Restated Loan Program Agreement, dated February 17, 2021, by and between Cross River Bank 
and Sunlight Financial LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to Amendment No. 1 to Spartan’s Registration Statement on Form 
S-4 (File No. 333-254589) filed with the SEC on May 12, 2021).

10.30** Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of April 26, 2021, between Sunlight Financial LLC and Silicon Valley Bank (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.34 to Amendment No. 1 to Spartan’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-254589) filed with the SEC 
on May 12, 2021).

10.31**† Form of Employment Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 to Amendment No. 1 to Spartan’s Registration Statement on 
Form S-4 (File No. 333-254589) filed with the SEC on May 12, 2021).

10.32**† Employment Agreement, effective as of July 9, 2021, by and between Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. and Matthew Potere (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-39739) filed with the SEC on November 
15 ,2021).

10.33**† Employment Agreement, effective as of July 9, 2021, by and between Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. and Barry Edinburg (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-39739) filed with the SEC on November 15, 
2021).

10.34**† Employment Agreement, effective as of July 9, 2021, by and between Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. and Timothy Parsons (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-39739) filed with the SEC on November 
15 ,2021).

10.35** Form of Restrictive Covenants Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to Amendment No. 1 to Spartan’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-254589) filed with the SEC on May 12, 2021).

10.36** Form of Indemnity Agreement for Sunlight Executives (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q (File No. 001-39739) filed with the SEC on November 15, 2021).

10.37** Form of Day 1 RSU Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to Amendment No. 1 to Spartan’s Registration Statement on 
Form S-4 (File No. 333-254589) filed with the SEC on May 12, 2021).

10.38* Eleventh Amendment to First Amended and Restated Loan Program Agreement, dated March 30, 2021, by and between Cross River 
Bank and Sunlight Financial LLC.

10.39* Twelfth Amendment to First Amended and Restated Loan Program Agreement, dated June 14, 2021, by and between Cross River Bank 
and Sunlight Financial LLC.

10.40* Thirteenth Amendment to First Amended and Restated Loan Program Agreement, dated August 3, 2021, by and between Cross River 
Bank and Sunlight Financial LLC.
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10.41* Fourteenth Amendment to First Amended and Restated Loan Program Agreement, dated September 3, 2021, by and between Cross 
River Bank and Sunlight Financial LLC.

10.42* First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated August 27, 2021, by and between Sunlight Financial LLC and Silicon Valley 
Bank.

10.43* Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated November 19, 2021, by and between Sunlight Financial LLC and Silicon 
Valley Bank.

16.1** Letter from WithumSmith+Brown, PC to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission dated July 15, 2021(incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 16.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39739) filed with the SEC on July 15, 2021).

21.1* List of Subsidiaries.
23.1* Consent of RSM US LLP.
31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange 

Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc. pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101 The following materials from Sunlight Financial Holdings Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, 

formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language); (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) Consolidated Statements of 
Operations, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity, (iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (v) Notes to Financial 
Statements.

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).

* Filed herewith.
** Incorporated by reference to prior filing.
† Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES
 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

SUNLIGHT FINANCIAL HOLDINGS INC.

By: /s/ Matthew Potere
Matthew Potere
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
March 29, 2022

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has 
been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

Signature Title Date

/s/ Matthew Potere
Matthew Potere Chief Executive Officer and Director

(Principal Executive Officer)
March 29, 2022

/s/ Barry Edinburg
Barry Edinburg Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)
March 29, 2022

/s/ William B. Miller
William B. Miller Principal Accounting Officer

(Principal Accounting Officer)
March 29, 2022

/s/ Brad Bernstein
Brad Bernstein Director March 29, 2022

/s/ Jeanette Gorgas
Jeanette Gorgas Director March 29, 2022

/s/ Emil W. Henry, Jr.
Emil W. Henry, Jr. Chairman of the Board March 29, 2022

/s/ Toan Huynh
Toan Huynh Director March 29, 2022

/s/ Jennifer D. Nordquist
Jennifer D. Nordquist Director March 29, 2022

/s/ Philip Ryan
Philip Ryan Director March 29, 2022

/s/ Kenneth Shea
Kenneth Shea Director March 29, 2022

/s/ Joshua Siegel
Joshua Siegel Director March 29, 2022
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